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With great sadness, I write to report the cfeath/of one of the most highly regarded members
of the Mills College community. Mary Woods Bennett, Dean of the Faculty and Provost
Emerita, Professor Emerita of Psychology and Child Development, died in Concord on
March 25 after a long illness. Almost no one served the College longer than she did and,
many would say, none better.

Born in Berkeley in 1909, Mary Woods was among the original participants in the Terman
study of gifted children. A Phi Beta Kappa graduate of University of California at
Berkeley, she was valedictorian of the Class of 1931. She came to Mills in 1935 as an
instructor in Child Development. President Lynn White appointed her Dean of the Faculty
in 1953, in which capacity she served until her retirement in 1974. She also served as
Acting President in 1958-59 and again briefly in 1975. Her activity in the world of
education extended beyond Mills to leading in the establishment of childcare centers
during World War II, and later serving on the boards of the Head-Royce School and the

University of Santa Clara. She was instrumental in requiring the licensing of psychologists
by the State of California.

Her role as Dean of the Faculty is best expressed by the plaque naming the Faculty Lounge
in the Rothwell Center. It reads:

"This lounge is affectionately dedicated to
Mary Woods Bennett, Dean of the Faculty 1953-1974,
By the colleagues who rejoiced in her leadership.”

Upon retirement, Mary Woods returned to live in the neighborhood of Berkeley where
she grew up. She leaves her sister Jane (now appearing on Broadway in "Moon Over
Buffalo") and brother-in-law Gordon Connell, two nieces Missy and Maggie, and her
nurse-companion Rosemary Menzies.

No services are planned. The family prefers remembrances be made to the Mary Woods
Bennett Professorship, a chair endowed upon her retirement by the Board of Trustees to
bring distinguished visiting faculty to Mills.

Ijoin in extending condolences to all those who had the honor of knowing and working
with Mary Woods Bennett.
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PREFACE

On the occasion of the 50th anniversary of our graduation from the
University of California, the Class of 1931 elected to present to the
University an endowment for an oral history series. Titled "The
University of California, Source of Community Leaders," the Class of
1931 Oral History Endowment provides an ongoing source of funding for
oral histories by the Regional Oral History Office of The Bancroft
Library. The commitment is to carry out interviews with persons related
to the University who have made outstanding contributions to the
community, by which is meant the state, the nation, or to a particular
field of endeavor. The memoirists, selected by a committee set up by
the class, will come from Cal alumni, faculty, and administrators.
Those men and women chosen will comprise an historic honor list in
the rolls of the University.

To have the ability to make a major educational endowment is a
privilege enjoyed by only a few individuals. Where a group joins
together in a spirit of gratitude and admiration for their alma mater,
dedicating their gift to one cause, they can affect the history of that
institution greatly.

The first fruit of the Class of 1931 Endowment was the bistory of
our beloved president, Robert Gordon Sproul, which we presented in
November, 1986 to the University of California in memory of that man
and of our class.

The 1987 selection is Mary Woods Bennett. A life-long resident
of Berkeley, our Class Speaker, a Phi Beta Kappa, who earned both her
B.A. and Ph.D. degrees at Berkeley in psychology, she went on to a
distinguished thirty-nine year career at Mills College, first as a
professor, later as dean of the faculty. Since retiring in 1974 she
has rejoined the Berkeley community as a Berkeley Fellow, as a member
of the Council of The Friends of The Bancroft Library, and as a member
of the Town and Gown Club.

We wish to thank Mary Metz, president of Mills College, for
joining the Class of '31 with her gift from the college _.to produce
this oral history.

Alan K. Browne, President
Class of 1931

Harold Kay, Chairman
Class of 1931 Gift Committee



1931
Class Gift Committee

Chairmea — Harold Kay. M.D.
CoCharman — Cathartae Chapin Parsons

Charman — Jane Moore Mock

Robert E. Agnew Waerd Drumemond Ingrnm
L Seern Alshuler Adraa A. Kragm
Arthur M. Arlex Lowell A. Ledget
Jesn Cope Armstrong Jock R. Lehmbkuhl
Ceaile Durbrow Beker Flors Marmoa Lock
Alsa K. Browne Edward W. Marom
Waldo E. Coha Wiliam H. Mead
Jock Curns Roger F. Miller
Marioa E Deviia CQlifford |. Moore
Mary Addiscs Dives Iwsd M. Moriusma
Theodore A. Dunges Kenaech L. Morre
Joha D. Forbm Robert S Mo
Julius H. Freimg Cherlome McLaughlia McCane
Frences Wuben Gerron Harold G. McCanm
Edwa C. Gerwood Sue Cole McCarthy
Williwn S. Gewn Gerret W. McEnaney
Cherloree Ham Gerdes Jewel Smith McKonne
Ruch E. Harms Goodrch Kacheyn Proust Mcleod
Harvey Trambull Granger Charles R. McNulky
Elmabeth Grume Haba Alens Goyun Newbarch
Marlin W. Haley Ruth Waldo Newhall
Wilbur Halsey C. ). Pederewski
Donald T. Handy Mileon H. Pruce
Jacxyueline Hirsch Harband Charles Raadolph
Maurice A. Harbend joha E Rinne
Helen McdDonald Harvu Low L. Swabe!
Roberr D. Harrn Horace O. Scevens
Howard Hamerd Jornes R. Scone
Juan C. Heves Robert C Sutro
Edna Richmond Hescherly Assa Rose Tevior
Joha |. Hdm Sanford M. Tregunoff
Seephan Gale Hernck Gerff B. Wikon
Willara H. Holaberd Fredenck Wioel

Class of 1931 Fund
U.C. Berkeley Foundation
North Gate Hall
Berkeley, California 94720



DONORS TO CLASS OF 1931 ANNIVERSARY FUND

Jane Bolton Adams
Robert E. Agnew

Harry Albert

Margaret F. Allen

Dr. Wallace E. Allen
Zal Alter

L. Stern Altshuler
Margaret 8. Ancker
Janet Mills Anderson
Dr. Miles H. Anderson
Marie F. Anderson

Harry C. Andrews
Annoymous

valentin O. Arellanc
geatrice Amstsrong
Jean Cope Armmstrong
Florence Hahn Ashley
Hope G. Athearn

Tadini Bacigalupi, Jr.
Charles L. Badley

Mary H. Baker

Mr. and Mrs. Robert E. Baker
Mr. and Mrs. Howard F. Ballinger
Ralph C. Bangsberg

Pina J. Barbieri

Ellen Silver Barnett
Harold E. Barnhart
Thomas F. Barrett

Beryl Evelyn Flick Bates
John D. Bauer

Grace Wallace Beckett
Charles F. Bedford
George R. Bell

garbara Ounton Benedict
Hertha P. Bengtson

Mary woods Sennett
virginia Smith Bennett
Anna 0. Bentzen

Betty Bergemann

Lester J. gerry
3rigadier General Paul Berrigan
Jerome W. 3ettman, M. D.
Lucille K. Bewley
Raymond Biagi

wendell Birdwell

Vivian Y. Blevins

A. Harry Bliss

Irene Fisk Blowers

Max Bogner

George DO. Bogert
Katherine Smith Bolt
Helen H. Sondshu

Aileen E. Boogaert

Helen R. Bottimore

Dr.- and Mrs. James J. Brady
Clark L. Bradley

F. Glenn Bramble

Yaye Togasaki Breitenbach
A, R. Brooding

Dorothy W. Brown

Alan K. drowne

J. F. Brust

Ada Buckingham

Philip Buckingham

Jean C. Burtchaell

Mr. and Mrs. William T. Butner

Fred A, Camp

Mary E. Campioni

Judge walter Carpeneti
Walter W. Carter -
Adeline Cassettari
Elena 8ianchini Catelli
Gladys N. Ceccotti
Daisy Wong Chinn

Francis Lail Chinn

Katherine I. Claik

E. F. Chase

Julia A. Cline

Betsy Kinkel Clopton
Joel Coffield

Waldo E. Cohn

Hilma Colton

Marie F. Colwell
James F. Conley
Maylou B. Conroy
Robert £. Cooper, Jr.
Margaret Coope

Or. James Hallam Cope
George L. Cory

Lemuel C. Cragholm
Harlene gachus Cripe
Arthur P. Crist, Jr.
Cecil Cross

Ralph Cross

Sam Cross

Wilhelmina Cumming
Professor Charles C. Cushing
Charlotte Cerf Cushing
Theodore D. Dabagh
Dorothy E. Dady
George H. Danis

John 0. Davis, Jr.
Vernon DeMars

Sidney V. Dennison



bl

Marie Fitz?erald Devxn
Marion Oevli

Mr. and Mrs. Leland Dibble
Frances C. Dieterich
Elizabeth Dittman

Mr. and Mrs. Fred A. Oivita
Alice K. Dolan

Ted A. Dungan

Cordell Durrell

Mildred Squier Earl
Charles K. Ebert

Helen G. Ebert

Mildred Long Ehrhardt
Adele C. Eisman

Or. Maurice Eliaser, Jr.
C. A. Emery

Eleanor Engstrand

J. Gordon Epperson, M.D.
Or. Ervin Epstein

Helen E. Estep

8. D. Evers

Doris F. Falk

J. Clarence Felcino

Dr. John M. Fernald
Mildred Field

Clair N. Fishell
Margaret 0'Brien Fisher
Or. Howard 3. Flanders
Katherine A. Fleager
Julia A. Foote

Dr. John Douglas Foroes
Elvin L. Fowler

Robert H. Frank

Julius H. Freitag

Mary C. Freitas

Arthur Frick

Edward Frick

Evelyn L. Friedenthal
Gail Merwin Fritz

Arthur A. Frost
Elizabeth L. Fuller(Gladys Lund)
Y. Fred Fujikawa

Mary Gamburg

Adelia S. Garard

Dr. and Mrs. Levon K. Garron
Edwin C. Garwood
William S. Gavin
Charlotte Ham Gerdes
Helen C. Gibson

Winifred S. Gibson

Ivy winn Gill

Virginia Gilloon

Steven M. Goldblatt
Grace Goodfriend

Ruth H. Goodrich
Marion Gorrill
Virginia w. Grace
Evelyn Graham

Harvey T. Granger
Florence Gray

Sterling Steffen Green
Edward Gustafson

Mary Catherine Gustavson
K. Verner Haapala
Robert S. Hager
Elizabeth G. Hahn
Theodore E. Haig
Marlin W. Haley

Wilbur H. Halsey

Carl w. Handy

Mary Beth Hansen
Maurice A. Harband
Maurine S. Hardin
Harrison Harkins
William L. Harr
Katharin F. Harrell
Mr. and Mrs. Robert Harris
vivian C. Harrison
Robert M. Hartwell
gEdith C. Hassan
Howard Hassard

Lois H. Hastie

Helena A. Quail Hawkins
Hazel J. Hawkinson
Margaret I. Hayden
duan C. Hayes

Marjory Hayes

Edna Heatherly

Glan T. Heisch

J. Henry Heide

John J. Helm

Annie Henry

Emily C. Herndon

Edith Meyer Herreshoff
Stephen G. Herrick
Nathan R. Hertzberg
Walter S. Hertzmann
Max L. Herzog

Or. Allen T. Hinman
Mabel Hirschman

Elsie D. Hoeck

Mr. and Mrs. wWilliam H. Holabird
Vera Holleuffer

Robert W. Hollis
Wilfred Elliott Horn
Marjorie A. Howard

W. George L. Hughes
Donald E. Hunter



iv

Jean Hurlbert

Dorothy Hynding

Ward 0. Ingrim

Erma M. Jacobsen
Leonore A. Jacques
Raymond W. Jewell

A. H. Johnson

Mrs. Donald Johnson
J. W. Johnson

George H. Johnston
Ilene F. Joyce
Lillian M. Kavanagh
Dr. and Mrs. Harold Kay
Irma Meyers Kennedy
Mary M. Kennedy
Evelyn Kerkhof

Albert H. Kessler
Dorothy M. Kesseli
Kenneth A. Keyes
Frank M. King
Katherine E. King
John Knight

Margaret Farley Koshler
Howard A. Koster

Etta Jean Kotcher
Adrian A. Kragen
Arleen M. Krentz
Charlotte Kruger
Fred N. Kruse

Ruth Ann Lage

Anne Gibson Lanpher
Scott H. Lathrop
Lowell A. Ledgett

Or. Sanford E. Leeds
Jack R. Lehmkuhl
Edwin T. Lindley, Jr.
Mary Ann Linsdale

Mr. and Mrs. Edwin Lisherness
Flora Mattoon Locke
Dorothy Ford LofForte
Wilmer Grace Logan
Atha Darby Loggins
Fred W. Lorenz
Katherinz S. Lcrenzan
Marguerite A. Lorton
Dorothy R. Lowe
Bernice E. Lowenstein
Juliet Lowenthal
Morris Lowenthal
Victor F. Ludewig
George J. Lyons
Mildred wall MaclLean
Kathryn Prost MaclLeod
Baxter C. Madden, Jr.

Elizabeth F. Mahon
Genevieve T. Malmstrom
Plato Malozemoff
Edward W. Martin
George W. Martin

H. E. Mathis

Benjamin S. Matsuda

C. Geneva McCann
Harold McCann

Sue McCarthy

Tom McCarthy

Horace R. McCombie
Thomas B. McCord
Blanche E. McCormick
George H. McElroy
Sister Mary A. McfFeeley
Helene Bing McGalliard
Imogene W. McIndoe
Jewel Smith McKenna
Ruth E. McNulty

Frank W. McQuiston, Jr.
Clifford L. Merkel
Arthur H., Middleton
Roger F. Miller

Hazel Emery Mills
Florence Mintz

Henry G. Mishkin

Tulie Toru Miura

Jane Moore Mock
Margaret G. Molarsky
Alice Mollison

John F. Molony

Betty W. Moore

Alice K. Montin

Edwin Morby

Iwao M. Moriyama
Kenneth L. Morris
Anna C. Morrison

Jean Mosheim

Ruth S. Mossman

Robert S. Mott

R. P. Murphy

Margaret D. Myers
Hudson F., Nagle
Genshiro Nakamura
Natalie Neher

Alma Goyun Neubarth
Clem J. Nevitt

Scott and Ruth Waldo Newhall
Arthur W. Newman
Ferril R. Nickle
Meredith H. Nicoles
Mr. and Mrs. Richard H. Nida
Neal J. Nomura



lorence M. Odemar
gdith C. Oldendorf
Nichi Oka Onuma

E€sther Carlson Osnas
Charles P. Paccagnella
Marion D. Pack

C. J. Paderewskl

Edwin W. Palmrose

Mabel E. Parker
Catherine Chapin Parsons
Elsie Jeanette Plath
Jeryme C. Potter

Harold Trent Power
Milton H. Price .
Margaret Sellors Priest
Bea tdwards Pruiett
Randall Ramey

Charles Randolph
Claire Hagerty Ranken
walter H. Redit
william O. Reidt

Marie C. Reinhart
Frederick W. Reyland, Jr.
Embree E. Reynolds
Larry Rhine

Nancy Surr Richardson
Mr. and Mrs. John D. Riner
John Rinne

James H. Ripley

Mary E. Ritchie

Agnes R. Robb

Lawrence M. Raberts
Elsie Merrill Robinson
Elsie 3. Roemer
Elizabeth D. Rollins
Matilde Ronne

Alice Frances Rooney
Barbara D. Ross

Elaine Routbort

W. 3dyron Rumford, Sr.
Elizabeth Y. Rusk
Margaret Scherer Sabine
William L. Sanoorn
Kermit Sather

Marietta Schlaman
walter C. Schmidt
Vvictor Schoch

Dorothy Sciutto
Griffith w. Sherrill
Helen C. Shirley

rRoss T. Shoaf

Lois M. Shupe

Edna Stanbridge Sioole
Amne Meux Siegfried

Johanna Sigelkoff

Or. A E. Simmons
Charlotte M. Sitterly
Helen C. Skidmore
Mansuetta Slater

Or. C. C. Smith
Valerie W. Smith

John C. Snidecor

J. Robert Snyder
Frank Solinsky III
Halcyon B. Spencer
Evelyn Spiegelman
Harry C. Stanley

Lois I. Startt

Marie Stayton

Alta V. Steengrafe
Charles Stefanetti

H. G. Stevens
Elizabeth M. Stevick
Lucien 8. St. John
Fred Stripp

J. Ralph Stone
Leonora Hohl Strohmaier
G. Douglas Sturges
Robert Sutro

Lois L. Swabel
George E. Sweeney
Irene Tamony

Anna Rose Taylor
Kathleen Lapham Taylor
Elsie Heyman Terrill
Or. Mary F. Thelen
Bernhard Tieslau
Eleanor Todd

Sanford M. Treguboff
Charlotte Treutlein
Helen Kathryn Trevey
Irma B. Uren

Arthur W. van de Mark
€lvin Van Ness

Robert N. Varney
Lawrence 0. Vireno
Ruth R. von Uhlit
Clifford wayne Vredenburgh
Katherine A. walsh
Margaret A. ward

Mae Heisler watkins
Margaret H. watzek
Priscilla S. Wegars
Ralph W. weilerstein
Robert A. Weimer
Dorothy weis

Kenneth .and tElsie wells
Margaret C. weymouth



vi

Phyllis B. White

W. A. Wilkinson
Ralph E. Williams
Jean Williamson
Garff B. Wilson
Honora K. Wilson
Paul S. Windrem
Helen J. Winkenhofer
Elmer C. Winkler
Frederick De Boom Witzel
Mr. and Mrs. Leonard R. Wohletz
Russell wolfe

Marion G. Wolford
Harold A. Wood

Jane A. Woods

James S. #Wyatt, Jr.
Mrs. Robert W. Yates
Verna F. Zander
Margaret Zealear
Edward M. Zeller
Claude E. Zobell

IONE COCKRELL
RAYMOND W. COPE
EDGAR O. ROGERS






vii

INTRODUCTION -- Esther Lee Mirmow

Mary Woods Bennett came to Mills College as a young instructor in 1935
and spent the rest of her professional career there. In 1953, she was
appointed Dean of the Faculty by President Lynn T. White, Jr., and remained
in that post until her retirement in 1974, serving under three presidents,
and twice functioning as acting president herself.* For those of us who
served on the faculty during those years, she came to personify the College
itself, its continuity in times of change, its devotion to the highest
academic standards, its respect for individual differences, and its
commitment to human values. For those of us who were left behind at her
retirement, it seemed the end of an era.

I myself was fortunate to enjoy the guidance of Dean Bennett even
before she became Dean of the Faculty, during the second of the two years
in which she served as head of the Department of Psychology. When I
arrived for an interview at Mills College in the spring of 1952, a brand
new Ph.D. visiting the institution of which I knew little, in a community
hithertocompletely unknown, I was met at the airport by a woman of whom I
had never heard (my previous contact had been with the Dean of Faculty)
who introduced herself as 'Mary Bennett'" and proceeded to take me in tow.
Looking back, I can see how all of Dean Bennett's remarkable strengths as
Dean of the Faculty were displayed in microcosm during the weekend. She
had the two days planned to the last detail, all contingencies covered,
no surprises possible, every person concerned knowing exactly what role
to play and when. She was able to put the nervous young applicant at
ease, thereby eliciting the best but at the same time also evoking a
degree of unselfconscious candor in which applicants for jobs seldom
allow themselves to indulge. And, most of all, she gave of herself un-
stintingly, not only taking the time to introduce the visitor to the
College thoroughly and painstakingly, but also taking me on my first trip
to San Francisco (despite rush hour crowds on the Bridge) and even, despite
my abashed protests, rising before dawn to take me to the airport for a
six o'clock return plane. I got the job, and for the next year basked in
the same kind of generous counsel. When Dr. Bennett was named Dean of the
Faculty the following Spring, I felt a sense of loss at having to share her
stewardship with the rest of the College.

It seems to me that the salient quality of Dean Bennett's regime as
Dean of the Faculty was the degree of trust she inspired in all who worked
with her. This trust was based on many factors, first among which was her
ability to listen sensitively and non-judgmentally, an ability perhaps
honed by her training as a psychologist. Faculty members knew they would
get a fair hearing, that their positions would be understood and taken into

* The second occasion was after her retirement in August and September, 1975
during the illness of President Wert.
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consideration to the fullest extent possible, even if their requests could,
finally, not be fulfilled.

Implicit in this sense of trust was the perception that Dean Bennett
herself had no personal axe to grind--no hidden agenda, no self-service
drive for power, no temptation toward self-aggrandizement. She once said
to me that one of the chief satisfactions for her in her job was that she
liked "to make things go." The faculty, I think, felt this, and knew that
her sole aim was to meet the needs both of the institution and of the
individual as fully as possible. A respect for individuals was apparent
in all her dealings, most notably in her reliance on persuasion rather than
authority or manipulation in accomplishing her ends. She often spoke of a
fantasy in which she spent her retirement years as a parking lot attendant,
"pushing around inanimate objects," but if she wearied of her role of
moderator, it never showed.

Another thing we trusted was her judgment. Her decisions carried
weight because we knew that she always did her homework thoroughly and
weighed alternative courses of action calmly and objectively. When, after
listening carefully to all sides of a complex or controversial issue, she
finally ventured a suggestion for a solution, her proposal always had the
compelling ring of truth,

None of these capabilities was at all diminished by her extraordinary
memory, her ability to illuminate events by putting them in historical
context, and her wry sense of humor, all of which are clearly evident in
her oral history.

When Dean Bennett retired, the faculty lounge was named in her honor.
The plaque reads: 'This lounge is dedicated to Mary Woods Bennett, Dean
of the Faculty 1953-1974, by the colleagues who rejoiced in her leadership.”

And we did.

Esther Lee Mirmow
Professor of Psychology
Mills College, 1952-1987

October, 1987
Sonoma, California
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INTERVIEW HISTORY

The Regional Oral History Office, for many years, sought to interview
Mary Woods Bennett because of her significance in the history of Mills
College and the breadth and duration of her participation in the culture
and community life of the Berkeley-Oakland area. Long reluctant to be
interviewed, Miss Bennett finally agreed, later conceding that the process
is '"seductive'. The oral history came to fruition under the aegis of the
Class of 1931 Oral History Series, and a gift from Mills College through
President Mary Metz.

A 1926 graduate of Anna Head School, Miss Bennett went on to the
University of California at Berkeley where she graduated Phi Beta Kappa
in 1931. While a graduate student in psychology, she joined the Mills
College faculty in 1935 as a member of the Department of Child
Development. Two years later she earned a Ph.D. in psychology from the
University of California. From 1954 to 1974 she was dean of the faculty
and provost at Mills College. She is alsc the recipient of honors from
Mills College, the University of California, and Anna Head School, and
has served on the board of trustees of Santa Clara University and Anna
Head School, and on the Council of The Friends of The Bancroft Library.

The list does not show what Miss Bennett's friends and colleagues
have long known, and what the reader of this oral history will immediately
discover: Mary Woods Bennett is an exceptionally gifted raconteur, with
enviable recall of facts, situations, and illustrative anecdotes that shed
light on both the serious and the humorous aspects of her experiences.

Her collection of personal memorabilia, including report cards from
elementary school through college, correspondence, dance programs, news-
paper clippings, diaries, and itineraries, not only served to prompt
memory but also is the source of the illustrative material which the
reader will find sprinkled throughout the volume.

Dean Bennett and I first met in the Regional Oral History Office on
September 16, 1986, to discuss the general contents of the memoir and
select dates for the interviews. The first of eight two-hour sessions
began September 30 in the conference room of The Bancroft Library and
continued at approximately weekly intervals until December 2.

Working from chronological/topical outlines sent to Miss Bennett prior
to each interview session, we covered such diverse topics as the Bennett
family; education through high school; the University of California at
Berkeley (including academic and extra asirricular activities); a year in
Seattle; graduate work toward the Ph.D. in psychology; the years at Mills



College as teacher, community worker, and dean; retirement.

Since her career at Mills spanned nearly forty years and was a totally
engrossing segment for nearly half her life, Mills College is understandably
the focus of the oral history. As a result, there is lively discussion of
the personalities, work habits, and educational standards of four Mills
presidents, three of whom Mary Woods Bennett worked with as dean of the
faculty. The reader learns how this small, women's liberal arts college
survived the Depression, World War II, and the Civil Rights Movement and
its aftermath.

Through it all we sense Mary Woods Bennett's successful adaptation
to life on the campus, to each new president, and to the challenges which
the changing economic and political situations inside and outside the
campus placed before her. Adaptation was possible she claimed because
she "enjoyed the problem-solving aspects of the job" and had the capacity
to "live with unsolved problems...and sleep at night."

As the table of contents indicates, there is a broad chronological
order to the oral history, organized by chapters. But within the broad
categories the story unfolds in directions Miss Bennett chose to take,
utilizing the sweep of time to make a point, rather than the narrow,
artificial time frames posed by the outlines. Once, after a perfectly
reasonable digression, she said, "The flow is always getting in the way
of your tidy arrangement. I'm sorry about that. Life is not tidy."

Extensive editing was not required. As she carefully reviewed her
lightly edited transcript, Miss Bennett corrected the spelling of proper
names, revised a few sentences, and added dates and other requested
information. The editor reordered a few passages to provide better conti-
nuity.

Assistance in developing background for the interviews came through
informal conversations with retired Mills Librarian Elizabeth Reynolds;
Professor of Economics, Dr. Marion Ross; and former Mills President
Robert Wert. Mills reference librarian Eda Regan provided annual reports,
copies of President's Letters, and other useful material for perusal in
the Mills College Library. Special thanks are due the UC Class of '31
and Mills President Mary Metz for making possible this oral history. It
illuminates the life of a notable woman, and adds to the Regional Oral
History Office's growing collection of interviews with women in the field
of higher education.

Malca Chall
Interviewer-Editor

2 June 1987
Regional Oral History Office
486 The Bancroft Library

University of California at Berkeley
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I FAMILY BACKGROUND

[Interview 1: September 30, 1986]##

Mother: Mary Josephine Sperry

We'll start with your parents; you can start with your mother, if
you want to.

Mother was California born. She was born in San Luis Obispo, grew
up there until the age of about ten. Then she and her mother and
stepfather and her brothers and younger sister moved to San Jose
where they lived for about six years, I think. There were other
members of the family living there at the time. And then when she
was about high school age they moved to San Francisco.

She went to Saint Rose's Academy in San Francisco. They were
not Roman Catholics--this was a Catholic school--but while resident
in San Jose she had gone to board for two to three years at the
Convent of Notre Dame in Santa Clara. This was simply because it
was a small, private girls'school. My grandmother had the feeling
that the other school available, which was quite all right for the
boys, was a little rough for her daughters. So she persuaded the
good sisters to take my mother, although she wasn't Roman Catholic.
My grandmother refused to have her dressed in the black that was
the customary garb of the young ladies. So she was dressed in snow
white and the class pictures taken in those two or three years in
her early teens were really very amusing. She's standing out as
the pure white woman against all the others.

I'm surprised they made a concession.

##This symbol indicates that a tape or a segment of a tape has
begun or ended. For a guide to the tapes see page 274,
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Oh, no trouble at all., They made no attempt to turn her into a
Roman Catholic., As a matter of fact, she felt affronted at being
excluded from some of the activities. But it was quite easy, and
worked very well. She was always grateful for it, she liked that
experience.

Was her mother quite interested in the children's education? The
boys and the daughter?

Yes, of course, I mean everybody was in those days, at least the
people they aasociated with. I had one uncle who, apparently, was
a holy terror in the school. His name went down in history as
being the one who was thrown out of Hester grammar school for
running up the flag upside down, sending up a distress signal. And
there are, of course, great family tales about how the boys cut up
during their years in San Jose. I have no idea how much of it's
true, and how much is invention. Family history says that when the
good families were in church, and had their horses and buggies
tethered in places provided outside, the boys used to borrow the
buggies and horses and have chariot races up and down The Alameda.
[laughter] That could be made up out of whole cloth. Who knows?

I've heard of boys doing that with automobiles they find on the
street with the keys inside. They borrow them for a while.

In San Jose my mother had a friendship which laated all her life,
and lasted my life as long as that friend lived. She was one of my
predecessors at Mills as dean of the faculty, in due course.

What was her name?

Her name was Anna Cox, at the time, later Anna Cox Brinton. Anna
had a younger sister, my mother had a younger sister, and there was
another pair of sisters in the neighborhood. Those six formed
what they called the Eagle's Nest Sporting Club. Mother said,
"Don't ask where the name came from," because she hadn't any idea.

But the asaociation was so firm that when I was already grown
and working at Mills, when someone was being interviewed for a
aummer job at Mills, I suddenly heard footsteps coming my way and
the head of my department brought in this middle~aged lady. She
looked at me and she said, "Can this be snuggle-tight?" I was the
first baby born to any of those six and because I was tiny they
called me "snuggle-tight". [laughter] Can you imagine my mingled
pleasure and embarrassment? But it was a very firm and lasting
friendship. )

Anna Brinton and her younger sister Catharine were not only
very much in my life, but they helped to form my own education
because Mother left high school to marry my father. She never
darkened the door of an educational institution again, and relied
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on these two friends, who both had Stanford Ph.D's and went on to
some distinction in their field., So it was a useful, as well as a
very rewarding relationship.

How many boys were there in your mother's--

Mother had three surviving brothers, and one sister—-a half sister,
actually. Her own father died when she was about two years old,
and she never remembers another father save this stepfather, whom
we always regarded as our grandfather. His one daughter was
Mother's only sister, and very much cherished. She died of a
bungled appendectomy when she was about twenty-three to twenty-
four., But she was very much a presence in the family.

Was she the only hal f-sibling?

Yes, and Mother's only sister, and I never heard Mother refer to
her as anything but her sister.

So your mother was probably the youngest born then?

No, there was one boy. My grandmother had children by her first
husband in '83, '85, '87, '88, '89. Mother was born in '88, and her
youngest brother in '89, just short of her first birthday. She
[grandmother] lived to be seventy.

What was her name? Both names, maiden name and her married name.

My mother or my grandmother you're talking about now?

Well, your grandmother and then your mother.

My grandmother was born Mary Woods Phillips. It's clear that I was
named for her. She in turn had been named for her grandmother.

Was she also American born?

My grandmother was American born; she was born in Wisconsin. Her
parents were both Americans, but my mother's grandmother—-my
mother's mother's mother was born of Irish parents. That's where
the Woods family comes in.

That's a name that's been carried on. What was your mother's name?

My mother's maiden name was Sperry, Mary Josephine Sperry.*

Was that the name of her stepfather?

* For more on the Sperry family, see chapter V, p.270-273,
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No, her stepfather was Reginald Wills-Sandford, an Englishman.

It's an amusing tale, perhaps has nothing to do with my history,
but my grandmother's family was in San Luis Obispo; that's where
her husband was. She was the second wife of a man old enough to be
her father. [Henry Austin Sperry] Her second husband was one of
group of young Englishmen who came out to the Peninsula, and
ranched, introduced polo, and brought their "tallyho" with them,
and cut quite a swath. There's a little recounting of that era in
the works of one Horace Annesley Vachell, who, as my colleague at
Mills, Franklin Walker said, wasn't a very good writer. But he did
write quite a bit with a setting of that early California era which
is not so early--after all, it's mid-nineteenth century.

They had, apparently, a krack, those Phillips girls, for
picking off all the eligible men that came along. My grandmother
married this one, who was a bachelor when she was widowed. Then
two of her sisters were married to two brothers who happened to be
cougins of my stepgrandfather. Both those brothers married
Phillips girls; both lost their wives in childbirth; both returned
to England to have their children reared by their sister, because
they had no facilities for taking care of them in San Luis Obispo,
and with their wives gone they were going to be hard put to it. So
they went back.

One of the loveliest friendships I ever developed was for one
of the cousins who was the product of one of those marriages. She
lived in Bath. I visited her and had a lovely time with her, and
was 80 struck by family resemblancel! And then she died. But there
was this life in San Luis Obispo that got transported to San Jose
and then up into San Francisco.

When your mother moved to San Franciaco, and was in high school,
then she really was separated from her Eagle's Nest friends.

Yes, she was., They lived on Van Ness Avenue. They were there at
the time of the earthquake and fire. The fire stopped just on the
other side of Van Ness. They lived in a tent at Fort Mason for a
while until it was regarded as safe to go back. Then her family
moved to Berkeley, after that time, Their house was not destroyed,
but after that, they thought they had better get to firmer ground,
so they moved to Berkeley. That wag the house, that Berkeley
house, where my mother was living when my father met her.

How did they happen to meet? She was so young.

He was vigiting his brother who was married to a neighbor. There
was a household up the street from our Garber Street house that
harbored two sisters and the husbands and children of both, and an
elderly mother of the two sisters. My father's younger brother was
hugband to one of the sisters, and my father was visiting him.
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He had worked first in southern California, where he grew up, and
then in San Francisco. He had come to visit this brother, perhaps
on a trip from the south, perhaps when he was living in San
Francisco, I don't know. But at any rate, they were walking home,
up the hill to the house where my uncle lived, and my grandmother
and her daughters were taking the air on the front porch. And so
there was a conversation. It was very strange. My mother thought
her white knight had come on foot, and he was ripe for it—--of an age
to be contemplating marriage. He felt secure that this was a
proper introduction to a mice eligible girl. And they got married.

After a proper courtship, I'm sure.

After a proper courtship and with some difficul ty because my
mother's stepfather felt very firmly that no young man should
contemplate marriage unless he had had a house of his own and was

on firm financial footing, and my father was a long way from that.
Besides that, my grandfather, being old-fashioned, thought he ought
not to be a Methodist, if he was going to marry his fine
Episcopalian daughter. So my father went down and got himself
confirmed at St. Mark's Church, and had many a talk with Edward Lamb
Parsons who was not yet the bishop. My mother sang in the choir at
that church.

I once asked my father--he never darkened the door of a church
again, if he could help it--what he did that for? Did he make a
compromise in some of his principles? If he had agnostic
principles, that was all right too, but what did he go through this
for? He said, "What would you do if you were a young man in love?"
[Laughter]

When your parents moved to Berkeley, that's when your mother
changed to Anna Head, is that right?

Yes. She took only French and music at Anna Head. She had been
trained from an early age to play the piano. I say trained
advisedly because it was a prolonged and intensive exposure built
on the theory that if she ever had to earn her living, giving music
lessons wae a good way to do it. She had clearly some musical
aptitude. But in spite of having studied with the best teachers in
San Francisco, and devoting a great deal of time to it, practicing
long hours every day, for a long time, when she married she dropped
it, and never again seriously played the piano. She played all the
time for us. She had a wonderful ear. She could pick up anything.
Indeed, once in a while she would discipline herself, and go down
to the music store and get a book, and exercises, and bring it home
and work on it. This never lasted very long.

She played songs for my brother who turned out to have a
lovely voice, and a good ear for music tooa. She taught him so
young some of the California football songs that this tiny child
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would come forth with these songs at the drop of a hat. And do you
know, at the invocation that we went to this last week, I could
sing every aingle word of the Jonah song because my brother had
learned that at age two. [laughs] Jonah song! Stanford's Jonsh
"Like our friend Mr. Jonah Stanford's team will be found in the
tummy of the Golden Bear™ it says.

Not being a graduate of either school, I don't know those things.
You don't really appreciate that.

No. So your mother was how old when she married?

Nineteen.

She would have been a senior, is that about right? Or she would
have graduated?

She was probably a special student, because music and French were
her commitments there. I don't know whether this was because she
spent so much time practicing or what. But that was the case.
She never had a high school diploma then?

No, she never did.

With whom did she study French and music in San Franceiso?

She studied with May Sinsheimer in San Fransisco, that I know.
There were Sinsheimers on this side of the bay too. It could be
that she studied on this side. But that is the name, I remember,
as being the name of her last teacher.

Piano teacher. And French, was that at school?

That was at school, dear old Mlle. Clave, who taught more
generations of Anna Head students that you could shake a stick at.

Father: Louis Wesley Bennett

Tell me about your father.

My father had a completely different kind of upbringing, He was
one of the ten children of his mother. His mother waa second wife
to hig father, who had had three sons by the firast wife. So he
wasg number eight, I think, in his family of ten. His mother had
come to the rescue of her aunt's widower. My Grandfather Bennett
was left a widower with two small boys, one of the three children
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that they had of that marriage having died somewhere along the
line. He was left with these two boys seven or eight years old,
and he simply married the niece of his wife, who took him on. He
was therefore considerably older than she. She also was about
sixteen or eighteen when she married.

She had not long been married when she set out with her
husband for Denver from Iowa, where they lived. They're the only
family I ever heard of that went both ways in a covered wagon.

They went by a wagon from Clinton, or whatever, in Iowa, to Denver.
What my Grandfather Bennett was going to do there, I don't know,
but it didn't pan out. So they packed up and took the wagon back
home.

They just still had the two childrem-his two children?

She was pregnant with her first. No, the older boys were left at
home with other relatives on this trip. I have my grandmother's
letters from that trip, her letters back home. I have not read all
of them, but she regarded it as a lark. She makes references to
the fact that she is pregnant with her first child, although in
much more flowery terms than that, But, apparently, at this

stage, the marriage was all sweetness and light. It soured later.
After ten children, I can imagine. I think her child was born in
Denver, but I could be wrong, it could be that they made it back to
Iowa before he was born. This I have no information on. My
grandfather's autobiography does exist, and scmeday I'll find out.

You have it?
Yes, I have a copy of it.
Where was your father among the ten?

He was number eight. There was one more born after they got to San
Diego. One more boy came along.

Did you say they were all boys?

No, there were eight boys and two girls. But the two girls were
together, one after the other. They immediately preceded my father.
Actually, because my grandfather was always making efforts to get
West, there was a long hiatus after the first five children. So
they were significantly older than the last five.

When my father was about six years old Grandfather Bennett
sent for them. Grandmother Bennett came out with her two girls and
two little boys, and with at least one of the big boys to take care
of the family cow which came along in a baggage car so that the
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children could have milk on the trip to San Diego. My grandparents
were still living in San Diego when I visited them. I visited
them two or three times around 1915.

You were a little girl.

A very little girl. Dad and Mother just felt it an obligation to
take the grandchildren down, and we went down on the old Hearvard,
or the Yale. Remember those boats? No, you didn't know them.

They used to ply between San Francisco and San Diego. Then we had
one train trip when I was about six years old. It was very fine,
except there were no camels in that desert that we went over and I
was very much disappointed at that. So we knew that pair of
grandparents, and my Grandfather Bennett lived to be in his ninety-
second year. So he was very much a presence.

He outlived your grandmother?

She died about three months after he did.

Oh, yea, but she waa much younger.

She was much younger. But I think she must have had some kind of
complication of kidney or liver, whatever. She had what they
called in those days dropsy which meant nothing except it referred
to the swelling that went with the disease. He died, I think, like
the one-horse shay, I think he just ran down.

What wae your father's name?

Louis.

Did he have a middle name?

Wegley.

Bennett?

Bennett.

And the year of his birth?

Eighteen eighty-one.

So his grandparents--parents and grandparents--were also American?
Yes. It's very interesting to me that in the broad sweep the two
family strains that I come from did the same thing, They came from
the British Isles to New England, sojourned a while in the Midwest,

and then came to California. It's fun picking up the bits and
pieces. They never knew each other. Although we did verify the
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fact that a couple of generations back they were contemporaries in
Vermont. There's no record that they ever met or anything. But it
was Vermont and Massachusetts that remained the places from which
they came.

But the religions--one family being Episcopalian and the other
Methodist. Your mother was Episcopalian?

Yes, and this, I'm sure, was the stepfather's influence. As a
matter of fact, my grandmother told me, that her father had given
the lots for two churches in San Luis Obispo. One a Presbyterian
and one Episcopalian. She was an ardent Episcopalian by the time I
knew her. It could have been that she grew up a Presbyterian, I
just don't know. I think that in those towns, in the valleys in
California in those days, one went to the church that everybody
went to. I think churchgoing was a aocial function, and you went
to what was there; this is my guess. But my grandmother became
aggressively Episcopalian. Indeed, at St. Stephen's Church in San
Luis Obispo, they did some fund raising by putting on a performance
of Pinafore. I had never heard the last of the fact that my
grandmother sang the role of Josephine in Pinafore. When I visited
St. Stephen's Church once for old times sake there it was in the
record. [laughter]

Dad's mother was very narrowly Methodist. This constituted a
problem for him as he grew to manhood and realized that you really
can't just hold your nose and run past every saloon door; you have
to do something different. [laughter]

Yes, I had forgotten about that part of it. And his father?

His father was wholly without church. I don't think he was
necessarily an irreligious man.

##

My father followed his father in feeling no obligation to join a
church. It was an indifference toward organized church that was
characteristic of his life. He never disparaged religion, but he
gimply did not feel motivated to attend to it. He made no
objection to our going to Sunday schocl when Mother wanted us to.
We went in spurts. We went most intensively when my brother's
voice was such that he was wanted as the boy soprano in the choir
This was a happy time for Mother. She loved this.

My brother, who could sing the songs all right, hated it,
hated the exposure to the public, and as soon as he could
gracefully do it he wiggled out of that. He liked singing, I
think if he had turned out to be a tenor he would have tried to be
a singer at least avocationally, but he had no use for a baritone
voice which his turned out to be.
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What a disappointment for him!

But as a little fellow he used to stand on one arm of my father's
Morris Chair and belt out songs accompanying whoever was singing on
our Victrola. Usually it was Caruso. He gave Enrico a good run
for his money.

This is the little fellow who sang the Jonah song?
Yes. Just loved to sing, and could sing anything, once taught.
What was the name of your church in Berkeley that you went to?

Well, we went to St. Mark's at timee. Mother and Dad were married
there. At the time my brother was singing in the choir we went to
All Souls in North Berkeley, because it had a boy choir. Mother
found out which Episcopal church in the area had a choir. She was
very faithful about getting him there for rehearsal and
performance. He enjoyed the connection, he really did.

I went along to go to Sunday school with my agemates simply
because he was going, and began to realize for the first time that
Sunday school is very ill taught in most places. If I had had a
better run at it I think I would have enjoyed the analysis of the
scripture which the rector was giving to my class, by the time my
brother was of an age to sing in the choir. But mine was simply a
by-product of his singing.

Later, much later, Mother's younger children both went to
Sunday schocl and were in the children's choir at that same church
Partly because my sister, who's sixteen years younger than I, by
the way, had a nurse, a venerable lady by this time, who had made a
career of bringing up other people's children, an Englishwoman, who
was a communicant at All Souls church., And she willingly took on
this child for Sunday assignments and so forth. So this had the
effect of exposure to the Episcopal church as we grew up. Indeed,
my brother and I were confirmed at All Souls because we were of
the age of the class that was being confirmed at the time he was
singing in the choir.

I used to enjoy the sermons of the men who were rectors there
at the time, Mr. Trelease, and later Mr. Montgomery. But this was
spotty, there was nothing congistent about our church-going or
membership. Mother never got around to it because she was too busy
getting us ready to go--there was always a baby at home.
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The Bennett Siblings and Family Life

Tell me about your own family then, and we'll get back to your
parents as we go along. I don't know anything about the fact that
one of your sisters is sixteen years younger than you.

She was born my senior year in high school.

This is all from the same mother and the same father?

Yes, same mother and father,

I see. Well, all right, let's get into that.

There are two boys in between.

So who comes—-?

I'm the cldest.

You were born in 19097

Yes.

Mary Woods. Then who comes next?

My brother Jack, John Holbrook Bennett; he was born in 1911, 1In
December. I'm two yeara and eight months older than he. John
Holbrook is the name of one of those Vermont ancestors on the
Bennett side, Dad just liked the name, so that's what he was
called.

Then seven years later, in October of 1918, right amidst that
first flu epidemic, came the second brother. He was Louis Wesley
Bennett, Jr. The first time I saw my mother out of bed following
that child's birth, she came in in the middle of the night to tell

me that the racket outside meant that the War was over. Then seven
years to the month after that birth date my little sister was born.

And her name?
Jane Sperry Bennett.
Seven years. Nineteen twenty-five.

As the doctor said to my mother on one occasion, "Mrs. Bennett, you
have just been too long in the baby business."”

[Laughter] Only four of them. Well your mother was still pretty
young.
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She seemed old. I remember that this last one was the first one
that she went to a proper obstetrician for. The others were just
delivered by our general practitioner.

Where? At home?

No. The two younger ones at Merritt Hospital in Oakland, and my
brother Jack and I were both born at a hospital that no longer
exists that used to be, roughly, on a parking lot back of
Capwell's. It was called the Oakland Central Hospital.

When were your parents married?
In May, 1908, and I was born in April, 1909.

She spaced her children pretty well, considering, Well, there was
birth control in those days.

Accident rather than design.

What's the name of the lady who was so active in the birth control
movement?

Margaret Sanger?
Margaret Sanger.

My father wouldn't have her name mentioned in the house.
[Laughter]

Is that so? [laughter]

He was very prim about people interfering with the intimate life of
domesticity. Very prim.

There weren't any stillbirths or deaths then, in between?

No. No troubles along the line at all. There was trouble with the
second boy. The birth was proving difficult. Progress was not
being made and this was allowed to go on too long for the quite
simple reason that our doctor came down with the flu in the
delivery room. This was when people were dying like flies from it.
My father told me later that at one time he thought his wife and
child had both died because he saw the doctor in tears. But she
managed to ask if there was a doctor in the house, and there was
one, and he delivered that baby with forceps, I think. But at sny
rate, when the baby came along, it was in an unfavorable position
in some way, and he managed to right it and bring it up. It was
all right.

That's fortunatel



Bennett:

Chall:

Bennett:

Chall:

Bennett:

Chall:

Bennett:

Chall:

Bennett:

Chall:

Bennett:

13

They were so desperate that the hospital management came and asked
Mother if they could take her special nurse from her to take care of
the doctor. Mother said, "If I may have my baby in my room, you can
have her." She always had a special nurse in those days, and
stayed two weeks in the hospital. So, not only did they allow

that, they sent her home in four days which was unheard of in those
days. But her nurse came with her. They wanted her out of there
and away from possibility of exposure, But that was the only
rearly upsetting thing that happened. When the last baby came our
general practitioner said to her, "Mrs. Bennett, considering your
age, I think you would best go to the specialist."

That was Jane Sperry in 1925,

She's the last one. There were just four of us. Mother had old
Dr. Loomis, who had delivered every baby in the county for years
and yeare. He used to call her 'old-timer'. I satarted to say that
she seemed like an old mother to us, but she was only in her middle
thirties.

So there were no other children. That must have been by design.
Or chance.

Still only chance. I see. All right, well that's a pretty good
family there.

Mother used to laugh at it because she had always in her little
girl years thought how nice it would be to have two sons and two
daughters. She said that it took her a while.

She did it! Well, how did you welcome these little strangers into
your household?

Well, I doted on that baby. I had go much fun being taken for her
mother.

Yes, you could have been in those days.

Once when she wasg still in a high chair, my mother did one of the
things that she did for many years, took my grandmother out for an
automobile ride. I went along, and the baby was with us, and we
atopped to have some ice cream somewhere. There were four of us
sitting around the table, a baby in a high chair. Women referred
to the baby as mine. Mother said, "No, she's mine, they're both
mine." My grandmother sat there for a minute and said, "They are
2ll mine." So it was fun having that little one.

Her brothers adored her, and her brothers' friends adored her.
She certainly grew up the most cherished child. She was
everybody's pet. Someone once said that this outspoken
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Englishwoman who, when this babe was eleven months old, came to
take her off the adult's hands in the afternoon, get her a quiet
supper in the evening, get her a quiet going-to-bed time at night,
gomeone once said to her that Jane was spoiled. She said, "Of
course she's apoiled. A child like that's always spoiled. No harm
done!™ [laughter]

And no harmm has been done?

Oh, no If ever there was a blessing, thisg child was it. It was a
lovely experience for the family.

You said that your grandparenta on your father's side were not
compatible after a number of years. That was just one of those
things they accepted, I guess.

I haven't any idea what the pros and cons might have been, but I
had the task of going through my father's papers, and they included
some letters from his mother to him about his father which could
have been described conservatively as just plain vitriolic. I
never knew the truth of it, and how much there was to be said on
each side, and I juat quietly burned them. It didn't seem to me it
did any bit of good having them around, and could have been the
basis for a lot of harm and speculation. I never saw that on the
surface. Mother once said gomething to the effect that no woman
wag ever good enough to marry one of her sons in Mother Bennett's
eyea. But that is hardly an extraordinary characteristic of a
mother and father.

She and the other daughters-in-law used occasionally to chat
about the role but it was never a monstrous burden. We didn't
inhabit the same community, we always, of our free will went to see
them, that is Mother and Dad did, and I can remember Mother urging
Dad on, "Louis, you should do this, that, or the other for your
parents"™ and so forth. So there was a decent attitude on
everybody's sgide.

Your parents were compatible?

To the extent that two people, radically different from each other,
can be. They would no more have thought of separating than they
would have thought of jumping over the moon. They were totally
different temperaments.

What were they like?

Mother was outgoing, overflowing with energy, not a dull woman at
all. But ghe had no interests that you could identify as
intellectual. My father was a student from the word go. He should
have been a teacher.
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Father Becomes a Lawyer

Was he a college graduate?

By no means. When he was fourteen he was deemed old enough to
start fending for himself. I think he had finished the eighth
grade; he finished grammar school. He was sent to live with one of
his marny older brothers and the family of that older brother, in
lower California, where he earned his keep by working as a
telegraph operator in the town. At age fourteen, mind you. The
telegraph of fice was located in the general store, and he came
back with a thorough knowledge of Morse code, and some
conversational Spanish, which he and his mother-in-law used to try
out on each other all the time.

It was one of their joint interests that they still were
interested in Spanish. She had gone, as a young girl when she was
first married, to a ranch, where only her husband and the foreman
spoke English. One of the California ranches near San Luis Obispo.
So she had, perforce, learned some Spanish, and her eldest son spoke
Spanish before he spoke English, because of having a Spanish-
speaking nursemaid. Heaven knows what her heritage was.

But Dad then came back to San Diego and had a variety of jobs
all in the business world. At the age of nineteen or so he was
secretary to the vice-president and general manager of the Santa Fe
Railroads. He traveled all over the Santa Fe system with this man,
which constituted quite an education. Then, when he was in his
late twentiesg or early thirties, married, and the father of two
children, his employer had noticed that he was interested in the
law, that he had always taken the opportunity to learn the law
about this, that or the other phase of business. He suggested that
he go to law school. So Dad bearded the lions up here at the state
university. We were living in Berkeley. He and my mother settled
here so that their children could be guaranteed a good education.

So they really had that in mind.

They had it in mind. Because they might have chosen San Francisco,
they might have chosen southern California. But they didn't. So he
came up to apply for admission to the law school. Do you know they
admitted him to Boalt Hall on the basis of his business experience?
It always tickled him that he was in some classes with Earl Warren
as a student.

How did he earn a living during this period?
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I think he must have been subsidized by his employer. That's the
only thing I can think of. I never did ask. We were living with
my grandparents, and I suppose this might have been partly a
subsidy.

You were living with them, you children?

Yes. Two of us, and Mother. My grandmother, and grandfather, and
Mother's bachelor brother.

In Berkeley?

In Berkeley.

And your father was living—-?

With us.

Oh, I see. You moved, then, from your own home into their home?

We had been in several different houses in Berkeley in the course
of our growing-up time until I was about kindergarten age. My
grandmother and grandfather had the house that they had come to
after the earthquake and fire. It was a largish house. Their
bachelor son wag with them. I don't know whether it was wholly a
business proposition or whether it wasn't. But at any rate, my
parenta were invited to come and bring the two of us, and we lived
in the same house from the time I was about five till the time I
was geven or eight. It was a very pleasant time.

It's really interesting that those generations can live together—-

Well, I don't know whether it was economic necessity or what. But
it was practical. Mother and Dad had a bedroom, my brother and I
glept in the sleeping porch adjacent. There was a small house in
the garden, back garden which had been built to house a student. I
don't know that a student ever lived there, but that was its
original purpose. This was made into a playhouse for us, and all
but a few of our toys were kept out there.

We each had a drawer in the dining room, bottom drawer, in the
built~in sideboard that was for us. Each of us had his or her own
toye that were used downstairs and could be kept there. But Mother
was very systematic about keeping us out of the other people's hair.
For one thing, she wae always on the job.

I had no sense of pressure or of being held down in that place,
and I don't think my brother did either. There was a vacant lot
next door, and we had ample place to play. We didn't play much
with the neighbors, as we were young children. As we grew older,
echool age, of course we did. But it was pleasant.
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Yes, you were little children then. Your grandmother probably
shared the cooking and cleaning chores and all that?

Yes, they did, and I can remember occasions in which I was with
them, when they were getting the meal. I can remember my
grandmother making biscuits. I can remember noting that she used
the same vessels in the same amounts of their contents for the same
thing over and over and over again, and I thought to myself,
"Measurement of some kind, there's something going on here."

You were aware even as a little girl.

I was aware that she was doing her own measuring in her own way and
very happily saying that a good cook doesn't need to. No, it was a
good time. We had had another joint living situation when my
brother was a little younger. Actually, it was at a time when
Mother was in bad health. Apparently she needed some repair work
done after my brother was born. He was a very big, heavy, baby.
Ten pounds and three ounces.

This ie John?

Jack, yes. During that period we were with my aunt, mother's aunt,
and her husband and two sons and a bachelor uncle of my mother's,
and my mother's grandmother.

Where would that have been? Also in Berkeley?

We lived in Oakland on the shores of Lake Merritt in a great big
old house with a high wall around it. It was such a huge house, it
seemed to me enormous., But we had very pleasant quarters there,
and this was a very pleasant interlude.

So during the period when your father was in law school, you were
staying with your grandmother?

When we were staying with my grandmother, it was during that
period that my father studied. He had pages and pages and pages of
questions and we were kept out and kept quiet. Again, we were just
told he was studying and had to be left alone. Every once in a
while he would feel the need of change and he would take my

brother and me up into the hills. We would go up Fish Ranch Road
behind the Claremont Hotel, and he would sit on the bank and study,
and we would play about. Somehow or other he managed to pass the
bar exam.

And then what did he do?

Then he went back to work for the employer who had encouraged him
to do this.
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That's the Santa Fe Railroad?

No, by this time it was F.M. Smith who had established what is now
the AC Traneit. The Key Route System. He worked for Mr. Smith for
many years. It was Mr. Smith who had egged him on to go to law
school.

The Family's Cultural and Community Interests

What a fine thing to do. But your father, then, always was
studying something, is that right? He always was reading or—-

In one way, yes. He was fond of words. I have copies of the old
Out West, poems by him. He was doing a little bit of writing and I
have one issue of one those early magazines that had in it a poem
by my father and also something by a relative of my mother--I can't
remember who it is. But I thought it was amusing that they should
be in the same publication. Very modest, never got anywhere with
these things, but a lot of interest in doing it. I have several
copies of Out West, which I once offered to Mr. Hart [director of
the Bancroft Library], but he said they "had plenty, thank yow" I
also have a couple of copies of Overland Monthly. My father, much
much later, when he waa a middle-aged man and retired, entered a
contest for playwriting. I think it was the WPA [Works Progress
Administration] project or some sort. And won! And it was
produced!

Oh, good. He did have talents.

He was a very capable man and I always——as I grew to learn more
about these thinga, I regretted very much that he really had, by
circumstance, been saddled with responsibilities that he couldn't
avoid. Had no wish to avoid. But they did hold him back, I think.
If he had had freer reign he would have achieved much more
satiafaction in his life.

Now, you told me last week that you remembered his taking you to--
was it a concert or something in the Greek Theatre? And then I
read in one of the Mills publications that all of you in the family
had gone to some picnic or concert at Mills when you were a little
girl. 1 wondered about their interest in culture, or in music, and
thinge of this kind around the community.

Mother was interested in music in a way that—-I hate to call it
superficial because it meant more than that to her, but it was not
based on any sound musicianship or working at the business of
music. However, she at one time in her life belonged to the St.
Agnes Guild of All Souls Church during the period my brother was
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actively connected there. They put on a fund-raising effort and
she recruited my father, and her brother, and a colleague of her
brother's, and a neighbor, and they made the best Neapolitan
singing trio you ever saw in your lives, My father strummed the
guitar, had a lovely time with them. They were spontaneous in
their enjoyment of that sort of very easygoing, simple, life.

Dad had no musical training at all, but he could play the
guitar reasonably enough to pick out tunes. We did a lot of
singing at home, or out driving the car on a trip, and so forth.
Mother had a lovely voice. And Dad's was good, as a matter of fact.
But Mother had had the period of singing in the choir, as well as
the long musical training on piano, and could sing anything in the
way of the popular songs, that sort of thing.

Did you have a Victrola in your home?

Oh, yes. As a matter of fact, when Mother's oldest brother went
off to be a soldier in World War One, he sent us one of the small,
what passed for a portable Victrola at that time. From then on we
had that, and sometimes more elaborate ones, but we kept the
little old Victrola because the minute a child would get sick, if
the child waa not so sick as to have to be lying down all the time,
that Victrola would be put on the bed together with the records and
could keep the child going for ages.

The experience at the Greek Theatre, that was just you, with your
father?

Yes, it was when Jack was a baby. He was babysitting; he was
keeping me out of the way while my mother attended to the younger
child, I may have spoken here of the incident in which I
discovered myself helding the hand of a strange, smiling man who
was not my father. My father was watching from several feet
behind, and when I looked about in panic he waved and smiled. I
tore back to him in confusion. All the people in between laughed
and I was embarrassed.

##

One of my friends made me realize one of the assets we had as
a family. This was long after I had gone to Mills and we were
having, I think, Thanksgiving dinner, and my mother, and father,
and little sister came out to join us, This friend of mine had a
guitar which she played sometimes and Dad spotted it, and asked her
about it, and she brought it out for him to see. He tuned it, and
played around with it, and so forth. Something came up that
suggested a song that he knew. Mother knew what song he was
fishing for in his memory, and she helped him identify it and then
they both set forth and sang this song. My friend said to me, "You
know, in all the time I was at home,"-—she grew up one of the
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family of eix children, very intimate, very closely-knit family--
she said, "I never saw my father and my mother play that way
together." This is something that my father and mother maintained
to the end--the look across the table, or the sudden joint
remembering of an earlier experience, this sort of thing. This, I
sugpect, is the glue that holds familieg together all over the place.

But that's lovely.
It's very strong.

They were close. Did your mother have any interest, as far as you
knew, in the Suffrage Movement? You were just a little girl, but
still--

No, she didn't. I can remember her dealing with the tradesman who
came to the door, a solicitor of some sort. He asked one question
that made her say, "No, I believe the woman's place is in the
home." And he said, "I salute you, madam." [laughter] She told
that to my father; he was highly amused.

She was the last one in the world to take it lying down, if
she thought she was being put upon. But she really did subscribe
to the notion the woman's place is in the home, and the dear Lord
knows she gave her time and attention to it in a very thoughtful,
dedicated way. I have reason, as I get older, to appreciate how
much we got that some other children didn't get. So much, in the
way of closeness of the family, in the way of mutual support,
everybody rallying around if there was a performance to go to, or
someone to be applauded for something, this sort of thing. This is
what family is for, as far as she wae concerned.

But even if ahe felt that a woman's place was in the home, what did
she think about a woman voting? Did she vote?

Well, I tell you, she didn't give a hoot about voting. But she
discovered that we had in this country an institution known as the
secret ballot. Her husband was forever goading her on to vote and
exercise her right to vote. She really wasn't much interested. But
she did, when conveyed to the scene of the voting, she did vote.

It drove him crazy that she would never tell him how she voted.

Isn't that interesting?

I don't know whether it was devilment, whether she just discovered
that this would get under his skin, or whether she had a point.
But he had a perfectly rational belief, it's irrational if you want
to call it that, but he operated on the principle that a vote
represents a family. Apparently there's some legal support for
this notion that there is a head of the family who speaks for the
family. I don't know.
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Surely before women could vote that might have been so,
phil osophically perhaps.

Well, it drove him quite insane to think that his vote might be
canceled by a8 member of his family, you see, and then the net
result would be nothing.

Now, that means they really didn't discuss politics much in the
house prior to the election?

They didn't really much, although it came up at election times and
so forth, but no, they were not aggressively interested in what was
going on politically.

What do you think your father was, a Republican or a Democrat?
I would say he was probably Republican but I do not honestly know.

Because let's see, you grew up during the--Well, you were in
college and high school and could have understood about politics
during the time of the Depression. The Roosevelt era was certainly
important, and the WPA which your father participated in.

He won 8 prize.

That's right, he took advantage of it. But you don't know how he
felt about—-

I don't know. He didn't talk sbout politics, we really didn't. Or
about political situations. The franchise was not 2 big item in
our lives at all.

Your father had work, of course, all the time during the
Depression? It really was not a problem?

Well, he had difficulties which came about a8 & result of his
efforts to go it alone, to operate his own practice.

Oh, he did try that?

Yes.

Did he leave Smith and the Key System?

Yes. He didn't succeed, and I always felt that he simply didn't
know how to win friends and influence people. He didn't have the
talent for socializing, for making the kinds of friends who would be

of advantage to him, He was a scrupulous lawyer, and, as far as I
know, a capable one. When he was still with Mr. Smith he had some
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significant successes in court, and in negotiating settlements, and
that sort of thing, But he was a scholar of the law rather than a
practitioner of the profeseion among others. He didn't succeed.

How long did he remain with Smith after he passed the bar exam?

I don't really remember. Except that it was about the time I
entered college.

That he then went into private practice?

He was in private practice during the time I was in college, and it
was during that time that it became apparent that he was getting
now here, and he gave up the San Francisco office that he had. Then
he did some work for other attorneya, and attempted to get a
foothold with a firm. This never did quite pan out. Part of the
time it was apparently his own resistance to doing business in the
way he didn't approve of, and part of it that he simply was not a
social animal. So he fell on hard times, and he didn't have an
easy time as he grew older.

With four children to put through school.

Brothere: Jack and Louis

Well, of course, it was not an expensive education that my brother
and I had settled for in those days. But I'm sure my brothers,
particul arly Jack, would have gone farther in college if he hadn't
felt the need to help out.

What did he do? Did he finish college?

He finished two years.

Where?

Here. [U.C. Berkeley] We all went here. All four of us.

That's Jack. What happened with Louig?

I talked to him about going to college and he said, "Let's face it,
I'm not a8 student. I could probably go, but I don't really think
it's worth it for me." He said, "Better I get a job.™ So he did.
He worked for C&H Sugar people; then came World War II, and he felt

the need to get into defense effort of some sort. He tried to
enliet several times. He was working in southern California for a
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while. He went down there--we had relatives still in San Diego——
and worked there for some business concern, a large retail
establishment. At any rate, he soon got into the aircraft industry
in San Diego, kept trying to enlist and they wouldn't have him. He
wanted to go into the navy.

He wasn't married?

He wasn't married. He had an eye that went off to one side from
time to time. A muscular imbalance. He could bring it back
voluntarily, but this was enough of a defect. So he was classified
4-F. He compensated by working for the aircraft industry and
doing what he could for the war effort. Then, when they got to
scraping the bottom of the barrel, he was drafted. He was in the
infantry. When the doctors in the army had this ocular defect
brought to their attention, they simply built special lenses into
his gas mask, and trained him to be a truck driver or something,
He served. He was as far toward the Asian theater as Saipan when
the war was finished.

Jack had a career in the army as well, but he had had a
professional career in broadcasting by the time he went in. He
enlisted first, and was in ordnance, and was actually sent as an
enlisted man to a special school for ordinance personnel. They
learned fire——fire control? At any rate, they learned how to aim
these huge, monstrous guns. No sooner had he come back from
learning how to be a first-rate weapons man, than he got an
opportunity to go to the Armed Forces Radio Service training which
is what he had wanted all along. He was headed for North Africa,
for the invasion, when the need for surgery came to the attention
of officers, and by the time he had had his quadruple hernia
operation they didn't want him anymore for that training effort.
That was the point at which they sent him to the Armed Forces Radio
Service training.

He fetched up as director of the Armed Forces Radio Station in
the China-India-Burma theater, stationed in Rangoon, I think. Or I
guess it was outside the city. But he was in Burma during that
period. Came home unscathed but with a shoulder patch that every
knowledgeable girl on the whole way home wanted. Because I think
there were only eleven of them in the whole army. So the boys both
had their war service and both came quite close to perilous
conditions. Neither of them was actually under fire.

Then have they settled into careers?
Yes. My brother had a career first in teaching.

That's Jack?
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Jack. First in teaching at radio schools in Los Angeles. He did a
stint of writing. He was quite successful in preparing scripts for
radio shows. Do you remember a show called "You Were There"? Did
you ever hear that?

Chall: Yes.

Bennett: He wrote several of those scripts, and would have liked to
keep on writing for radio but couldn't get enough action into his
other ventures. That is, he was set on that mold, and it suited
him, and he loved doing it, but that vein was played out.
Ultimately, his wife persuaded him to join her in the real estate
business. He found himself with a great fondness for it and they
had a splendid career in real estate together.

Chall: And that was in southern California?

Bennett: Yes., He retired when business got so terribly bad. He
didn't need to worry about it. But there was no point in
maintaining an office with hired help and so forth. They got rid
of that., But when I was down there this last summer and saw him, I
saw hig new offices. He and his wife have taken new offices in a
mall and work part-time; but they enjoy it. They're doing very
well.

What happened to Louis?
When Lou came back he went to the university on the GI Bill.
Oh, the very fellow who wasn't cut out to be a student.

He enjoyed two years very, very much. By thie time his baby sister
and mine was engaged in a venture called the Straw Hat Theater.

Oh, yes.

All right. They were both in it, [Jane Bennett Connell and her
hugsband Gordon Connell], and he joined them. At the same time,
needing to keep body and soul together, he had to make a career
decision. He's a very gifted actor. As he often told me, he just
liked to live at home with all his toys around him. The gypsy life
wae not for him. So he got a job at another kind of enterprise
which he was also interested in, which was selling, He was with
Grodins for years, and ended up his career there being the head

of their data processing.

Was he a floor salesman or did he work in merchandising?
No, he worked in inventory, I guess the various aspects of

merchandising. When they decided to computerize the stock and so
forth, he was the man who was right ready for it. He had very good
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treatment there in the sense that they always liked to play into
his hands. When he had an interest in photography, they got him
equipment and had him do a lot of layouts for them and so forth
He's only just retired after a long career with Grodins.

In pursuit of the theater he met a young man with whom, by the
way, he performed in Waiting for Godot, which is one of the hardest
things in the world to do. They met through the Theater of the
Golden Hinde, I think. Kenneth was a very good actor, and got even
national recognition. I can't remember what critic it was from a
New York paper who saw him in Murder in the Cathedral and commented
in the national press about the strength of his performance. That
young man was about the age of my brother; they've shared a house
for many years. He is now very ill with cancer. My brother's
giving a great deal of attention to him. It's very, very sad.

Sister: Jane Bennett Connell

Yes. Now Grodins has been sold. Well, those men have had good
careers., And your sister. Has she been a director, an actress, a
writer, one or all of these theatrical specialties?

She was an actress. She's just opened in New York in a smash hit.
She's still acting? Is Jane Connell her name?

Jane Connell.

Yes, I remember, we used to go to the Straw Hat and enjoy it.

She and Gordon are both on Broadway right now.

Is that so! Doing what?

He's in Big River which is the musical based on the Huck Finn
story—-now in its second year. He's playing Mark Twain. She is in
a musical show called Me and My Girl which opened on the tenth of
August to riotous reviews. It is the top show in New York at the

moment. Although it is now in its second year Big River never had
the all out critical acclaim that Me and My Girl earned.

So they went on to New York successfully. How do you think she
came by this flair for the dramatic?

I don't know, except that I know she had it at age five. Never for
one moment did she doubt what she was going to do with her life.

How did your parents accept this?
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Bennett: They were much relaxed parents by the time number four came along.
We've often thought as a family together, about what a different
kind of family life the two younger ones had. The parents were so
much more relaxed, so much more easygoing, and much better able to
swing with the punches. They didn't have to prove anything.

Chall: The first born, like you, does feel pressure.

Bennett: Mother always said, to my chagrin, that any parent ought to be able
to put the first one in the ash can.

Chall: One of my friends said, "It's like the first pancake." She said
it's a trial cake. It's never quite as good as the ones that
follow when everything's just right on the skillet.

Bennett: Yes, Mother felt very strongly. She was forthright about that kind
of thing.
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ITI EDUCATION

Let's see, your father was probably trying his hand at private
practice when you went to Anna Head. How did that come about and
how could your parents afford it?

It was just after that that he began having troubles. While I was
at Anna Head it was all right., But it was after I left and was in
the first years of the university, that he began encountering
difficulties that were partly Depression caused, because business
everywhere was tight. But I did stay out a year when he needed a
period of sort of stabilization.

Out of college?

Out of college, between my first and second year, and helped with
the baby and so forth. But I came back, and finished, and had
scholarships in the later part of my career here, and while I was a
graduate student., I took a job fresh out of a college for a year
in Seattle, I was employed by the Seattle public schools. In
those early days you could get a job with four years of psychology
doing what Warner Brown of this department here used to call
"giving a Binnett [Binet] a minute™ in the public school system.
It was a play on the word Binet.

It was a very interesting year; it was my first year away from
home. I enjoyed it. But I was already under obligation to come
back and start graduate study because my mentor, Harold Jones, told
me that he felt it his bounden duty to set my feet on the road
toward a Ph.D.

So I came back. Marjorie Honzik and I shared two appointments.

One of them was an assistant research job at the Institute of Child
Welfare., The other one was a teaching assistantship. We swapped
in midyear.

Before I get you into graduate school, we'll have to go back a bit.
I want to ask you about Anna Head. That was a private girls'
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school?

Yes.

You had been in public grammar school and junior high--

I had been at the Emerson School in Berkeley from kindergarten
through sixth grade. I had entered it with the first kindergarten
that was established there.

Yes, I wondered, because they weren't too common.

Berkeley got around to having them in the public schools, and I had
been going to a small private kindergarten whose teacher was
invited to come and open the one at Emerson School. So I just
moved in with her and a lot of the other people. Then I went to
the Willard School, which everybody did on graduating from Emerson.

That's a junior high. Now, those were coeducational schools,
weren't they?

Oh, yes. Public schools.

High School at Anna Head, 1923-1926

So, you moved then, into a private school. That was because your
mother had been at Anna Head?

Yes.,
There was a cost, of course, involved in that?
Yes.

You were taking a full high school course. How did that seem to
you after a public school?

I liked it.
Classes were much smaller, of course, at Anna Head, weren't they?

Yes. I never had any problem with school work. The very first day
I was there I found a companion in someone I had known slightly at
Willard. We became fast friends. We still are. Her grandchild
wag married thie summer in San Juis Obigpo in that same St.
Stephen'g Church.

Who is she?
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That's Eleanor Burgess, she was then. She married first Bauer
Kramer; they were divorced. Their three children are some of my
adult friends now. She remarried Ernest Hauselt and lived in the
Mother Lode country up in Murphys. We are still fast friends.

Was it common for some young girls to go from the public junior
high school to Anna Head?

It was quite common. As a matter of fact, there was an infusion of
new students at the tenth grade for jusat that reason. Willard was
not the only feeder school. A good many other girls went. I
suppose there was the vague notion in the back of the heads of
some people that it was a good finisher for a girl. Certainly if
you were going to an eastern college it was almost a necessity.

You see, Anna Head was one of the very few schools of its sort
that survived the Depression. Migs [Mary Elizabeth] Wilson hersel f
told me once that this was done by dint of some very hard decigions
on her part. For example, she used part of her insurance in some
way to insure the continuation of the school during the Depression.
At any rate, it served me extremely well.

What did you study?

Regular course. We had English; I studied Latin, and French,
history, math, chemistry. A standard high achool program.

How about the faculty, were they mainly women, or men, or both?
I had mainly women. There were some men.
They were well trained, I assume.

They tended to be University of California people. Professor Gudde
taught German.

Oh, I see. It waa like a part—time job for the professor?

Yes. My teacher of chemietry was a graduste student here under Dr.
Hildebrand. Also, she was my colleague at Mills. That was a very
interesting—-—

Who wag she?

Leona Young, I found that my preparation was completely adequate.
Algo, I found that the Anna Head school training was a wonderful
preparation for college because Miss Wilson just believed in making
it a steppingstone towards your university experience. We had
regular final examinationg at the end of every term; we wrote them
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TH: ANNA HUAD SCHOOL

Berkoeley, Calif.

Period from Dec. 4 to Jan. 22, 1926.

d/RY V.00D5 BT ETT

Exam. Av.
English IV 17 /7 A
Frenoch  III /1t s s
Chenistry /7 /T I
Composition /1 ad /e
History U. S. /7 /7 /
Spelling s /7

Kemarks: i"irst Honors for the month, for exasminations, and
for averages. Tiils §s the highest record in the school.

dARY ¥o WILSOI,
Principal.,

Explanation of marks.

100-95 or 17 Distinguished 84-80 or 2 Recommending
0490 or 1 ILxcellant 79«70 or S Pass
89-85 or 2+ 0Good 4 PFallure

Inge.~-~Incomplete.
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in blue books. There were no nasty surprises when we got to
college, as far as studying was concerned. The entrance to the
university was traumatic for me, but it had nothing to do with
ability to do the work.

Who was Miss Wilson?

Miss Mary Elizabeth Wilson owned the Anna Head School. She had
bought it from Miss Head in, I think, 1909--had a long career
there. She was a Smith College woman hersel f, and a very capable
headmistress.

Was she anything like Mrs. Reinhardt? Did they have some qualities
alike?

They belonged to the same club.
By the same club meaning--?

It was a small organization of women called The Score because there
were twenty people in it.

Oh. It had nothing to do with being headmistress or anything 1like
that?

No. But there was room for two new memebers, and one of the joys of
my later career was that I was asked to be a member of The Score.

Tell me about The Score. Did you join? I'm sure you did.

Oh, yes.

So there were always twenty?

Yes.

And if anyone died then another one was invited in?

I was nearly the last one. Katherine Towle was a member, and
Martha Gerbode, whose husband you probably read a lot about, and
Georgiana Gerlinger Stevens.

Oh, yes!

You've probably done an oral history of Dr. Gerbode.

Yes.

G.G. (Georgiana) was a graduate student when I entered Cal, and I

liked her very much. She was a sorority sister as well as turning
up in The Score when I joined.
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What did The Score women do?

Well, when I joined we had dinner together once a month at the home
of ore or the other of them. Just a pleasant dinner and some
conversation; and little bit of a planned program in the evening
It was just splendid. Just met together. One of my former
professors here at Berkeley was also in the group, Olga Bridgman,
who was & remarkable woman in the psychology department.

Does it still go on, The Score?

No, the founders all died off, or became infirm, and the momentum
was lost.

##

Mary Hutchinson, her name was, was the other new one.
Why did you decide to let it die out?

Because it was already showing signs of doing this, and there was
no machinery for people taking hold and doing more. I remember
that I learned there had been serious arguments among the members
as to whether they should add Mary Hutchinson and me or just let the
group evaporate with the passage of time. In the context it would
have seemed presumptuous for the "young fry" to take hold and do
things about the group. It had been a very informal organization
It was meant to be partly volunteer folk, and partly professional
women. It was that to a certain extent. Mrs. Graupner, who was
very important in the Mother's Milk Bank in San Francisco was a
member. Mrs. Alfred McLaughlin was a member. As I said, Katherine
Towle was, and Georgiana Stevens, and Martha Gerbode. But we were
the younger fry. Ruth Turner, Emily Huntington belonged.

We've interviewed many of these women, I would have to check, but
I'll bet they never talked about it. I'm so glad you brought it
up.

It was a very informal, very enjoyable group.
Who organized it, do you think?

I haven't any idea what its history was. Some of the McClatchys
from Sacramento were in it, and van Loben Sels, and people like

this. But they were all very old ladies by the time I came along.
It didn't have enough organization to suggest somebody filling in
the spaces and so forth. It died a natural death.

It certainly was an interesting group while it was there.
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Submitted to Dean Katherine Towle b i
Dr. =
Notes on early members of ''Score'. i RS e S

Dear Katherine -

It has beer harder than I thought to dig up
frox memory the early cays of "The Score"™ and I have probably
slipped up on some of the details, It was about 1920 when
Cornelia Stanwood and June Lucas asked me to lunch with them
at the Womens' Faculty Club and then invited me to be one of
a group they were selecting who would meet once a month to
have dinner and discuss anything of interest to them. These
were to be women with varied interests, I am listing the
early members with a few words about most of them which are
probably pretty inadequate.

(1) Katherine Felton had graduated from Berkeley in 1895 as
one of the Gold ledalists. She wasinterested with social
problems, particularly as they concerned children, founded

the Childrené';Agency end practically single handedly raised the
money for the building on Gough Street now used by the Family
Service Agency of San Francisco, As long as she lived she man-
aged the agency, selected and trained her staff of workers
without regard to their formal education or previous experi-
ence,

(2) Sarah Gregory (U C 93) worked with Katherine Felton,

and was involved in numerous community projects.

(3) Jessica Peixotto (U C 94) was probably the fore-runner

of the Sehool of Social Welfare, although she objected to

the term "Social Yelfare" preferring "Soocial Economics."”

She worked closely with Katherine Felton and with any num-

ber of other community leaders beside managing her univer-

sity responsibilities. Her position in the university is
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generally known to everyone.

(4) Hattie Sloss was also a strong backer of Katherine Fel-
ton, had many other community interests, and later had her own
regular radio program for the reading of poetry.

(5) Elizabeth Ashe, a trained nurse was largely responsible
tfor the Telegrarh Hill Keighborhood Center, and for the Bothin

Convalescent Home in larin County.

(6) Alice Griffith, a devoted friemd@ of Elizabeth Ashe, worked

witrn her at lelegrarh Lill and in mafin)and when Elizabeth

Ashe died Alice Griftith felt that the Score should cease to

exist since its most important member was gone. alice Grif-

Tith was herself largely responsible for the developmhét of

the Western Addition in San Francisco which she had hoped

wouléd becor.e & happily integrated housing project.

(7) Adelaide Brown, an important figure in the growth of the
Childrens' Hospital in San francisco, had been in charge of a
part of the Childrens' Year activities, and was responsible for
developing the Baby Hygiene Committee of the A A U W which
8still carries on as the Mothers' Milk Bank, Inc,

(8) Elise Graupner, who for years was a sort of informal
secretary for the Score was also closely associated with

Adelaide Brown in the work of the Baby Hyglene Committee and
was largely responsible for developing the Mothers' Nilk Bank

which was named in honor of Adelaide Brown.

(9) Cornmelia Stanwood was much interested in politics and was

Sersh Dix Hamiin

also heaé of the ¥atherine-durke School for girls.

(10) June Lucas had a good many general interests but was pri-
marily interested in building up the reputation of Dr. Lucas

at U C,

171) Yavu Vast waa Tasn of Yomean at Stanford.
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(12) Edith Mirrielees was on the English faculty at Stan-
ford, a member of the Breadloaf Writers' Conference, a con-
tributor to many magazines , and author of "Stanford - The
Story of a University."
(13) Mary Wilson was head of the Anna Head School for girls.
(14) Aurelia Reinhardt, (15) Helen Douglas, (16) Lucy Stebbins,
and (17) Emma McLaughlin are all well known to you. (18) Della
van Loben Sels, like me, was one of the early members.

Among some of our not so early members were Edith Stebbins,
a gifted dramatist from MNills College, Evelyn Little, Emma
7illetts, a San Francisco surgeon; Mrs. Alexander Meiklejohn,
Mrs. Duncan MacDuffie, and Dorothy Williams. (For a short
time Margaret James*: e ¢« « o Whose married name I cannot re-
member, the daughter of William James, was with us until her
early death,) Our present list of members you know. I'm
pretty sure I've missed some short term members and know

I haven't given credit for many achievements, but this will

give you some idea of our beginnings. Sorry I have been so

poky about getting this to you.

% PArs: Brngc-. ?orT&’-r'
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1967 Members of '"'Score”

Dr. Mary Woods Bennett, Provost and Dean of the Faculty,
Mills College

Olga Bridgman, M.D., Professor of Pediatrics, Emeritus, UC,
Professor of Psychology, Emeritus, UC

Mrs. Philip Conley (Phoebe), member of Board of Trustees of
the State Colleges, lives in Fresno

Dean Katherine A. Towle, Dean of Students, Emeritus, UC,
Cel. U.S,M.C,, retired

Dr. Emily Huntington, Professor of Economics, Emeritus, UC

Mrs. Mary Hutchinson, formerly with U.S, Department of Labor
and Employment. Now retired.

Dr. Mary H. Layman, physician, Stanford University, Emeritus

Dr. Evelyn Steel Little, Librarian, Emeritus, Mills College

Mrs. Harley Stevens (Georgiana), writer on international affairs

Miss Ruth Turner, volunteer worker, on Children's Hospital Board,
former president of League of Women Voters, San Francisco,
Juvenile Probation Committee

Mrs. James van Loben Sels (Della) and

Mrs. Emma McLaughlin
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Yes, it's the sort of thing that exists through the vigor of the
people who belong at the moment and it has no dynastic pretensions.

It lasted for quite a while, all things considered. So these two
women [Mary Wilson and Aurelia Reinhardt] had that in common.

They were quite different people as they would have needed to be,
but I think Mary Elizabeth Wilson was a first-rate headmistress.
She had a deep appreciation for what Miss Head had done with the
school, and I think that she shared some of Miss Head's views.
Miss Head said she didn't care what people wanted to do in the way
of progressive education as long as they would let her teach the
students how to write legibly and spell. She by no means was a
stickler just for the form, but she couldn't see any sense in
excusing people for not being able to read and write. [laughter]

Beyond that it was up to them.

Yes., You know, it's wonderful that there have always been these
women who will do this sort of thing and there was no nonsense
about this woman. She was sister-in-law to Josiah Royce. Mrs.
Royce was Anna Head's sister.

So she had it for quite a long time and then retired and sold it?
Yes. I remember being introduced to her when she was a very old
lady. Mother would take us for walks sometimes and we we would pass
Miss Head working in her garden, and Mother would pass the time of
day with her.

Because your mother had been in school with Miss Head? The
school-~where was it? It was in Oakland originally, wasn't it?

No, it was originally in Berkeley. It was the cluster of buildings
that the university now owns on Bowditch——

Oh, yes, of course, the big brown building.
~—Channing and Haste.

Yes, a familiar place. All right. You went right away into the
university? Nineteen twenty-seven?

Twenty-six, actually.
Twenty—-six, all right.
Miss Wilson was always furious that more of her students didn't go

East to colleges. We nearly all went to either Cal or Stanford.
Not all. But we did the thing that-- Well, I was in a groove,



Chall;

Bennett:

Chall:

Bennett:

Chall:

Bennett:

Chall:

Bennett:

Chall:
Bennett:
Chall:
Bennett:
Chall:

Bennett:

33
there was no way that I would even think of doing anything else.
Did scme of the girls not go to college at all?

Not very many. They were oriented toward college. Of course there
were some who married immediately, and a few didn't go.

But you were all headed toward college?

Which is the reason it's a college prep school.

The University of California at Berkeley, 1926-1931

The First Year

Why was the transfer to the university here traumatic, as you put
it a few minutes ago?

You know, I will never know, but here I was, having grown up in
Berkeley with a firm expectation all my life of going to the
university. I had done well in school, no problem about admission.
I was being "rushed". There was a great to-do about rushing in
those days.

Your parents expected you might go into a sorority?

They hadn't talked with me much about it, but they were nothing
loath. It was perfectly clear that I was going to have a chance to
join the house that I wanted. Everything was fine. I was so
homesick, though living at home, I could hardly stand it.

Did you join the sorority?

Yes.

Which wasg--?

Kappa Alpha Theta.

But you were homesick?

But I was talking about it a couple of years later with the younger
sister of Anna Brinton, who was a psychologist by training. She did
her work under Lewis Terman. I said, "I think it was partly the
feeling of being overwhelmed by the size of it. Because it was not

that I wanted to do anything. I was far from knowing what I
wanted. But I felt completely powerless to do anything, had I
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wanted to do it." And she said, "It's probably as good a
description as any. You were just at sea." And I was. Didn't
Bennett: last long, but it was a miserable time. Mother used to come and
fetch me when I was ready to go home. She would find out when I
would be out of classes, and she would pick me up at the gate.
Tears. I just--it was an emotional upheaval for me. Mother set it
down to the fact that I had never gone to school with boys before,
and that it was too much of a social leap. Well that's poppycock.
I had been amongst boys all my life and they had never bothered me
one way or the other. That was not it. It was just being
overwhelmed by something that seemed too large for me to handle.

Chall: Or just the change in classes?

Bennett: Yes, and I did foolish things partly because I had no adequate
advising, I think if the advising system then had been adequate I
could have been straightened out in jig time by someone who knew what
she was talking about. But I got the notion that I wanted to take
languages. This was one of the things that had been easy for me in
high school, and I thought that would be fun. I got talked out of
taking the beginning German class which I had registered for
because it was a five~unit course, and someone said to me, some
older student whom I was listening to for want of a better source,
said, "If you flunk it, it's five units in your total program,
it's a big hole in your program. You had better take a course with
fewer units."

So I took philosophy instead. I could have taken two Germans
and done better than I did in philosophy. Not, mind you, that I
didn't get an A in it, because I did, but I didn't know what I was
talking about. People made that kind of misjudgment about what I
could do, or should do, or what would be easy--from the best of
intentions. But I just didn't get adequate counseling. I took too
little, really. I was not ready for the probing that philosophy
did. I would have been much better off had I got my feet on the
ground first, and troubled myself about the eternal questions a
little later in my career. [laughter] But I do remember with
pleasure some of the experiences I had as a freshman.

Chall: Was it your total freshman year that was--
Bennett: No, it was just the beginning.

Chall: Just the first semester?

Bennett: Just the beginning of it. No, I got my feet under me. I went out
for the Daily Cal because we were told in the house that everybody
must have an activity, and I thought that would be useful. I hated
it. I just hated it. But I waited until I had survived the first
cut. From sel f-respect I did that. Then I resigned. I will always
be grateful to the older student who herself later became a
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headmistress, by the way. A junior she was. She took me aside.
People were saying, "Oh, you shouldn't have given up the activity,
you know it's—-"

This was in the sorority house?

Yes. She took me aside, she said, "Look, if you want to go out
after that little gold key, do it." That isn't the reason that I
left it at all. But she accurately knew that I could do the
academic part hands down, and that there might be satisfaction in
it for me. Furthermore, she eaw 8 desperate person's need for a
little encouragement. It was all she said, but it was what I
needed to make me feel that I was not a pariah.

Wasn't that interesting? She was young and as you say, she went
on to be a headmistress, but she had some special ability already.

She was at the Katherine Delmar Burke School as headmistress. She
was wise. It was that kind of help that I could have used, had I
had it earlier in the advising process. They tried. They had a
system of kind of sponsors among upper classmen, but they couldn't
give academic advice, you know. They knew what courses they had
taken, and what were reputed to be hard and so forth,

Then when I was talking about a major, my first thought was an
English major. I immediately got scared out by the fact that it had
a comprehensive exam at the end that everybody said was a horror.

I didn't have anyone that would sit me down and say to me, "Look,
you've never failed a course in your life; you would have had to
work hard at it to get a low grade. So what's this busiress of
being afraid of the academic hurdles? If others have done it, you
certainly can.”™ Nobody had sense enough to say that. I was not
about to tell anmybody. I didn't know.

You didn't know enough to ask the question. You didn't have enough
sel f-confidence, either, obviously.

I never took an exam that I did not think might be the one I would
fail, I remember once one of my teachers asked me how I ever
managed to take an exam. This was Harold Jones. He got me hooked
up to his psycho-galvanic reflex apparatus, and was testing me for
how I would respond to surprise stimuli. Well, he couldn't get his
machine stabilized, because inside I was wobbling back and forth and
the key showed it. He said, "How did you ever take an examination?

So you always felt apprehensive?
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URIVERSITY OP CALIFCRNIA

ATARD OF KRAFT PRIZ®

To: Miss Xary V. Bemnett
2800 Garbder St.
Berkeley, Calif,

. Acting under instructions received from the Presidemt of the
University, I have the honor to inform you that the President has named you
to receive one of the Bdward Frank Kraft Prize awards, amounting to fifty
dollars.

These prizes have been provided by the will of the late Rdward
FPrank Kraft, and, in accordance with the provisions of }r. Kraft's bequest,
are given to freshmen in the academic departments at the close of their
first senester in the University, in recognition of distinguished scholarship.

The amount of the prize is payable on March 25, 1927, by the
Comptroller, at his office, 106 California Hall, upon presentation of this
letter.

Very truly yours,

Pebruary 5, 1927,
Berkeley, California.
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I always felt tense, I always reviewed everything in the world
there was, and I almost never got a grade lower than a B, I got a
preponderance of A's throughout my career. Not all, but
preponderance. Never a C. I just did not realize that my track
record was good enough to give me confidence.

At what point did you become what is known as the Terman genius?
Was that in high school? Somebody had told me that, so I thought I
had better check, since you tell me that you really weren't sure
about exams and all of this. When did this happen?

[Laughs] This was during the period that Terman was developing his
genetic studies of genius. I was selected along with a batch of
others at about fifth or sixth grade level for testing and for
follow-up studies with the family. The place is alive with people
who were in that study.

Yes, and they're doing a follow-up study right now. I think
they're finding out about the geniuses in retirement—-a Stanford
professor told me last year that he was working on it.

That was an interesting experience partly because Catharine Cox
Miles, the younger sister of Anna Brinton worked with Terman She
wrote the second volume of his genetic studies of genius--she was
the senior author--called Early Mental Traits of 300 Geniuses.

She had gone back and analyzed the writings, whatever existed, of
people who have many, many lines of type in an encylopedia, and tried
to assess them in terms of an I.Q. on the basis of their writings.

It was very interesting, I actually worked formulas for her all

one afternoon, I remember that with great pride. So I just was
interested in the study, but it didn't cut much of a figure for me.

I see. You were picked from what? A test?

Somebody administered the Stanford-Binet, 8nd I think it was on
this basis. But I don't know. Of course they never confided in
the children.

Did they interview the parents? Or did they study the family?
They had some communication with the parents.

Otherwise they would just check on you from time to time, is that
how it worked?

We had physical exams, and a variety of other things. Proved thsat
we weren't queers. Rather normal sample. As a matter of fact, I
think what they ultimstely figured out was that they got a lot of
people who were relatively high achievers. They didn't, in their
net, get many geniuses. Just high scorers which is quite different
from the genius type.
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STANFORD UNIVERSITY, CALIFORNIA

May 20, 1931

Miss Mary Woods Bennett,
2800 Garber Street,
Berkeley, California.

My dear Miss Bennett:

I have just learned of tﬁe signal honor that
You have received at the University of California ;nd I want to
offer you my most slincere congratulations. It is an unfailing
gource of pleasure to me to learn of the triumphe of you young
people - members of my adopted "family” - end I am delighted with
your success. That the future will bring you still more of such

triumphs 1s my earnest hope and confident expectation.

Yours very cordially,

bt Lo
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Department of Psychology,
University of California,
Berkeley, Californssa. ’
February 14, 1934.

Professor Lewis M. Termen,
Department of Psychology,
Stanford University, California.

Dear Professor Terman:

Once more I am taking the liberty of asking
you for assistance, this time to further my &application for a
greduate scnolarship or fellowsaip at the University of
California for the year 1924-35. If you find it convenient, I
should appreciaste your filling out and returning the encloeed
form ae soon ae possible.

I am working for a doctor's degree in peycholog
and am engaged on a protlem in the mental testing field waich I
gehould 1like to finish up next year. Of course you have no first
hand infcrmation ccucer..ine the quality of my present worz, but
your recommendations have been 8o effective on two past occastons
that I am making bold to ask you for another.

I am deeply grateful for your many kindnesses
to a member of your "edopted family", and truet that thie request
will in no way inconvenience you.

Yours very sincerely,
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DEPARTMENT OF PSYCHOLOGY

STANPORD UNIVERSITY, CALIFORNIA

March, 1936

Dear l'iss Fennett:

You will no doubt recall that a good many years ago you were given a number
of tests in connection with a Stanford University study of intellectually su-
perior children. You were one of 1,000 subjects selected for study from a
total school population of about 250,000. The purpose of the study was to se-
cure all the facts possible about the physical and mental traits of gifted chil-
dren and to find out by prolonged follow-up how such children develop in later
years. No oomparable investigation had ever been undertaken, and the results to
date have attracted world-wide attention from psychologists, sociologists, and
educators.

The ultimate scientific and educational value of this project lies in follow-
ing every member of the group as far as possible into adult life, in order to
learn of their successes and their failures, their interests and plans for the
future, and so far as possible to find out how the factors of endowment and
early training are related to adult activities and accomplishments. The first
important follow-up was made in 1928, when the accessible subjects were given
additional tests and both the subjects and their parents filled out information
blanks. I am grateful for the almost one hundred per cent perfect co-operation
which was given at that time and confidently hope for its cortinuance in the
years to come.

A second follow-up is now being undertaken with the help of a small research
grant recently made available. The enclosed blank indicates the kind of infor-
mation I wish to secure at this time. I shall greatly appreciate it if you will
£ill out the blark fully and frankly and return it to me in the enclosed en-
velope. All the information collected is held as confidential. It is kept in
locked files and will be used only for statistical purposes, without names.

I am anxious to have the informetion as complete as possible, whether
favorable or unfavorable. Letters in addition to the filled blanks will be
welcome. If there is information which you would hesitate to put in the blank,
please write a separate letter marking it "personal and confidential." Such
letters will be kept in a special file in my home or (if you request it) will
be destroyed immediately.

It will help me greatly in keeping my records if you will always inform me
of changes in your address. Do not hesitate to write me whenever 1 can be of
service to you by way of recommendations or by educational or vocational advice.

With best wishes always,

fm 7y 7W

Lewis M. Terman
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STANFORD UNIVERSITY
DEPARTMENT OF PSYCHOLOGY

StanrorD UNiversrTy, CALIFORNIA

May 19, 1936

Miss “ary W. Bennett
2957 Magnolia Street
Berkeley, California

Dear Miss Bennett:

I have been much interested in the information you sent
me on my report blank. You have had a splendid academic
record so far. I hope the opportunity offers soon to ocom-
plete your work for the doctor's degree. 4nytime I can help
you in landing & position, please let me know.

Sincerely yours,

Zocois W Tevmene
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So, here you are in college and uncertain of your major. This was
in your freshman year. Were you expected to consider a major as a
freshman?

Yes, we talked about it, and I said that I would like to do

English, and I discarded that, as I told you; I was scared out.
Then I thought maybe French, because that went very well in my
freshman year., I went to see my French teacher, whose name was Miss
Magee. I had liked my course with her, and I went to see her about
registering the next year, or maybe it was even the next semester.

I don't remember whether it was the hal f year or the full year. She
said, "If you are thinking of majoring in French, and I think

you're a good candidate, go to a French teacher, don't come to me."
She said, ™You ought to begin planning right now for a year of

study abroad."” That scared me. And I had once said to a so-called
faculty advisor, that I thought I would like to study languages,
and his one sentence to me that falls under the heading of advising
was, "You can't do that. You have to pick one, or a family of
languages."” And I didn't even know what he was talking about. So
that was that.

Decision to Major in Psychol ogy

I was still at sea when I took that year off between my freshman and
sophcmore years. If you would like to know what really happened,

it was this. I went for a Sunday ride with a friend of mine and her
parents. A cousin of hers who was older than we were, but not a
great deal older, a very bright young man, who ultimately perfected
the first practical lie detector, was with us. He was Leonarde
Keeler, whose father had, amongst other achievements, written "All
Hail Blue & Gold".

Leonarde was with us and he was an excited graduate student in
his field. His young cousin, who was my age mate, Marion Gorrill,
whose parents were taking us on this ride, had decided on a
psychology major. I had had this experience of helping Catharine
Miles do her bit, and I thought, well, why not? So I did.

Oh. So that was how it all came about.

It was really happenstance. I was, years later, much relieved by
hearing one of my professors, Jean Walker Macfarlane say, "You
know, most people don't really choose what they're going to do in
life. They're either pushed or pulled by the forces around them.”
And I was pushed or pulled.

Now at that time, you had told me earlier about your mother's
friends in, was it San Jose, who had always been sort of advisors
to—
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Bennett: Anna Cox Brinton's younger sister Catharine was a psychologist.
She was the one for whom I worked formulas. She's the one who
worked on the Terman study.

Chall: That was accidental too. Because she didn't advise you in any way,
did she?

Bennett: No. But one of the things was that that connection was a hook on
which I could hang the whole thing, make sense out of the choice.

Chall: Then you felt more confident coming back? Of course, you were
already a year older, which may have helped.

Bennett: Yes, it helped. The people at the sorority house I will always be
grateful to. The mother of one of them had been a mover and shaker
in the national sorority. She had put her daughter up to it. I
waa given the job of tresaurer which carried a small stipend when I
went back. She got them to offer me that job when she knew I was
staying out the year, and realized that it was probably finances.
She furthermore lent me money. I had another friend who lent me a
little money when I needed it to get going again.

Chall: Those are the kindly things that so many people don't think about.

Bennett: You know it means go much, and so often you never know when you're
doing it even. It's certainly marvelous when it's done. I had help
along the way.

Chall: When you came back and finally decided what you were going to
major in, then you began to take classes in education and
psychology?

Bennett: The whole prescribed bit.

Chall: Yes. That didn't lead you back into foreign languages or anything
of that kind?

Bennett: Well, I want to tell you, I had the great good fortune of having
Olga Bridgman, who waa later my friend in The Score, as a major
advisor in the psychology department. I can remember the first
time I went to see her was the beginning of my junior year, when I
was entrenched aa a major and had done the preliminary work with
catalogues that you needed to. I had the program all laid out. I

took it to her and showed it to her, and she said, "I don't see any
literature courses.” I have realized how lucky I was.

I had taken one course that I had heard about, had a great
reputations. It was Arthur Ryder's course in "Sangkrit Literature
in Translation" and I had had that. I said to Dr. Bridgman, "Maybe
that ia frivolous. Maybe I should be getting down to brasa tacks."
She said, "You have enough brass tacks in there." [laughter]
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Good for her!

It was one of the loveliest courses I ever had. Sheer pleasure.

Did you take any others? Did you have time for other literature
classes?

Yes, yes. I took Professor Whipple's course in--what was it?—
Contemporary? No. Modern American Literature, something like
that. I took a variety of English courses. When I got to be a
senior I was bold enough to take the freshman course in physics,
just because I thought I ought to have a little exposure to that
field. By that time I was relaxed enough as a student, so I didn't
care whether I didrn't understand it or not. No, I had a good time
my last few years and had no difficulty moving through the courses
in psychoclogy.

Did you feel comfortable, then, about having decided on psychology
once you did it? I mean, it's one thing to decide to do it, and
another is to think, "Oh, my, what am I doing herel"

Yes, I did. Partly because I got a job right away.

But you didn't know that.

I knew it in the spring before I graduated.

But while you were taking the classes and all, you were satisfied
enough with your professors and with the subject matter?

Yes, and I hadn't any idea about what vocational opportunities
might be, but I discovered I was employed before the end of my
senior semester. Before the second semester of my senior year I
had the job offer.

That was pretty soon.

This was a feature of the Depression. Women, because they went in
for the applied fields more than likely, had a better chance. I
was appointed to the school system.

What school?

This is in Seattle.

I thought Seattle came after you had graduated, but it was--

It's after I graduated with my B.A. I came back after the Seattle
experience to start my graduate work.

But you already knew you were going at the time?
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This was when Dr. Jones extracted a promise from me to be sure and
come back.

What wae psychology in those days?

Well, it was the study of the schoola that were at war with each
other. Now, as an undergraduate, I don't remember so much of this
except that it was very important to krnow about the separate
schools of psychology. Psychology as an overall whole didn't
appear to be an entity. It was made up of the experimentalists,
and the this, that, and the other people. The Gestalt people were
becoming very much in the forefront. It seemed sort of
fractionated, sort of pulled apart from the inside. I felt better
about that aspect after—I suppose the year in Seattle gave me a
little confidence that one could sort thinge out ultimately and get
a job related to the interest. But it wag not until I got back and
got into coursea with Edward Tolman that I began to get some
orientation toward psychology as a digcipline, and how the several
parts fit together.

In your undergraduate years when you were taking classes in the
various theories, were those taught by proponents of the theory?

It varied. For one thing, the department at Berkeley did not have
those 1lines as sharply drawn. It was small enough so that the
people still talked to each other. You see, this was before World
War II. People knew what the other fellow was thinking, and you
had more of a sense of unity. It was a small department. It
became gigantic after World War II. Because everybody and his
brother who had been overseas wanted to come back and be a clinical
psychologist.

But when I went through, just before then, we had a good
representation of the field of clinical psychology, and Olga
Bridgman, and Jean Walker Macfarlane were my teachers there. They
were guperb, and they had close ties with the practical applications
in the area, and one could see where one might go there. Even the
work in experimental I enjoyed, although I didn't have the same
interest in it, that I had in the other. The work in
developmental, in child psychology, was very interesting to me, and
I followed that out. So I got a mix.

As I gay, the people were not at daggers drawn in our

department. They were aassessing the various contributions. One of
the things Tolman tried to do is to draw things together under one

syatem. All the known facta, the observable phenomena, into one
overarching conceptual framework. That's why he was interesting to
work with,

Where wae Freud in all of this?
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Freud was read assiduously. But not fallen for hook, line, and
sinker.

Because it wasn't something you could quantify?

I started out my docoral dissertation trying to find a problem that
I could attack in some way that would yield to quantification. I
spent 8ix months doing that before Harold Jones said to me, "Want
another subject?"™ [laughs] I read interminably and tried to come
up with something but couldn't lay hold of it. I was not
sophisticated enough.

##

Sorority Life

Tell me about your sorority life. How did you happen to decide to
pledge? Were you planning to do that when you came on campus?

I had no ideas about it one way or the other because I had not
been much aware of what went on. I knew there were sororities.
But in the summer preceding my coming to the university, some
people that I knew vaguely, older women from the Anna Head
connection, or friends of the family, or so forth, took me out to
tea, did the usual things, at the Sign of the Piper which no longer
exists, It was a tea room on the second story of that artsy-
craftsy building that Tupper and Reed built. I think a little
place called Cafe Metropole is there now with a bistro downstairs.
But at any rate, it was the Tupper and Reed building at the time
with a nice little tea room at the top called the Sign of the
Piper. I can remember going there.

I did not make any decision for or against pledging; I simply
went along with the tide. I liked the people, and a certain
percentage of them I knew by reputation or from the Anna Head
connection, or whatever. It just seemed the normal thing to do to
accept invitations that were offered. I didn't have sense enough
to read the sign to know that you passed certain hurdles and so
forth. It pleased me, but it didn't surprise me particularly that
I was invited to join., I had dated at other sororities.

You were rushed by others?

Not very hard. I heard the rumor afterwards that my reputation was
that I was all sewed up anyway, and this was courtesy because of
some alumna or something., But I don't know, and I don't know why
they knew I was all sewed up at all, or whether that was indeed
fact. But it was very eagygoing, and I had my moments of anxiety
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Bennett: when I was far enough along in the process to know that letters
should be coming or an invitation should be coming, or that sort of
thing. But I never got to the phase of sturm und drang at all. So
I went.

Chall: It just came about. So, having got in, were there any problems?
Were you aware that there might be costs involved?

Bennett: Well, there were not the same kinds of costs I think that there are
now. I wag among the majority in being 8 nonresident in the little
old Theta house that has been supplanted by a massive one on the
same site. It was a8 lovely Julia Morgan building, and a very
pleasant house. But too small, as it later turned out. I don't
know how much economics entered into the conception of need for a
bigger place, and how much other factors. But the costs were not
great.

However, in the Depression years which we were into shortly,
the cost even at that seemed more than we could bear, and that was
one of the reasons that I stayed out for a year between my first and
second years. I maintained my meetings with the group and that
sort of thing, and I was a welcome member, but I did not
participate. Then, by maneuvering that I learned about later, the
mother of one of the members said, "That woman can be treasurer",
only they didn't say woman in those days, they said, "That girl".
And I was treasurer for a couple of years.

Chall: That was a paid position?

Bennett: A small amount, but it about covered the fees. The final year, I
had a acholarsghip at the university. I can't remember how long
that period went on, but at any rate, the house eased me through.
One of the lovely parts of my having stayed out a8 year, my last
year there I was a senior citizen I had helped to rush every
single girl in the house, and enjoyed that sense of knowing what
had gone on. Several of my good friends became president.

I notice that you have indicated here [the outline] the
concern about exclusivity. I had none. It never occurred to me.
Some of the older girls were thinking of it. I think I considered
it when I was a graduate student, and renewed acquaintance with a
gorority sister who had been an older member at that time, dropped
out of undergraduate life for a marriage, and had come back as a
student when I was a graduate student. We renewed our friendship
and had many conversations, among others, the value of this
experience. She always maintained that there was more argument in
favor of fraternities than sororities because fraternities did do a
job of taking care of the brothers afterwards. Seeing that they
got placed in positions and that sort of thing-—took care of them.
She didn't think that sororities did that so well. I wouldn't say
that, because I know I was boogted along several times and in
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2709 Claremont Blvd., Berkeley,
July 19, 1929.

My dear Helen Pratt:

Some few months ago I wrote you concerning an application
for & scholarship loan for our Mary Woods Eennett. The applica-
tion was not then sent in for the family managed to meet the
emergency, but it has arisen again, and iary wWoods would be
unable to return without financial help. She is a very valua-
ble girl to us and so true a Theta her loss, even as an active,
would be serious. Her grades, as you see, are very fine. Her
character 1is rare, and even among upstanding girls she 1is a very
precious person. She took on the Treasurership in April, end
Omega hadn't a cent owing in the house at the close of the
college semester. That was due to margaret iartin's excellent
system, wnich sary Woods kept in operation. This position tided
her over the close of the year, but with it alone she hasn't
enough to go on. There 1s a baby sister now three years old,
and her mother's health and the care of the baby have made a full
life and a character development unusual in girls of her age.

She is a graduate of Miss Head's, and iiiss Wilson, the principal,
feels that she 1s one of the strongest girls they ever graduated.
She was recommended by the Goucher delegate to the San Francisco
convention, herself a little Southern lady, and Mary Voods is

the same type, with an extraordinarily acute brain, mature
analysis of character, anc steadiness of purpose. She 1s major-
ing in Psychology, has been 1n close touch with assistants of
Terman's, of stanford (cousins), and will make her mark in

this advanced field, 1 feel sure, and be able to turn her ability
into salary-producing results. I have advised her strongly to
apply for this loan, for I know she will do it credit, and I feel
1t is better for her to continue and graduate than to stop now
and try to produce & reserve when she 1s unskilled. We have some
sweet girls in Omega, end a few strong ones, and too many ordinary
ones, and Mary Woods is both sweet and very strong and she has
not & thread of the ordinary about her. She has been Chaplain,
and & beautiful one, and Scholarship Adviser, and now Treasurer,
and at all social affairs she has the rare hostess' gift that
comes from gentle breeding and true worth. I recommend her for

a scholarship loan from the Thea scholarship fund, and rejoice
that we have such & olessing and that I may recomuend her whole
heartedly. I should be glad if you would advise me of the prog-
ress of the application for in case there should be any doubt

or delay, I should want to take steps to secure the amount she
needs, for I feel the matter is vital to her.

With best wishes,

loyally in Thets,
warion Whipple Garretson
Omega, 1898.
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several places by older members whom I met when I was an
undergraduate. One of them was Leslie Ganyard, does that name
mean anything to you?

Oh, yes.

Leslie was a very loyal Theta. So was Catharine DeMotte Greene,
who was in the economics department here. She was later an
assistant dean of women Incidentally, she served on the staff at
Mills for a while when I was there, before I was dean, but while I
was there. Those women were a considerable influence in my life.
They were role models, if you will, a term we didn't use at the
time, but they certainly were. That was Leslie and Catharine.

Leslie Ganyard had already graduated?

Oh, yes, long before. She was slready employed by the University
of California, at I think Bureau of Occupations, was it?

I don't know. I know the name ir connection with foundations.
Oh, well, that was long after.
Yes, later.

No, she was an employee of the University of California, and it was
before her child was born. She was married a long time before the
child was born. Every once in a while those women who were a
generation or so ahead in the house would come by. I met a great
many older Thetas that way. Not terribly much older, mind you, but
some.

When I was thinking of exclusivity, too, I was thinking of the fact
that sometimes there's a certain snobbishness.

Yes there is that about it, and I am sure it existed, and maybe
still does. I am equally sure that without a small group in which
I felt intimate, I wouldn't have survived at the university. There
are enough of them; I think there was something more than seventeen
sororities when I was in college.

That's quite a few.

Yes, and it counted for several hundred women. I'm not sure that
the same thing wouldn't have happened if I had gotten into a good
dormitory group. There weren't dormitories at the time. There was
nothing like it. There were some boarding houses that were
carefully enough run so that they served the functionn I think it's
the matter of breaking the mass down into a manageable group that

is important. The sororities served that function I know that
for me, that is the function it served, because the good Lord knows
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I was never a social butterfly. We had some in the house, but we
also had ones like the one who talked to me sagely about the
difference between fraternities and sororities later, and the one
who advised me to go after the little gold key, as that was my
bent, and some others. In retrospect, I realize that some of the
more mature women, even among the undergraduates in the house,
didn't seek me out so much, as the fact that friendship was very
easy for them.

So that just within the group itself you had your own special
friends?

It was a very useful social experience for me, quite apart from the
fact that I loved it. It was a good connection, and it stood me in
very good stead, as will come out later when we talk about Seattle.

What about social 1ife? You were, primarily, a student, but there
must have been scme.

Well, I would have had none, I think, if I hadn't been in that
sorority. One of my friends doggedly insisted on arranging double
dates now and themn. That was very nice; she was a Theta sister. I
had known her--she was the age of my brother, and she had been in
class from kindergarten on with my brother, but we happened,
because of my year's hiatus, to be close together in the house. We
are still fast friends. Her first child is now well in his
forties; he's an elected official in Fresno County. I spent every
weekend in the first six months of his life, practically, in that
house, so that the young family that was terribly held down could
have some respite. Because Papa was an intern and then a resident
in the hospital and had to have the telephone very carefully
monitored. So I had a vocation for a while.

How nice to have such a friend.

Yes, and it was not that I didn't have a family, and a devoted
family at home, it's just that this other dimension was there, and
it was great for me.

Two of the girls who became president while I was there were
my close friends. One of them was from my later elementary school
days, and we were very close friends. Not in elementary school so
much as when we were freshmen together at Berkeley. Her family,

particularly her mother, was one of the good influences in my
growing-up years, because she was a motherly person, but totally

different from my own mother, and much more realistic in facing
real life's problems, and talking about them. I had always felt
that she, and the mother of the one who doggedly pursued the double
date business with me, were very logical and useful extensions of
the motherly presence in my life. I gained a lot from both those
mothers.
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That's very important too in your life.

So all in all, the sorority was a jolly good thing in my life. No
matter what its negative features might have had in the society at
large.

I see. So if you were to answer what you learned from membership
which you might not have learned otherwise—— I'm not sure if learn
is quite the right word.

I think learn is right in the sense that it was a period of social
growth, a much broadening of the horizone, and I learned a lot

from the others, including the social butterflies. I learned a
great deal. I did participate in the formalized social life; I did
go to the formals, and discovered that, you know, I could make my
way in those. But I had no skills in dealing with the opposite
sex, Absolutely none. I learned something about what was amiss
there, too. [laughe] The mother of one of my friends said at one
time, I needed to learn to flirt a little. '

You were bookish?

I was terribly sobersided, and I think maybe we spoke of this
before. I think it came from being the first child of very earnest
parents who were themselves, both, somewhat limited in their social
exposure.

Yes, that's right, you had said that they rarely did anything out-
side the family. That makes a difference, even though you did have
a brother, but he was younger, so you couldn't learn much from him.

He was younger, and if there was anyone in our family that could be
called a loner, he was it. He went off on hie own. Two and a half
years difference, at that stage, is enormous. If it had been the
other way around, I think he would have taken care of me. But as
it was, he suffered from being the boy child after a much cherished
and not exactly reticent-in-the-family girl child. I think little
boys are very hard put to it if they have a big sister. He never
got over it.

Suffere to this day.

We talk about it now.

Were you ahy?

It depends on how you look at it. I didn't pueh mysel f forward,
certainly, but I was not handicapped in a social group; I simply

was not aggressive. I hadn't any of the delicate skille that some
people develop much earlier.
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Yes, you could watch them and see the difference.

Yes.

Campus Activities

I was wondering what you might have done outside of your academic
life.

Nothing in the way of sports, absolutely nothing. I think I had
batted a few balls across the tennis net with one of my Theta
friends, one of the ones I had known a long time who became
president. I went off with her to Claremont Country Club where
her family was a member, and we played very bad tennis for a very
short time. The swimming I did at Fallen Leaf Lake with another
one of the active ones. One of my steps up toward adul thood was
when I discovered that I didn't have to go head first into Fallen
Leaf Lake.

Could just walk in?

I could go in feet first if I wanted to, but I had taken swimming at
the Hearst gym, and I was trained to always dive in. I was a bad
diver.

Were you required to take gym here?

Oh, yes. It was required of me in my program during transition
stage from the temporary barracks we were in, because of the fire
to the old women's gym, and the completion of the new. I was in
the firat class that used the new gym, and we still occasionally
ran into workmen when we were going scantily clad in one Turkish
towel from dressing room to shower and back. But it was bright and
new when I moved in. I learned to swim in that large pool.

I had been reading in some of the background material on the campus
that there were lots of senior class activities and such things as
banquets and formals, and there were Junior Farces and Senior
Extravaganzas and big C Circuses, and all that sort of thing, How
about those?

You mentioned a scrapbook, and this turns out to be the closest
approach I have to it. [Shows material from her student days]
It's not s0 well organized.

Oh! Wonderful!

You ask about dances, there's proof that I went to a couple.
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Oh, the old programs. Very good.

Oh, and I went to the inauguration of Bowles Hall. My boyfriend
was among the first residents of that hall, and invited me to go to
the opening ball. Senior Extravagarza? Yes. Baccalaureate? Yes!

Certainly the baccalaureate.
Yes.
Good for you, you saved it all.

I had a notice inside there. Here. This is the level at which I
participated in most activities.

What did you have to do as vice-chairman of the senior class?

I cannot remember. Except that I have a vague memory of being on
my hands and knees on a large floor cutting things out for
something, and it could have been that. But I was also on the
costume committee for the Partheneia when I was a freshman, and
made mock Indian tomahawks by the dozen, in a loft over a shop on
the block of Telegraph which used to be shops including the Black
Sheep, which waa the eating place where all the faculty gathered. I
did that sort of thing at a very low level.

Why did you do it?

It was the thing to do, to be engaged in some kind of college
activity. That was the influence of the sorority.

I remember that you were asked to find an outlet or find something
outside the sorority.

We were urged to participate in some way.

So you continued to do that and always picked out something, is that
it?
What came naturally.

Were you as exercised as others about the fact that Stanford stole
the ax at a Berkeley rally?

Yes, even at this distance in time I had the reaction of a typical
undergraduate. [laughter] I went to every single football game
that was played in Berkeley while I was an undergraduate and a
graduate. I think I went every single Saturday.

Then you like football?
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Bennett: I waa trained to like football. When I wae a child we used to
watch the "Wonder Team". One of the last things I did when I made
my final move was to mail to my brother his pictures, which he had
not taken with him when he left home, of the "Wonder Team".

Chall: Tell me about the "Wonder Team®™. What was that?

Bennett: Oh, that was the team that had "Brick" [Harold] Muller on it, who
later became an orthopedic surgeon. He was the name that's most
famous to me. He threw a forward pass in one, I think it was a
Roge Bowl game, that was, for its time the longest completed
forward pass on record—aomething of that sort. He's a huge man.
Big, tall, redhead.

My father used to take us, It waa long before the stadium was
built., There were wooden bleachers in the general area occupied by
Edwards Field, (Hearst Gymnasium site), I guess. Or maybe farther
eagst. It was in some area that the Harmon Gym now occupies on
Bancroft, adjacent to Bancroft. I don't think east of what is now
Sproul Hall, but it may have been right in there. We used to go up
there on game days. I once saw some team defeated 103 to nothing—-
but I can't recall what teams were playing.

In those days there were no proper dressing room facilities in
between halves. The teams used to just go to a corner of the field
and sit. I can remember our trying to position ourselves where we
could be near and see the university team. Way back. It was
before I was ever a student. Probably before I was in high school.
Maybe even when I was still in elementary school.

Chall: Did your mother go?

Bennett: Sometimes. My father usually took us. We didn't go very often
Mother's brothers, although they never attended Stanford, had all
expected to. She, by instinct, voted for Stanford, or sided with
Stanford, My father was Cal through and through and through. I
think she did it just to inject a little variety into life. I
don't think that she was too serious about it.

I can remember one time when the Big Game was afoot, and
Mother and Dad came by an extra ticket. They were going together
with another couple. Mother thought I ought to go if I wanted to,
and I didn't, but they took my brother. He went and he was happy
and I stayed home and cleaned out the window benches, I remember,
and felt equally fulfilled.

Chall: As if you had really done scmething important.
Bennett: I wae thinking I certainly didn't participate in women's affairs

activity, and then I realized I was wrong, There was an
institution I did not know by what name, whereby there was
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tea on one day a week regularly, during the academic year, in the
Women's Lounge of Stephens Union. What is now, I think Moses
(Stephens) Hall. But that was Stephens Union. I can't rememer, I
think it was Women's Lounge. I used to go regularly to those being
a recipient rather than a creator of the event. But I went
regularly, and may have had some slight responsibility for some of
them, I don't know. I can remember trying to introduce someone
once, and being embarrassed by not being able to remember the
girls' name.

But there I met a person whose presence meant a lot to me at
the university, and I hadn't remembered it till I looked this up,
and that was Mrs. Monroe Deutsch. I noticed that although I think
very freqently of Dr. Deutsch and his influence, in the material
that I've saved, there's no reference to him. He was very quiet.
But you must rememeber that his was the period when Robert Gordon
Sproul was new and was trying to integrate the UCLA and the
Berkeley campus into coequal parts of a united university. I'm
sure his greatest contribution to the university in the long run was
not letting it get pulled part. Mr. Deutsch ran this place as
provost when Robert Gordon Sproul was in southern California. He
was very much in the foreground, but a very quiet operator. He's
just a dear.

And his wife?

Functioned as a faculty wife. There she was week after week after
week at those teas. So was Margaret Beatty. I cannot remember her
field, but I have a hunch it was public health or something like
that. I don't really remember what it was, but she was a wholly
different person, but she was equally faithful. I can remember
those two, I can't remember any others.

What about Dean of Women Lucy Stebbins? Did you know her at that
time?

I had met her and knew her a little bit, but I had very little
truck with the dean's office, and only discovered what I had
missed, late. But toward the end of my career I was very much
concerned about getting a job, it being Depression time, and the
idea of graduate work had not yet taken hold. I went and had an
interview, I think with Mrs. [Mary] Davidson.

##

That was my first visit, and then the issue became different when
people began saying, "You ought to go on to graduate work." By this
time I was known to Harold and Mary [Cover] Jones, and they were
urging me to take——Harold Jones was suggesting that I take a year
off to do something and then come back. He, and I don't know who
else in the department, contrived to get this dual appointment for
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Marjorie Honzik and me by which we shared two jobs, and switched in
midstream, switched the jobs at the turn of the year so that each
of us had each job for half a year.

This was as an undergraduate or when you came back?
No, as a graduate.
When you came back.

They were talking about this arrangement toward the end. Harold
Jones was quite insistent that I return for graduate study. So he
said, "It's fine to go away for a year, but be sure you come back."

So you didn't go on to see the women's advisers anymore?

No, this was not a major adviser, because Olga Bridgman was the
major adviser, but Dr. Jones was the person who had spotted me,
apparently, in the class in child psychology which I was taking as
a senior. Also in that class, by the way, was Catherine Landreth,
whose name you may know. She retired from the University of
California some years ago. But she, through accident of being much
older than I and already a professional in New Zealand, came along
and got her doctorate under Dr. Jones really just a year or so
before I had.

I saw the possibility of graduate work, and also, I had a firm
job offer for the one year, from someone who saw the point of my
going off from graduate study to work a year, and wasn't fussed by
the fact that I would be leaving her employ at the end of the year.
She understood such situations exactly. Olga Bridgman urged me to
take the job, and I was trained to do it because it was, as Warner
Brown described it, giving a "Binnett a minute" in the Seattle
public school system. I went to the job of laboratory assistant
in the child study laboratory of the Seattle public schools. Olga
Bridgman really got me that job when she was asked to recommend
someone for it.

Did they think it was something that would help you understand the
field better, a maturing process, to be away for a year?

Yes, I think they both recommended that. You see, I had not only

been very close to the university and exclusive in the department
in a way, but lived here all my life, and knew nothing of other

educational institutions. Marjorie Horzik went away at the same
time and for the same reason. She went to the National Research
Center in Washington, D.G. under the same arrangement. Go, but
come back. I think it wae juat their feeling that a little
broadening of horizone was probably indicated.
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UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA
PSYCHOLOOICAL LABORATORY
BERKELEY

April Seventh
1932

Miss Mary Woods Bennett,
Child Study Laborstory,
Public Schools,

Seattle, Washington.

Dear Miss Bennett:

The Department has recommended
that you be appointed teaching fellow for one
semester at $300 for the year 1932-33, and
Professor Jones is recommending you for a
position at the Institute of Child Welfare for
the other semester.

The decision as to which semester
you should teach and which to work at the In-
stitute is to be arranged by you and Professor
Jones in conference.

Sincerely yours,

R poend O TReuan

Edward C. Tolman,
Chairmen of the Department.

Please notify me if you
are unable to accept this
appointment.
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Before I get you off to Seattle we'll finish up here with the
university. I guess the campus looked different from how it looks
now, of course.

You know, I have known the campus all my life, and it is very
difficult for me to pinpoint changes because I have been witness to
them over the years. I have very firm memories early on of things
about the campus. For example, I remember the hue and cry when the
Campanile was being built. Everybody was sure it would get shaken
down in the first earthquake. There were news stories about the
coeds who fed coffee and donuts to the workers, presumably, at some
stage of the game—-all kinds of things. I was too young to
remember anything except patches, but I remember the furor over it.

I remember the furor over the building of the stadium, because
everybody was sure the first earthquake would reduce it to rubble.
My father wag either asked to canvass for it, or to contribute, I
can't remember. I can remember a conversation between him and my
mother over this project. They were by no means involved closely
with the university, but because of my father's having gone to law
school, there was a kind of a tie that they recognized. They had,
after all, intended to have their children go there, and all four
of them did, aa a matter of fact. So it was something quite
planned in that respect.

I noted that while you were on the campus here the International
House, Giannini Hall, and the Life Sciences Building were
completed.

I was in the first class that moved from the old psych building
which was up sort of in the neighborhood of Founder's Rock. An old
dwelling, We moved down to the Life Sciences Building, I'm sure
there were other features of it that were noteworthy, but I
remember particularly that it was supposed to be earthquake proof.
I remember sitting in a small seminar room, or something of that
gort, and feeling an earthquake, and thinking, so this is the way
it goes. It was definitely rocking, I was scandalized the other
day when I read that it was sadly in need of updating and so forth
because it had stayed in my memory way back in those old days when
it was the new and beautiful place.

Someplace I read that it was one of the largest buildings that had
been completed. That just doesn't seem possible, now that we sgee
so many large buildings. They are building a major addition on to
it which you probably have seen.

I heard about their project.

You just walk right down the street from here, and you'll see it.
Of course, Giannini Hall was—-—
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It was outside my sphere—The only thing that I remember about

that particularly is that I never could figure out how people could
get from women's gym, the Hearst new gym—-the dedication of which I
attended, by the way. I saw it dedicated to the womanhood of
America by William Randolph himself. I couldn't figure out how
people could get from Hearst Gym, especially if they had had
swimming in a ten o'clock class, as I did, how they could get to an
eleven o'clock class in Aggie (Agriculture) Hall, as some had to.

Yes, I wonder how they could, even now.

I havern't any idea. I know I went with wet hair, the semesters I
took swimming, to my eleven o'clock classes.

Let's see, of course International House we just accept now.

Yes, I remember for a season Little Theater had its plays there,
and I was an avid attender, at Little Theater performances. So
much so that when the Department of Dramatic Art got finally
established here, and I knew Trav [Travis] Bogard very well, I gave
him all the programs I had of all the productions I had seen for
the departmental files, because he said they didn't have complete
files.

You were a saver.

Well, I'm a packrat, and that's why I saved all of this. But I
was positively interested in the Little Theater productions.
Partly I was interested because I knew people who were involved in
it. The lad I went with in my senior year intensively, who later
turned out to be a chairman of the anthropology department, was a
backstage person--either electrician or carpenter, I can't
remember. In the old days we had to do all the productions in
Wheeler Hall, in that pitiful little platform. They were so
inventive.

How did you come by this interest in the theater? Was that also
part of the family interest?

One of my friends in the Theta house was a good actress. Two of
them were. I followed their careers. One of them I was visiting
in Carmel in the summer. Her family had taken a house down there,

when we read in the newspaper that Robert Gordon Sproul had been
appointed president. It was between our junior and senior years.

That was the year in which she had been asked by the then—
director of Little Theater to be in some shows he was going to do
in the Berkeley Community Theater which was in an old church on
Allston Way. I think it was Allston. At any rate, one of those
streets that runs from the university to Shattuck, parallel to
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University Avenue. A little brown-shingled church which had been
desanctified and devoted to dramatic arts under Sam Hume. Irving
Pichel and his wife had performed there and so forth.

So I went with her because she had a quick costume change to
make. She was learning her lines that summer, and when we came
back to do the theater I went down with her every night to get her
into her costume. They were doing the Man of Destiny which
required her to get into both 8 man's uniform and a bouffant kind of
gown from the Napoleonic period. Time was of the essence. They
were in rehearsal for another show that was to be done Truth About
Blades, and Mike Raffetto, who was the director, ssid, "Ae long as
you're sround, why don't you play the maid?" And I did, and was no
good. Fortunately, I couldn't hurt it very much. But I knew then,
if I had ever thought of it before, and I hadn't, that performance
was not for me. But I had grest fun just being & hanger—on.

That's fun. It'e important; somebody had to help with all these
backstage things.

He wae very generous, he was a mature enough person, 80 he knew
exactly what he was dealing with in me, and he was a very kind man
Did you ever hear the radio show "One Man's Family"?

Yes.
He was Paul.
Oh. I remember. A long-running great radio show.

Women's affaire as such did not specially interest me, but I
realize in meditating about this, two things. One is, that one of
my good friends in the Theta house was very much interested in
women's affairs, and she was elected Senior Women's Representative
at Large on the Associated Students organization, whatever it was.
Aleo, of course, Ruth Waldo, as she was then, Ruth Newhall, was a
very living presence all this time because we were contemporaries
at the university. I admired then, as I do now, her great energy,
competence, and maturity. She knew how to work thinge and did.
There wasn't such a thing ae a woman's movement at the time, but I
think every woman on campus secretly rejoiced when, illnees or
something of the sort forced her to function as the president of
ASUC.

Yes, I notice the men were always the presidente and the women were
usually vice-president.

Well, that was par for the course. Nobody made a great fuss over
it. But she demonstrated she was good.
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Election to Phi Beta Kappa

In your junior year you were elected to Phi Beta Kappa.

Yes, I just happen to have here—-

Good, your little boxful.

Isn't it nice that I'm a tidy packrat.

You are.

This 811 has to do with graduation. This is later. There we are.
You asked me, did I really make a apeech? Yes, I did. There are
my notes. What is the date there?

This is October 10, 1929.

That was when I was initiated.

Initiated into Phi Beta Kappa. So you had to make a little speech?
Yes, on behalf of the juniors who were being initiated.

Did every one of the juniors have to make a little speech?

No. I did it on behalf of the juniors.

They chose you?

Yes. Somebody chose me.

When you were told that you probably were seeking after the little
key, you weren't really--you wéren't really planning for Phi Beta
Kappa?

I wasn't even aware of this as a pogsibility. I probably thought
Phi Beta Kappa was too far above me. Because that was my tendency.

Percival B. Fay [Professor of French] was married to a high achool
friend of my mother's who was also a Theta.

There were connections. Your grades were good, of course. Were
you surprised at being taken into Phi Beta Kappa? By that time you

were a junior, you understood what it was.

Yes, and I was gratified.
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What then, did it mean to be there? Were there meetings or
gatheringe of any kind?

Well, it indicates here that I was secretary. I couldn't imagirne
what you meant by that, and I found here evidence that I was indeed
appointed secretary and it meant not one thing, I don't think we
had a single meeting.

It did have a president and that was Jack Curts, and a vice-
president, Robert Varney, and you were the secretary.

That'e right. I think we must have had some meetings. I think it
must have been in such a meeting that I met Joel Hildebrand. He
waa & figurehead even then But the person who really functioned
in Phi Beta Kappa and in bridging the gap between faculty and
students, in my life, wae Lawrence Harper. He was a memeber of the
history department and he was a8 devotee of ternis. His wife was
Louise Harper, the tennis player. My co-member in the Theta house
as well as my classmate at Anna Head, was Helen Jacobs, who later
became champion 1Incidentally, she was an Anna Head School
graduate as was Helen Wille Moody. Lawrence Harper took hold of
the studente he met in the Phi Beta Kappa connection and was a
very uaeful friend to have.

In what ways?

For one thing, he personalized the relationship between faculty and
student. He served ag informal adviser on all kirds of questions
and was the person to whom I turned in some agony, when I was
facing my qualifying exam later as a graduate student. He was
someone I knew from thie connection who became a faculty member
that I would seek out for help and advice and just an opportunity
to talk. Which is the sort of thing the university didn't provide
too well for. But he filled that gap. I always appreciated it. I
have a feeling that he may have been the one that suggeated that I
be a speaker. I have that feeling.

He knew you already?

Yes, becauae you see I was a junior by that time. We did have
little meetings. I can remember Robert Varney; I can remember Jack
Curts. For Phi Beta Kappa as auch, there's just not very much room
for a meeting, even if you're elected in your junior year, there
isn't much time.

Did you continue with the little meetings, or whatever they had,
when you ceme back as a graduate student?
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I think I must have had some involvement, but the graduate work is
8o department centered, that I didn't do much general activity.
One doesn't as a graduste student here. It's all localized in the
department. At least that was true.

It probably still is. I don't know.

In other words, Phi Beta Kappa provided for me something like the
experience that the sorority did in just introducing me to a
different group, but one which was selected for interest and sort
of a way of life.

Schol arship.

Yes. Bob Varney, for example, was a very bright student, extremely
bright.

I noticed in the Phi Beta Kappa list the name Max Radin.

Oh, yes, and I remember him at one of the Phi Beta Kappa meetings
because he believed firmly that election should be only on grade
point average. Strictly. And this kept out his daughter, who was a
very bright girl.

Were they actually always picked on terms of the grade only, and
was there some concern that they might also want to consider
something else?

I think that the rules, which I didn't bother to refresh my memory
on, and know more from my contacts at Mills with a chapter there
than I do here, considered as a requirement good moral character,
or whatever, or some kind of evidence of more than dirty digging.
But how you tell that is very difficult to say, and I'm sure that
Mr. Radin was on grounds which are perfectly defensible when he
said the only fair thing to do was to make it straight grade point
average and have that alone. But I was interested in seeing him
perform, because I had heard a lot about him. Rea was one of my
classmates at Anna Head.

His daughter?

She went on to a distinguished career as a professional woman I
can't remember where--I think on the East Coast.

Sometime in the following decade wasn't Max Radin in the news
because some governor, Culbert Olson, I think, wanted to appoint him
to the state supreme court and he was rejected as being too
liberal?



57

Bennett: I'm afraid that it was partly just plain discrimination. I think
he had more than one experience of rejection on that score. I knew
him partly because he was brother-in-law to one of my colleagues st
Mills, Margaret Prall. She was a very able woman, & musicologist
by training, She had very high regard for his intellectual powers.
I was glad to have had that one experience of just meeting him
face to face and seeing him in action. I may never have met him
again; if I did, it was in a purely social context.

Classes and Professors

Chall: Now we can go into your classes and professors. That's my next
item.

Bennett: Oh, I can give you cards and spades on that on account of I have
every report card I ever had. Now, Arthur Ryder, there's an odd
one to have been an influential professor. But he was the
Department of Sanskrit. He did offer a course in translation,
literature in translation—-—

#

Bennett: ——with no purpose in the world but to gather a little group of
people who could be interested in the great literature in Sanskrit.
He had to keep the class small, 80 he said that four years of study
of a classical language was a prerequisite. He said, "Of course,
in these decadent days, that means four years of high school Latin,
but that's okay, that keeps the size of the class down." So that's
how I got in. There were fifteen, twenty people in the class.
Mostly, I learned about it from a friend who had taken it, and I
think mostly people were there because of the word of mouth.

There was no other person teaching Sanskrit at the university at
the time. He was a translator of much of the work. The only person
I ever heard comment on his translations was one Robert Oppenheimer
who disapproved of his translations and thought his words were ill
chosen in one particular passage. [laughter]

Chall: Because Oppenheimer could read Sanskrit too?

Bennett: Oh, sure. He could do anything, He lived at the Faculty Club
where Arthur Ryder also lived.

Chall: That was many years later?
Bennett: Must have been when I was a graduate student. He had Sikhs in the

class. I think they were not his students. I think just there
maybe because they were homesick. I don't know. But three or four
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used to sit in the front row, and were easily recognized, of
course, because of their turbans. I think they were Sikhs, I could
have been wrong, but at any rate, they wore turbans, and they were
clearly from that part of the country. Every once in a while, so
that we would know what he was talking about, he would read in
Sanskrit. When he read a poem he would intone it as the Sanskrit
scholars apparently did, and sway a little bit. I snuck a look
once at one of those bearded gentleman. Tears were coming right
down his face. It was a lovely course. Looking through all this
stuff I found my notes from that course. It's the only set of
notes I kept. Well, it was a whole new door to my life. How else
would I have ever read the Bhagavad Gita and the Mahabharata or
whatever you call it.

And read it in English, of course?
Oh, of course.

The course was simply to acquaint you with the culture and that
language.

Yes.
That was an opening.

So this is for the first semester of my senior year, I noticed, and
that was the year I gathered my forces and could face Physics 10
which was devised for freshmen. But I thought I ought to know
something about physics.

How did you manage?

Oh, Iwas fine, I got an A in that. Easy. I didn't understand
physics much better, but I had some exposure to it. I took an
English course which must have been with Whipple, and I took
German, I was taking German by this time. And I took a couple of
psych courses, one with Olga Bridgman, and one with Jean
Macfarlane, as might be expected. But I think it's interesting
that Olga Bridgman was my adviser at this time. She was the one
who encouraged me to take the Sanskrit, when I wanted to do the
second sememster and wondered whether it was appropriate for a
psych major to be cluttering up her program like that. She said,
"Why not?"™ Also, I took English and German along with my psych in
the second semester of my senior year., That's another one of
Whipple's courses. I used to like working with Mr. Whipple., Did
you know him at all?

No.

He was a dear. I did have a course with the legendary Paul Cadman
He was a member of the economics department, and I always admired
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him because he left the university for a year, maybe longer, to
take a job related to the stock exchange in San Francisco, to get
practical experience. But he was the kind of professor who was
very popular with students, and was & much desired speaker on a
great many occasions. Someone once told me, someone I knew at
Mills told me, that his father, possibly also his mother, had been
preachers of sorts. I don't know whether that's true or not. But
he had that kind of oratorical impact.

On the other hand, when I was sitting once on the stage of the
Greek Theatre, I think representing Mille College in an academic
procession, at some festival in the Greek Theatre, there was a
great deal of racket up toward the Big C, and the person who
stopped it was Paul Cadman. He got out complete in cap and gown,
and ran up the road far enough to encounter them and to quiet them
down. I think he served a term, maybe, in some deanish capacity.
But, at any rate, he was quite a presence, quite well known, and I
enjoyed that.

I took the Econ 1B first, you could take them separately, and
that was a good idea because it was a little easier for me to
gtomach than 1A was, which I took with Ira Cross. I will never
regret having had the experience of a class with Ira Cross. The
joke on poor Ira is that I was taking that course in the fall of
'29. You may remember an event of some economic importance to the
country in the fall of '29. He telked about it in class and said
that people were saying that that Depression wouldn't be over till
Chrietmas. And he said, "You mark my words, it'll be apring before
it's over."

Well, he was a little more farsighted than others. [laughter]

[Whispers] Not much! But it was an experience to have a class with
him,

Was he an intereating professor and exciting in any way special?
I knew he had a great reputation on the campus.

I think that probably the material was well presented. I didn't
find it as easy to understand as had been the case with Paul

Cadman. I don't know whether the segment of economics that Paul
Cadman taught was intrinsically easier to a person who knew nothing
of the field, or whether Cross was more rigorous. I have no way of
evaluating, All I know ie that this wae a personality to experience.

He was known to be that?

Oh, yes. Oh, yes. He was a legend. He thought nothing of
throwing out of the class in Wheeler Hall any student whom he
observed to be reading the Daily Californian inetead of taking
notes. He would say, "I will wait until that student in the middle
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of row such and such removes himself from the room."™ And he would.
Had to pay attentionl!

I think that, considering the state of abysmal ignorance in which I
now live, about economics, and of which I'm very much aware because
one of my best friends is the chief economist at Mills College, I
think I didn't learn any more of that than I did of philosophy when
I took it as a freshman. I took econ later in my career.

Philosophy I got As in, through no fault of my own, or the
teacher's. A good memory. I could always recognize that I had read
something in the questions, and I could see my notes in my mind's
eye, and come up with the right words, which is not real learning.
But I did it satisfactorily. And gained great respect for Jacob
Loewenberg who was the teacher.

In those days, what was the study of economics? It was a little
simpler, I guess, than it is today?

I just couldn't get the hang of it. One of the difficulties was
that the concepts, which were difficult for me, were beyond the
capacity of the section leaders to explain. If I had a terrible
criticism to make of the university system, it's the lack of
teaching ability in most of the section leaders I had. Because
that was your only hope getting a question answered. The ones in
econ were abysmally bad. The one that I had in Econ 1A was I think
worse than——I can't remember. Doesn't matter. But they were not
up to reducing the material to terms that I could understand.

A lot of jargon or they just didn't know that much more than you did?

No, I think that some of them knew so much that they didn't know
how to reduce it to possible terms. The worst teaching I ever was
witness to at the University of California occured not at the hands
of a section leader, but at the hands of a full staff member in my
own department. I found this out when I was a graduate student and
reading papers. He was so bad I went to the chairman of the
department, and I said, "I don't think it is right for me to make
this complaint, but I've just plain got to. He is standing up
there in front of the class and reading to them out of the text
book.”" And he said, "I know, but you know these young people have
to start learning somewhere." For a man who was rigorous about his

own teaching, that was a terrible admission to make of the nature of
the system. They cared not about the teaching skill,

Has anything changed here do you think?
I don't know. I must say, I was not exposed to that dreadful level

of teaching myself. Another person who interested me a lot and
influenced me a lot was Samuel Holmes, whose famous Zoo 10 was
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taken by everybody in the world. It was the generally available
course for people who needed a biological science. Zoo 10.

Was it a 1lab class?

No. Lecture. He dealt with the problem of science versus religion
as Loewenberg did with philosophy, as a discipline destructive of
religious values. In both cases students had made protests, and in
the case of Loewenberg, the parents of a student had made a
protest, about his ruining their child's faith. They both dealt
with those problems very directly, and I was always grateful for
that. That is the main thing I got from both of them. Dealing
with an issue that the subject matter raised that was larger than
the scope of the class actually.

How did they handle this religion veraus science? Where did they
stand on it?

Holmes, who was very elderly at the time, and who had written the
text that we used, and who had squatter's rights on thia field as
far as the department was concerned, I'm afraid ridiculed people
who made these protests. I recall one occasion when he was making
some point in one of his lectures in Wheeler Hall, and remarked
that studente got angry when he made this kind of a statement. I
cannot remember the point he was making or in what way he was
saying this, which I think was his point, but the gist of it was
that where science had provided an answer, you have to accept it,
religion ie for the area in which we do not know the answers. But
he said it in such a way ae to offend the sensibilities of someone,
and a young man got up and walked out. Holmes just watched him go
out, and then he grinned, and he said, "He'a mad too."

He probably had come acrosas this all the time.

Oh, many times he had dealt with it-—He tended to ridicule. But
Loewenberg went right at it. Did I not tell you thie tale before?

No.

The parent of a gtudent had written in. He said, before he began
his lecture on this occasion, he sgaid, "I feel it necessary to
reply to the clasg, because this is a question frequently raised,
but it'e never been raised as seriously as this before." This
parent had written in--I think it was a mother; I don't even know
whether he identified the parent——saying that he had no right to
deatroy the religious belief of her child. He said, "I have only
this to eay. If your religious faith is such that is shaken by a
few questions posed in a claas in philosophy, it isn't worth a
nickel, and the sooner you get rid of it the better."
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I was in the last class he taught, his own course, philosophy 4A,
B, After that I understood that the department went into a
vaudeville-type presentation of the basic material in philosophy.
Everybody taught a section. Everybody gave the lectures on his own
specialty. There's much to be said in terms of exposure of the
members of the faculty to the students, and that sort of thing.
But I think that this course, which was his very own, and was
beautifully organized, and so forth, was probably a better
introduction to philosophy. I don't know that.

Was the introduction to philosophy about the Greek philosophy?

We had Plato one semester, and Berkeley, Hume, and Locke, I guess,
the second.

And this shook the--?
Shook the young man's religious faith.

That's interesting, Well, that is a subject area that hasn't been
cleared up at all yet, has it?

No, but I had the benefit of a very thoughtful man at Mills who
devoted his most productive years to a college chaplaincy. George
Hedley. He could speak such sense about this sort of thing.

Students must have come to him. This has been a problem in every
school, whether it's high school, or grade school. It still is.

He wrote so sensibly and so well.
What about your own department? You speak of Olga Bridgman.

I never worked with George Stratton, and I think I told you that
before. Although I remembered that I had been at the dinner, and I
must have been a graduate student by this time, at which the
department celebrated him. It was a small dinner in the small
dining room at Women's Faculty Club, I can remember. I sat next,
there, to Herman Adler. That was the only time, other than at my
qualifying exam, that I had ever talked with Herman Adler. On that
occasion he mentioned that he had been on the committee, and I
remembered it, and he said some nice things about it.

On what committee?

He was on the examining committee in my qualifying exam for Ph.D.
That's the only time I ever talked with him. I remember him very
well, because on this occasion, later, when I was a graduate
student and sat next to him and he had made this comment about it,
said I was scared to death. He said, "Why couldn't you be?"™ He
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said, "It was a hurdle to be passed in your whole chosen csreer."
Of course he spoke as a psychiatrist. I always appreciated that.

What interested me, when I looked through the catalogs, was that he
was on the staff only about maybe four years from '33 to '37, and
then he didn't show up again.

He never taught in the psych department, as far as I know. He was
attached more to the medical school.

But he does show up in the catalogs in the psych department.
Yes. He had an office right next to the departmental office.
But he didn't teach?

No.

Though he did have a function as a committee member.

He was a resource. I don't know whether they referred special
projects to him or not, but he was the little man that wasn't there,
as far as I was concerned. If he hadn't turned up on my qualifying
committee, I would never have met him by way of academic work. If
he hadn't been included because of his residence in the corridor, I
wouldn't have known who he was at that dinner for George Stratton.

It's interesting, because I thought perhape the psych department was
moving or at least exposing itself to another point of view in some
way.

Apparently not. I don't know why he was there. The fact that Olga
Bridgman was also on the faculty of the medical school might have
had something to do with it. But I don't know why he was there.
Maybe it was just a vacant office available to a person who was
essentially engaged in research. I don't know.

I never took a course with Bob Tryon, although I read for him
a couple of times later, and oddly enough, he had an influence upon
me out of all proportion to the amount of time we spent together.
I read during a summer session for him, and so I had a little
contact with him then.

What was his field?

He had done a very interesting experiment on intelligence in rats.
He had bred successive generations of rats that had performed in
certain ways on a maze. He was trying to make pointe about the
heritablity of intelligence. He was Tolman's man, obviously. His
wife waa a graduate student when I waa; we got our degrees about the
same time. But I had with him an interesting conversation once,
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and I think it must have been during the summer when I was reading
for him, when I must have been a graduate student, about the virtue
of the small liberal arts college, and why he wasn't having his
children go to Cal.

Oh. Where was he sending them at that time?

He was talking about the virtues of Mills. I had some comment about
its being very small. He was making the point that it was what was
required, really.

I see he started out in '29 and '30 as a research fellow and then
came up in genetic psychology. Then he gradually worked his way up
through the campus. Jean Walker Macfarlane, you mentioned having
taking classes with her. She remained an assistant professor all
the years that I looked at the catalogs, whereas others of them more
or less moved up.

I'm sure she moved up ultimately, probably after the retirement of
Olga. They were both in clinical. '

And in pediatrics, too, I noticed.

Well, Olga Bridgman was a pediatrician as well as psychologist.
She's a very bright woman. I have in my satchel something that I
brought to you because I had mentioned The Score. I found out that
she wrote something about it. Here ie The Score, and here is Olga
Bridgman's account of its origin. Here, for some reason clipped to
it, is a news clipping of Mary Cover Jones, still going great guns
at age God knows what. The Oakland Tribune, November 4, 1985.
She's just as vivacious now as she was then. Those others in the
picture are children from guidance study at Berkeley which was what
I cut my teeth on. No, the adolescent study.

How would you characterize your major, since you didn't study with
everybody.

No, it was Bridgman and Macfarlane who were a part of the team for
the clinical, and Warner Brown and Clarence Brown were where we got
the meat and potatoes, that is the experimental and the statistical.
Tolman—I think I didn't study with as an undergraduate. I think
it was only as a graduate student, and it was eminently worthwhile.

His field, again, was what?

Well, he was the great-—he had just finished a volume when I took
courses with him called Purposive Behavior in Animals and Men. I
took with him, as a graduate student, a course in advanced General
Psychology, and one in animal, which wag his field, and which I
hadn't studied at all. It was then that I met what you might
callthe overarching intelligence. He made systematic efforts to
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get all the observable phenomena of psychology--the kinds of things
that came from experiments that could be replicated into one
conceptual scheme. Never to his own satisfaction, and often to the
bemusement of students. But I was a mature enough student that I
could take the bemusement then. It was terribly stimulating.

How about the rest of the faculty, were they accepting of this
overarching——?

I never was aware of any faculty dissension. Never. I think there
was some. But it was certainly obscured from us.

The Tolmans had the graduate group to their house for
Thanksgiving dinner, See, it was small enough in those days. The
graduate fellows, not the whole graduate group. We were in one
office, for heaven sake. They used to have departmental functions,
a picnic or something like that, that would include graduate
fellows.

George Kuznets who recently died at Stanford was one of the--
he wasn't a fellow, he was a reader. Jimmy Hamilton, who is now a
psychiatrist, in San Fransisco, I think, got both a Ph.D. and then
later an M.D. and was very active. Edgerton Ballachey and Eddie
Ghiselli, who both returned from other appointments to be chairman
of the department here, were my fellow graduate students. It was a
choice group.

Yes. Definitely. And Ms. Honzik?

Marjorie Pyles Honzik, if she was doing anything, she was in
research. She had a genius for research. She is to this day
carrying out research. She has a huge grant here now. She's the
continuity in the guidance study that Jean Walker Macfarlane
established. She was, I think, responsible for much of the writing
on that body of work that came out., She had a genius for picking
out the elements of a study in progress that could be made into an
article that made sense. She just is very good.

She was one of the fellows too?

Yes, she and 1 shared the research assistantship.
#

I know she was infinitely better than I in the research capacity.
I have a feeling I may have been an easier teacher for the
students but I don't know that. I think that this is true. There
was one season in my graduate year when I had charge of all the
demonstration sections. It was possible in the pre-World War II
days. Six sections, I think, a week. I did them all. Of course
we all did reading like mad. I remember one conversation I had
with Warner Brown when he said that the machines that they were
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beginning to introduce for the scoring of tests were driving him
crazy, and I said, "Well, at least you'll get accuracy." He said,
"They're not more accurate than the likes of you." [laughter]

Oh. All that long ago.

I used to care whether I was maintaining the same standards at the
end of the--you know, hundreds of papers. True-false justification
questions, things like that. I used to check out and the others
could change standards without knowing they had done it. So he
taught me how to be a good user of the true-false justification
questions, and how to deal with problem cases. He was a good
teacher as a director of the fellows.

But did you make up your own tests? Your own true-false tests?

There was a large array of true-false tests that had been used on
prior occasions, and these were published in a mimeographed
pamphlet and made available to the students. Selections from these
were chosen. Sometimes we did straight true-false, but more often
there was a statement, and you had to indicate whether it was true
or false, and then you had to say why. Which meant that if it was
possible for a question to be answered either way, you had the
chance to give your supporting reason. Also, Dr. Brown was
scrupul ous about recognizing the possibility of ambiguity in a
statement. If any question ever got asked about this he just
dumped the question. "Just leave it out."

We had in the class at that time, when I was a graduate
student this was, twin boys, who were—-together with Mark Goodson,
whose name you may remember——the one, two, and three ranking
students in Psych 1A, B which took place in Wheeler Hall. I was
doing all the demonstrations and reading some of the papers, and
reading some of the finals, at that time. I had occasion to count
the seats, 825 seats. They never ranked lower than three, either
one of them, but the three used to jockey for position. I used to
have a wonderful time with that group.

Mark Goodson was a very nervous student., Very anxious. Never
fell below number three out of 825. The boys were devil-may-—care,
the twins., One of them was in a nonprofessional climbing group
that got to the top of one of those Himalayan peaks by himself.
The other is a superior court judge in Sacramento. They were
headed for law school. They used to challenge Professor Brown.
Every once in a while he would say, "Knock it out" and I would say,

"But, you know, it really doesn't say what they said it said." He
said, "Never mind. They're Philadephia laswyers, and this is not
worth arguing about.™ That was the virtue of giving enough
questions 8o you could always knock one out.
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He was very careful, and he taught us something about how the
distribution of grades ought to lock in a class that large. Also,
he was very good at picking up cheating. I remember once standing
with him before a class and watching the students, and he said,
"Look at the couple over there, in row such and such." He said,
"They're just copying right off each other's papers." And they
were. But he didn't make a great thing about uncovering cheating.

But on one occasion there seemed to be more of it than we
should be asked to tolerate. I remember this was when Jimmy
Hamil ton was among us. He and one of the other fellows set up a
plan whereby he had pairs of papers saved out from a batch given
back where the answers were identical. When the errors get to be
identical you begin to wonder. So Professor Brown went along with
this and announced to the class that the papers were returned, but
some had been held out, and for reasons that could be explained, and
people who were misesing theirs could please go and fetch them. So,
interestingly enough, pairs would come in for them. Jimmy very
systematicallty would get the name of one student, and then look up
the data that he had recorded, and say, "Ah, yes, and you sat next
to 8o and go, didn't you?™ And they were all baffled. But they
had them dead to rights. I don't think they reported them.

That probably taught them a lesson. You didn't make them sit one
chair apart?

Wasn't room enough. That's the preferred way, of course.

Yes. You've remained friends, then, with many of these studenta—-
your fellows, and aome of the professors over the years?

I retained some contact with Jimmy Hamilton, although I haven't
seen him. But he was instrumental in getting a Burmese student
into Mills, someone he had met during World War II when he was
stationed in Southeast Asia, But I don't think I have met many of
them except Marjorie, and I'm quite close to Marjorie Homzik. Jean
Walker Macfarlane ia quite aged and not too strong, I think. Of
courge, one of the troubles isg, all these people just do die off.

Yes, well, they, of course, were much older than you were at that
time.

The nature of the department changed wholly with World War IL
What happened was that the department was deluged with young men
who came back from the war and decided on clinical psychology for a
field. As Marjorie said, they all wanted to go into clinical
psychology because a lot of them had either noted its presence or
noted its absence in World War II, and were hell-bent to do
something about it. It got to be a fiercely competitive situation.
As Marjorie said, the ones who succeeded were definitely the ones
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who ought to be kept out of clinical psychology. It was just
dreadfully competitive. I don't know what the situation's like
now, but it was a very awkward time.

I remember being at & reunion of sorts at the department
during those years, and standing next to Jean Macfarlane who said
to me, "You know, I don't recognize most of the people here. And
yet, they are all from the department."

So they mus t have increased the size of the faculty as well?

Oh, enormouely. Enormously. The press of numbers changed the
whole thing very quickly. I have no idea what the state of affairs
is now.

I suppose that the field has changed a bit too.

Well, the field was a growing one as I came up through it, and it
got a tremendous boost and impetus from World War IL Tremendous.
Then the field itself developed so many specializationa that it
got quite fractionated.

I don't know whether I've done justice to all the professors.
You asked me which ones were the least stimulating. I had one
experience with a person who had never taught before that nearly
drove me crazy.

There was one woman, by the way, that I should mention, the
person who taught Physiology 1A, B. I can't remember her name.
But I took it because of my intent to major in psychology. When I
went in to see her for my grade, which we were allowed to do—— we
could get our grade by going in and asking about it in advance—-I
got an A, and I said, "Oh, I'm ao glad, because that's what I was
working for." And she said, "Surely you were working for more than
that." I said, ™o, I was working for an A in physiology because
I had talked myself into believing that I never could cut up a
frog." She gaid, "Well, I'll allow that." [laughs]

She wanted you to get more out of it than just the grade?

I took that--it went against the grain. She was a very stimulating
teacher, and much respected by the group. Much respected.

She must have been one of the few women on the campus at that time.

Could have been. I had a chance to learn from Edna Bailey, who was
the only woman with enough seniority to have a aeat on the academic
genate, how grim the position of women was. But you see, in my
department, there were two women who were given great prominence.
This was partly George Stratton's doing.
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Had he been the head of the department for many years?

Well, he was the head of the department that brought in clinical
paychology. He said he had been persuaded that it ought to be
added, so he felt, he said, he had better get someone good to do it.
He looked around and, he indicated, quite amusingly, that they had
to settle for a woman, This was said at the dinner in his honor
referred to earler.

Oh. He did asay that?

I'm not sure how he said it, but he said it in such a way that
everybody was enchanted with the way he said it. I don't think the
women in the psych department were discriminated against, as
happened in some others. I really don't. For one thing, they were
too independent; they wouldn't have stood it. Another thing was the
fact that Olga Bridgman was already an established member of the
faculty in the medical school and this militated against any
discrimination. Jean Walker Macfarlane wouldn't have stood for it;
she would fight.

In order to get where they did in those days as women they would
have had to be very assertive.

Olga Bridgman was tiny, and sort of sweet looking. You could be
fooled by her. But oh, my, she was sharp. She also was
compassionate. She never threw her weight around. It was sheer
ability that came through. I discovered, when I was a fellow
member in The Score with her, something more about her
aggressiveness, which was really there, and more than I had known
before. It could have been I saw an aging woman.

She was already older?

Long retired when I joined The Score. She was still on some faculty
committees, admission to medical school, I think. But I also, to
my disillusionment, discovered how biased she was against certain
ethnic groups. You know, you can't completely divorce yourself
from your own generation. She was a Middle Westerner in origin.
That was that. You see, staying in the same place, I get mixed up
between undergraduate and graduate years.

Yes, that's all right, it doesn't really matter, because we just
get a feel for the whole department.

I think the continuity which it represents is a feather in the cap
of the department.
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UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA
SCHOOL OF EDUCATION
BERKELEY

Sept. 2, 1937

Miss Mary Woods Bennett
USCHe

Dear Miss Bemnett: .

Let me congratulate you on a worth-while and exceptionally

theuroughgoin g study. The sudbject is one of cms ideradle interest to
me. Indeed, as time has not permitted me to abstract it as I would
lixe, I would be grateful for a second copy of your final program with

your owm summary presentation, if you can sparé such.

1 was especially pleased with the lucid style of your
presentation (wish that I wrote as clearly) and the care you have
taken to present all reievant data, including statistical constants,

for the benefit pf your readers.

I have no criticisms or sugrestions as to either form
I 4
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or content.
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Yes, these people were there for many years, as a very small group,
as you say, probably up until after World War II.

I think that if I had picked a major like history, or even Englieh,
I would have been sunk, because it would have been so difficult for
me to find the group that I could identify with.

Yes, because they were already fractionated.

Right. I didn't have to tear them apart. As a matter of fact,
there was a positive educational value in the small stable
department in which I took my major.

14

You seked me about classes and professors, and those most
stimulating, and those least so. I mentioned the young man, whose
name I can't remember, who was what we students called a rat
psychologist, and who read to the students in lecture out of the
textbook. I don't know how politic it is to say this, but I was in
the firat class that Worth Ryder taught on this campus. He was a
bad teacher at first and he recognized it. Whether that had to do
with the fact that his niece, Miriam Dungan, later Miriam Dungan
Cross, told him, because she was a student there at the time, I
don't know. She was just a year ahead of me, I think, Or by this
time she may have been two years ahead of me, because of that year
I stayed out. She graduated from Anna Head a year ahead of me.
Whether it wae that she told him so, or whether he knew it, just of
his knowledge, I can't say. But he was so disorganized that when
he told us to prepare for the final, he told us to ignore .
everything that had gone on in the class from the beginning to the
midterm time. He as much as said, "I botched it." He also told
us, "You must know how to draw a map of the Mediterranean
freehand." [chuckles] I have every confidence that he learned in
time.

GW. Brown was also new to teaching, But he knew what the
teaching process was about, and he worked on it. He was a very
interesting man who later became chair of the department. He was a
farm boy out of Utah, I think--sounded like it. The King's English
was not his strong suit. However, he told us that he had
discovered in his middle twenties—--and I quote now a former student
of mine, not him--that he was getting older and nowhere at the same

time. So he just decided he would go to college, and get a degree.
In some incredibly short time, five or eix years, he had done that,

he had a PhD. in psychology. His field was statistics, and he was
one of the first ones who said to me, "Why don't you just take a B
gometimes? And do something else with your time." In a way, Olga
Bridgman had said that eort of thing.

4
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Parental Components in Molding the Personalities of the Bennett
Children

I was beginning to get, from various contexts, one of them

through the housemother, a very wise woman in the Theta house, who
said, when I was protesting that a particular lad that I was going
with didn't seem very stimulating, she said, "No, my dear, you
need to be taught how to play, and he's not the right one to do
it." So I began to get input, as you call it now, from elders I
respected, that maybe I had been too narrowly brought up by
conscientious parents, who were in their first experiment with
childrearing.

Now, I realize, that this didn't have the same effect on my
siblings. So, you know, we're not putty for someone to form.
Something's inside that limits what they can do. I was far too
impressionable, far too biddable, and too much of my satisfaction
came out of doing what I was expected to do. So when I began to
get feedback from people that questioned this policy, it was very
useful that it came to me that early in life. I'm not sure I would
have got it if I hadn't been in an academic setting.

Did you change your way of working? Were you lesg driven? This
is probably what they saw in you, an over-achiever—-?

They saw in me a person who was sort of sobersided, and
conscientious, maybe to a fault. Well, it was, even in the mother
of the friend of mine whom I quoted once saying, "You know, she
needs to learn how to flirt.,” I was still arguing this in my mind
when my father brought it up on what was almost his deathbed. It
was only about two and a half years, I think, that he lived, after
a massive cancer operation. He confided one of the matters of
regret in his life, as he surveyed his life which seemed to be
close to its end. He said, "They tell me that I'm the reason you
never married."

Oh, dear. What a guilt trip.

This was devastating him at this time. In a sense this is
absolutely true. Because I think my mother and father were aware
that they had found marriage hard-going and they didn't see much in
it to recommend. They didn't push me into it. But every once in
a while my mother would think, "But at her age she ought to be
doing this." Then she would consult a relative who had a daughter
about the same age and I was not ready for whatever it was she
thought I should be doing.
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I was insulted when a lad threw a bouquet of rosea on the

front porch of my grandmother's house when we graduated from the
sixth grade. Because I thought that was an insult. Both my mother
and grandmother were astounded that I had that reaction. They didn't
know they had planted the seed.

Even that far back.

Yes. So it was a long-standing thing, and I lost my conscience
with great difficulty and at great age.

Of course, if they had said, as so many parents do, and did, "Oh,
you know, so and so she's not married, and look, she's twenty-five,
or she's thirty..." Then it puts you into a worry that——

No, my parents were only too pleased that I was a serious sgtudent,
and that I probably was headed for sel f-support which they thought
a good thing. Even although they were far from feminists, they
thought the more I could go it alone the better off I would be.
So, in a sense they were thinking of my best interests as they saw
them. I certainly never felt abused.

We were talking, the four of us--or three of us. We've never
gotten together more than three at a time for a long, long time.
But three of us were talking and saying how wonderful it was to
grow up in an atmosphere of total acceptance and total support.
Predictable support.

But did any of you stray off the reservation very far so that you
would have even been concerned about support?

We had friends, My mother and father fugsed more about the kind of
friends and the kind of activities that came up with the older two
than they did with the younger ones. They were much different
parents with the two younger ones.

They had so many years in between.

They were go relaxed and so accepting of the crazy things, from
the family's point of view, that the Strew Hatters [Straw Hat
Theater] did, and so forth. But they learned, they were capable of
learning by experience. They knew we wouldn't break for once.

[Laughs]

The brother who's cloge to me in age shared the same view of my
parents. While I was a graduate student he was enormously helpful
to me because we could talk things out together. He was supportive
of the family at a time of low financial ebb, and before World War
IL. But they made the mistake of teasing him about his girl-
friends, whereupon he shut up and never spoke of them again.
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Bennett: When he married, he went off with a person who had been married
before, to Reno, or Carson City, Nevada, and was married and then
told us afterwards.

I think it was part of what made him pull back from the role
of boy soprano in the choir. He did not like public exposure of
any kind, He got a lot of it as a child because he was on Walter
Christie's football team which was made up of tiny children. Walt
Christie was a great track coach at Berkeley. Between the halves
of football games, before there was such a thing as pompom girls
and things like that, Walt Christie's team would come on the field.
My brother was always short for his age, and he was a towhead, and
he got newspaper attention. He had had a picture of himself taken
in the old Call Bulletin in the football stands. It was because he
was so0 tiny. Someone called him the "split second™ because of his
speed.

He played football seriously and grimly when he was a student
at Berkeley High. When he came up for my mother's funeral, one of
the people who came to the funeral, having read the obituary
notice, was a member of the staff with whom he had been very
friendly at Berkeley High. He had played on the Berkeley High
football team. Not the varsity, because he wasn't big enough for
it, but the Berkeley Bees, I think they called them, rather than
Yellow Jackets, which was the varsity. That was terrible strain
because they hadn't lost a game in seven years. He used to play
his heart out on Saturdays, and then have nightmares all Saturday
night., My bedroom was across the hall from him, and I know well at
what costs to his peace of mind those games demanded. But he was
rugged.

I can remember once my father came into the house laughing,.
My mother asked him what was up, and he said, he had been standing
out there, and he had been watching the little boys play in the
vacant lot across from the Emerson School which was their
playground. My brother always had all the athletic equipment there
was, because my parents were scared for his life, he was so daring.
He had this football helmet, pads, everything, But this was
baseball, and he was standing with his baseball bat in his hand
right over two boys that were tussling, My father had a mind to go
down there and stop it, but a man walked up and stopped, and had a
word with the boys, and so my father decided he wouldn't make a
fuss about it, perhaps it's all right.

When the man came up he was giggling to himself, and he said
to my father, "You see those boys down there?™ My father said,
"Yes, I'm watching them. One of them's my son." The man said,
"You see the little fellow with the baseball bat?"™ My father said,
"Yes, that's the one." He said, "Well, he was saying to the
others, 'You fight and fight square or I'll bat your heads in.""
[laughter] That's the vigor with which he did everything,
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So he had hig own emotional side, and we do talk now about
these things. He calls me more often than he used to. We've got to
the stage where we just chortle over these memories and love them.

But did it do any good, did it help you to relax, or change
directions in any way, when even your professors told you?

Oh, sure. I listened to them. I would always take in advice.

Yea, but what did you do? How did you change, at least, at that
point?

I don't know, it's too gradual. There was no dramatic shift. But
I thought, well, maybe they're right. I certainly became less
prissy in my attitude toward other people. I can remember one of
my friends once asked me what it would take for a man to be a
successful suitor. I outlined my views, and she said, "™Well, good
luck. You're never going to find him." [laughs] I think that
this was only hal f the point. I think the point was I took too
readily to the suggestions that this was not the way to go. There
waes a time in my life when I felt that there had been a loss from
thie but one lives through that.

So there was no one suitor whom you ultimately rejected?

I never let it get that far., There was one who was undoubtedly
serious. This came in my senior year, and maintained itself
through part of the year I wag in Seattle and later. I wasn't
ready, that's all. There was a fellow graduate student who made
endeavors. I went on a picnic with his family when they came up
from the south and so forth. He teased me a little bit in front of
the other graduate students because we had that office that I
described last time. But not ready.

I talked with one of my older friends about it in the
department. She was urging me on to more exposure to the opposite
sex. She nearly died when I took the job at Mille College. She
thought it was just the dead wrong thing to do. But she was more
eager that I branch out and have experience in heterosexual
activity than I was. That's all.

Yes. I think it depends on what you're ready for, your
personality. You know all that already.

Yes, and I was confused by what seemed to be contradictory advice,
even from my parents. Every once in a while they would be startled
that I wae acting in a way that I thought absolutely consistent.

It seemed to me as if they were doing a right about—face.

Actually, they were not, in that had I showed the slightest
interest in one of these things, they would have gone along with
it.
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Bennett: Mother did her best. I went to dancing school at the Town and Gown
Club where everybody in Berkeley learned how to dance under Miss
Shafter. She was very careful to see that I was decently dressed.
She had better taste than I had. When I entered college she saw to
it that I had a proper formal. She saw an appropriate dress for a
formal in a store window once and she bought it for me, and brought
it home. One of my peers in the Theta house admired it very much.
I thought, "Well, she knows what she's doing."

She asked advice of her sisters—in-law. I had about three
cousins near my own age. One a first cousin, one a first cousin of
Mother's, and one a first cousin once removed of Mother's. They
were about my age within two or three years. She consulted them
about what to do and how to do it.

But, when I had graduated from college I was talking with one
of those estimable ladies with whom Mother had chil dhood
acquaintance and developed a lifelong friendship. I was concerned
about the apparent discord between my parents of which I was more
aware when they were at a stage where they were not striving
together to do common things with the family. She gave me good
advice. She said to remember that when people cared a very great deal
they frequently found themselves at loggerheads over issues because
it mattered to them that they could make a go of it. She said to
me something I've never forgotten. She said, "Mary Woods, I regard
your mother as a very smart woman." Now no one had ever said to me
in so many words, "this is the fact."

But it is a fact that these two women, both of whom married
late in life, used to consult Mother for advice on the care and
rearing of children. One of them married into a difficult
situation. She married a widower with three teenaged children. The
younger of the two, Catharine Miles, used to consult Mother. She
knew, just from sane reasoning, that she should stay off the
disciplinary kick. But, what constituted reasonable expectations,
and that sort of thing, they used to ask Mother about.

When Anna Brinton went off to Asia, when her youngest was six
months old, she weaned that child in order to go to a PanPacific
conference, in Hawaii, I guess it was. Or it could have been in
Japan. Mother was the one whom the baby sitters were instructed to
call if anything went amiss. So, she was not ignorant at all. It
did me good to hear Catharine Miles, who knew what she was talking
about, say, "Your mother is a very smart woman." At age nineteen
she started concentrating on motherhood. She was a very good
observer.
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Bennett: But better than that, it never occurred to her to doubt that
she could not be a successful mother. I think that is what dogs
parents to death. It never occurred to her that this was beyond
her. She coped. So it was not grim. It was not grim. There was
a lot of laughter in our family.

Chall: Yes. It sounds that way. It's just that everyone has his own way
of reacting to situations. It always sounded, from what you said,
as if you had a very happy—-a confined home life--but still happy.

Bennett: I went through an agonizing period. We're way off the topic.
Chall: Well that's all right, it's all part of your life.

Bennett: I went through an agonizing period when my father disapproved of my
being away from home. At the home of a relative, for example, and
that sort of thing. I learned to recognize this as a kind of
desperation in him about his personal status, and the fact that he
seemed to have petered out as a8 provider, and that sort of thing., It
was directed at me because I was still within his sphere of
influence, and the more likely to meet the outside contacts. He
was more ready to allow a son to go his own way.

Chall: So there was a difference, in the way they perceived the
roles of a daughter and a son, or boy and girl?

Bennett: Oh, yes! Oh, yes! My mother was all for a boy getting out and
making his way Horatio Alger style. And my father, I early on
became aware of the meaning to him of the deprivation he had survived
going out, really, to work at age fourteen. He was very protective
of my brother. He didn't want him to take a job that would, as he
thought, deflect him from the normal pursuits of youths.

He didn't want him to go away from home to a summer job, which
Mother succeeded in getting for my brother, because he knew he
would be homesick. He worked out a code with him, so that if he
wrote a letter home and said such and such a thing was happening, I
think it was if he saw the big dipper—-my father would know that as
a sign. And he got in the car, and went off and fetched him home.

Chall: Did this happen?

Bennett: Yes.

Chall: How old was this little boy?
Bennett: A teenager, a young teenager.

Chall: He didn't want him to be homesick, whereas homesickness is really
sort of part of life?
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Bennett: No, it's because he had too much of it too soon. He didn't want
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his son to have to face that. It is a matter of timing and of the
judgment of parents when these things are done or not done. Then,
of course, growing up, I could not understand why my brother went
places with Dad overnight. Dad would have to go on business on the
train, and he would take a child for company. Always the boy. It
was firnally Mother, screwing up her courage and explaining it to me,
saying, "It's the bathroom problem." Oh. That never occurred to
me. So they used to go off together.

They had a close relationship, the boys with their father?

Yes. Dad used to read to us. He read us Two Years Before the
Mast. And always Mark Twain. Mother would sit with us, with her
sewing basket in her lap, and promptly fall asleep. Sheer
exhaugtion. She went like a steam engine all day. But she was not
too interested in reading or the story telling bit, or in poetry,
which Dad not only liked to read, he wrote it. Not very good but
he wrote it. Some of his early stuff was published in the old

Out West. Something like that it was called. So he had an eye for
and an interest in the arts that Mother didn't have. The arts were
more social for my mother. So there we are, I don't know what
started that outpouring.

Commencement Speaker and Follow-up

We'll come back to this personality development at other times. It
paints a facinating picture of the factors behind your considerable
achievements. However, now we can talk a bit about your
commencement and speech. First of all, how did it happen that you
were chosen to be the speaker?

Somewhere you have the letter of appointment. I waa notified, I
think, by Robert Gordon Sproul that I had been chosen——the letter
is in that batch I gave you-—and was asked to consult with
Professor Flaherty of the speech department for advice. The advice
was marvelous. I don't know what he told me about my speech, but
he provided me with a one-liner which I have cherished all my life.
He was the one who said, ™We are raising a nation of crude
specialists.”" He was for a liberal education.

Was it because of your grades, or did people recommend you?

My hunch ig, and I have no way of confirming this, that Lawrence
Harper might have been asked, and might have recommended me.

Otherwise, it isn't solely on grades?
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UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA
OFFICE OF THE PRESIDENT

April 29, 1931

Miss Mary Woods Bennett,
2800 Garber Street,
Berkeley, California.

My dear liss Bennett:

I take this opporturity of con-
gratulating you most heartily upon your selection as
one of the two Commencement speakers by the Comnittee
on Conmencement Speakers. TWe are all looking forward
with anticipation to hearing you.

¥ill you kindly send me, at your
early convenience, the title of your Address, and at a
little later date I should appreciate having a copy of
your remarks.

Trusting that you can accept the
appointment, of which you will have been informed by
the Recorder of the Faculties, I am

Very sincerely yours
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I don't know. Now maybe Garff Wilson might know because he also
was asked to be a speakers I've never asked him how come. But

it's perfectly easy in his case. He had been with the debating

team through the tour of Europe just before.

Probably a well-known speaker.

He was an English major, I think, It may be that the departments
were asked to nominate. I, of course, had always had good grades.
This was not the point, but I was not the medalist.

##

Hackles were raised at the selection of medalist for our

class, because there were those who felt that Bob Varney should
have had it. The recipient Morvyth McQueen-Williams had very good
grades, being one of the best grade-getters of all time. She went
on to a professional career in research at Yale, and there's no
question but what she's bright.

When Garff and I arrived at the designated place, because we
had to walk in a special place in the academic procession, it was
Monroe Deutsch who met us, who took us over, and said, "Your Grace,
may I present..." He was the most colorful figure in the whole
commencement.

Archbishop Hanna.

He was a colorful figure in San Francisco anyway, and he had his
lovely magenta cape on, and then the blue and gold hood. He was an
elegant bird of paradise. Of course Jimmie Rolph was a grandstand
player from a way back. You know the terrible joke they made about
him?

No, I don't think so.

How do you get the mayor of San Francisco? You cross the jackass
with the gardenia. He usually wore a boutonniere.

##

How did you happen to choose the subject of the talk that you gave?
It seems, as I read it, that you could have written it today.

Well, the thing is that I had a tendency, which I only fully
realized when I was working at Mills, to adopt everything that I
read or hear that seems compatible as my own. I think that I am
not an original thinker. I patch things together very well. This
was a patchwork job done when I talked with people, including Anna
Brinton, and including my professors. I talked directly with
Lawrence Harper about it, although he was not formally an

*See Garff Wilson, The Invisible Man, an oral history interview
conducted in 1980, The Regional Oral History Office, The Bancroft
Library, University of California at Berkeley, 1981.
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adviger. It came through their willingreass to talk with me about
their views of what was pertinent.

I know I got the idea from Anna Brinton, because her husband,
a Quaker, waa about to make a major speech himaelf, and had been
doing a lot of reading in the field, and I simply socaked up
everything that was said by all these people. I had read the Walt
Whitman in my English Literature claass, and I began looking up
material in this direction. Oh, there's a wonderful point made by
Robert Louis Stevenson, and I don't know why I didn't use it, I was
surprised that it wasn't in there

You did quote him at one point.

Yes, but this was another one. "What in God's name is all this
pother about?", he said. I think it was in Virginibus Puerisque.
My father could have suggested that to me, I don't know. But I
juat lapped up every usable idea that came when I talked with
people about this, and put them together. But I would always argue
this isn't a very original work.

Well, it surely is an interesting paper.
It's stitchery of a very efficient sort.

That's all right. I had wondered whether you had read some of the
people that you quoted?

I read passages, but it didn't come from the depth of my reading,
believe me.

Did it come from the depths of your soul?
It was a compatible idea.

I see, because it sounds as if it did, and also, knowing what
you said about your family and their rather close——

It was completely compatible.

And compatible with your future?

Yes. I once made a sermon at Milla College that had something of
the same title. Not a very good sermon, I didn't give enough time
to it.

You write very well, at least what I've read.

I can use the English language in a more or less literate fashion.

It's clear, it's interesting, and it also haa a touch of wit.
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Commencement Address
May 13, 1931
"WHY SO SEEMING FAST?"

Many hundreds of years ago a battle took place in the
wood of Ephraim, in which Absalom, the son of David, met his
deeth. Ahimeaz, the son of Zadok, asked to be allowed to carry
the tidings to the king, but as it happened, another messenger
had already been seﬁt to bear the news. When he was told that
there was no message for him to carry, Ahimeaz answered, "Come
what mey, I will run." Time has passed since Ahimaaz ran, but
men and women of the twentieth century are still running to no
purpose. We are still placing emphasis on energy, rather than
on intelligence. "Extreme busyness" 1s the bane of modern
existence.

Although the whole world today 1s charged with unrest and
hyperactivity, it is the United States which displays the ten-
dency to the greatest degree and which has been the object of
most criticism concerning it. From all over Europe, and from
within this country itself, has come essay after essay, book
after book, dealing with America's meaningless activity. Many
writers content themselves with finding fault; more thoughtful
ones ask, "Why such speed, and what is attained by it2o"

Matthew Arnold believed that the tendency of the modern
world toward activity and away from thinking was due to the
triumph of Hebralsm over Hellenism. The Greek wanted to see
things as they are, to get rid of ignorance; the Jew wanted
to obey the law, and overcome sin. The aim of both disciplines

was the perfection or salvation of men, but the methods were
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different. The Greek way was thinklng, the Hebrew way was
doing. The one led to ease and contentment, the other to
ceaseless activity. In the conflict between the two, it was
Hebralsm which prevaliled and which bequeathed to us our heritage
of action. It comes down to us 1in Christianity, which, although
devoted to tne following of a self-sacrificing example instead

of to the following of the law, still finds its greatest expres-
sion in action. The Christian is enjoined to be a "doer of

the work."

In Americe it is Calvinism which has had most influence in
developing us into a nation of doers. Max Weber, in his book
on "The Protestant Ethic," shows the direct relationship between
the religion of early New England and the caplitalism of modern
Americs. The Puritan believed in predestination. He had no
way of knowing whether he was elected or damned, but he strove
to perform, for the glory of God, any task God's providence
prepared for him. He followed the commandment to "Work hard
in his calling." Waste of time was a sin. Diligence, thrift,
sobriety and prudence were virtues. Such qualities led not
only to the glory of God but to worldly prosperity; and wealth,
according to the Puritan, was not evil unless used for enjoyment.
It was actually good and.necessary if acquired in the fulfillment
of one's duty. It was John Wesley who said, "We must exhort
all Christians to gain all they can, and to save all they can;
that is, in effect, to grow rich."

It was not long, of course, before people lost sight of
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the search for the Kingdom of God, and devoted themselves to

the practice of economic virtue. The goal of American activity
disappeared, but the activity itself remained. Eenjamin Frank-
1in's utilitarian worldliness is expressed in many a cryptic
seying familiar to us all. "Time is money," said he. "He that
idly loses five shillings worth of time loses five shillings

and might as prudently throw five shillings into the sea."

Todey we are become more devoted to activity than ever.
Activity is still a virtue, inactivity a vice. There are
those who maintain that times of stress and restlessness are
times which foster new ideas and lead to new developments. It
1s equally true, however, that tranquillity and repose, time
for meditation and reflection, are necessary for creative think-
ing. And where, in America, can one find tranquillity and
repose?---not in the home, which is often nowadays just a place
where a family eats and sleeps; not in the office, where
efficiency experts are constantly devising new and better wsays
to do things; not in the school, where a round.of curricular
and extré-curricular activities leaves the student breathless
at Commencement.

Not only does the American find little respite from his
activity, but he is usually uneasy in his rare moments of
leisure. He goes to the movies to watch others dash about,
or participates in a football game from the bleachers. If
nothing better offers, he hangs over a fence and watches a
steem shovel work, or stands on a bridge and gazes at the moving

stream. If he cannot be active himself, he rmst watch activity,
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else time hangs heavy on his hands and he must find something
to do.

Nowhere in America today 1is restlessness and meaningless
activity more rampant than in our universities. There sare
students who hold that "“college is contacts," and that the best
possible way to obtain the greatest good from university train-
ing is to behave 1like a colony of ants, and go about brushing
feelers with as many individuals as possible. Charles Mills
Gayley, who has had opportunity to observe at first hand the
so-called college activities, offers an alarming array of means
by which the student may keep "busy to no purpose." "Class
meetings, business meetings, comnittee meetings, editorial
meetings, football rallies, pyjama rallies; vicarious athletics
on the bleachers, garrulous athletics in diningroom and parlor
and on the porch, rehearsals of the glee club, rehearsals of
the mandolin club and of the banjo, rehearsals for dramatics
(a word to stand the hair on end), college dances and class
banquets, fraternity dances and suppers, preparations for the
dances and banquets, more committees for the preparation; a
running up and down the campus for ephemeral items for ephemeral‘
articles in ephemeral papers, a soliciting of advertisements, a
running up and down for subscriptions to the dances and the
dinners, and the papers and the clubs; & running up and down in
college politics, making tickets, pulling wires, adjusting com-
binations, canvassing for votes---canvassing the girls for votes,

spending hours at sorority houses for votes---spending hours at
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sorority houses for sentiment;---what margin of leisure," asks
Mr. Gayley, "is left for the one activity of the college, which
1s study?"

But those who devote themselves too wholeheartedly to
practicel studies, are often iIn the same situation. Many
courses in our universities train a man, not how to be something,
but how to do something so that he may have something. They
teach him how to make a living, but not how to live. He may
be a success in 1life, as they say, but frequently he cannot
live at peace with his own mind.

On leaving college, one is lmmedlately caught in a whirl
of activity. Often it does not matter what we do, as long
as we do something, and presently we find ourselves like a
squirrel in a wheel---going nowhere fast. We run for dear
life from early morn till dewy eve, and find we have not moved
an inch. Our only achievement has been, in the words of
Robert Louls Stevenson, to "sow hurry and reap indigestion."

With all our desire to be eternally doing something we
have completely forgotten why we are doing it. In our excite-
ment over perfecting the process, we have overlooked the goal.
We make money in order to make more money, not to gain increased
human satisfaction. We have dozens of devices for speeding up
the recording of words, and we have instruments which can carry
those words almost instantly to the four corners of the earth,
but these mechsnisms have taught us no new words to say. The

mechanical excellence of our printing plants often reveals
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startlingly the absence of real thinking in that which is printed.
Oour interest has been in the instrument, and instruments are
admittedly necessary, but in the perfecting of them we have for-
gotten what we might accomplish with them. Inventions have
given us, not leisure to try what Stevenson calls "the liveable-
ness of 1life," but more ways to do things. We make inventions
to save time.and labor, to make more money to finance new inven-
tions. When man conquered the air, all humanity stood amazed
and watched to see what prophetic words this great creation would
write across the heavens, and the airplane wrote---"Lucky\Strike.“

America suffers today from an affliction of aimless activity
---activity which leads to the mechanization of life, but not to
the simplification of 1it. OQur lives are faster and fuller, but
not richer. Only very recently have we begun to turn back to
the music and art which the "poor benighted heathen" never saw
fit to abandon. Not until we devote our activity to the attain-
ment of a goal will that activity be justified. Not until our
activity leeds us to peace and a quiet mind will our devotion to
it be vindicated. As 1t 1is, we are running miles and getting
nowhere. It was this characteristic of American life, observed
by Thoreau some seventy-five years ago, which mé.e him ask,

"Why so seeming fast but deadly slow ?"
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This is deceptive, because it sounds ag if it's good writing, and
it's not, if it isn't something that comes from the creative
process in you. And this I regard as a kind of a reproductive
process.

We all need that. It serves its purpose, and some people do it
well, and some people don't.

Right, you have to, and, unfortunately, a place like the University
of California, or any other large university, fosters this in
students. Firat, I had to learn from the chairman of my department
at Mills, and then I had to learn to look for it in students. But
the difference is between a tidy collection of reading notes and a
genuinely good paper. I used to drive students crazy by

giving them B's for well-organized reading notea.

You wanted them to sit down and be totally creative? Put it
together in a different way? Or original?

Well, you can spot the originality when it comes, and it comes,
sometimes, of course, from the tendency to argue with the
authorities. But, let's put it this way, the easiest part of my
dissertation to write was the review of the bibliography, which ia
where you exactly do that, put together your reading notes and
comment thereon.

That's what it's all about.

That's what it's all about. So there are things in the system that
encourage the tendency.

I was impressed when I went through your papers with the number of
people—friends of your own, but mainly friends of the family--who
wrote and congratulated you. I thought it was juat lovely that
people would do that.

And the mothers of my friends.

It was just lovely.

Ava Barber wrote a very sweet letter.

Yes, written from Portland, while there on a business trip with her

huaband. It was very nice that they all did it from the bottom of
their hearts. They also said, your parents must be very proud

of you, and I wondered about how your parents——how proud they were
of you.

Oh, they were. They were fit to be tied, they were so excited.
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LAW OFFICE OF

LOUIS BARTLETT

1700 CLAUS SPRECKELS BUILDING
SAN FRANCGISCO

TELEPHONE KEARNY 5750

May 18,1931

Mr, Louls W. Bennett
4€5 California Street
San Francisco, California

Dear Mr, Bennett:

Mrs. Bartlett and I want to congratulate
you and Mrs. Bennett upon the great success
of Mary Woods! commencement address,

I didn't hear 1t, but the newspaper ac-
counts indicate that she had something
worth while to say, and said it well,

Sincerely yours,

LB:GEB
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And your brothers, snd your sister? She was still a young girl
then, but they must have been there.

Interesting Memories

Oh, my sister was there in full flower at age five at the
commencement. My mother's cousin, who was still in the regular
army, into which he had gone in World War I when he was a cadet at
Berkeley, came in uniform to please my mother. It was peacetime,
he didn't wear his uniform. But he was stationed in San Leandro so
that he could mastermind the preparation of the Caterpillar plant
go that it could be transformed overnight to manufacture tanks. He
was in ordnance, and this is what he did all between the wars
period.

This was 19317

Yes. He had never gone out. He was with the batch of troops that
went with General Barrows to Siberia, and thereby hangs a
wonderful tale. When he was an undergraduate at Berkeley, he
needed to fill a gap in his program, so he began looking through
that schedule of classes, whatever it was then, for a course that
would fit. He found one that was elementary Rusgian. So he
thought, ™Well, five days a week, what could be better? It just
fille in that gap at eleven o'clock in the morning™ Or whenever
it was. So he took it, and at the end of the first semester, the
professor went to him and said, "Mr. Winningstad"--he had a
Norwegian father—--"I think you had better drop the course. You
simply have no gift for it, and it's uphill work."” But that was
the wrong thing to say to a stubborn hal f-Norseman, He said,
"Thank you very much for telling me, I'll work harder." Well, he
took not only one, but two years.

You know, that's a true story. Years later I was telling this
to a bunch of graduate students at Mills., This wae a wartime group
that had come to us, and they were all mature women, learning how
to be directors of childcare centers. One of them happened to be
hal f~Rugsian, and among other things, she had taken, as a student,
Rusgian. She grinned from ear to ear. She said, "The professor
still tells that story." Because the upshot of it was, when Olaf
got sent in this batch of troops, they were all given commiseions—-
cadet corps people. They went on transport to Siberia under
General Barrows' aegis. He spent all his time teaching the other
troops, you know, work-a-day Russian, 80 they could fend for
themselves. He was the only one on board who knew any Russian.

Not well, you understand.

But enough to get by, probasbly quite well, from what you said.
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Better than nothing.
But two years, so he managed——

Then at the end of the war [World War 1] the army sent him to
M.I.T. for his ordnance training, and he was an officer in
ordnance all between the wars. His job was to go around to the
various plants. He lived in the communities, and worked a long
time making sure that those plants could be translated to wartime
use when war came, The terrible irony of it is, his professional
life would have been wasted, had he not been able to put it all
into practice. He was in the Aleutians early on which were
terribly under—-defensed and helped to build the West Coast
defenses. He came out and was stationed at the Presidio. So it
was, in itself, an interesting saga.

I'm very much interested now in ballet, and there was another
student of that early generation that emerged in my life later, by
reputation, not by name. We lived for a while, following the birth
of my little brother, in a boarding house called the San Marcos.
It was across the street from St. Mark's Church. A great big
house, and it housed, among others, some students who waited on
table in return for their board and room, and various working men
and women around the community, and I suppose some retired people,
I don't know, I think maybe some faculty people. Actually, my
playmates were the two sons of the woman who ran it, who had been
in the choir at St. Mark's with my mother. That's why my mother
knew her. Mother being unwell, my father saw the place where she
could have housekeeping chores lifted from her, and we were there
for some months.

Ed [Barnhart], who was the older of the two children in the
family, later turned out to be my fellow student as a graduate
student in psychology, and he became a member of the faculty of
this university in the speech department.

Well, there was one of the boys in residence who waited on
table, and I was enchanted by him because as we played around the
yard, a fairly spacious yard, I could look in the window, which was
above ground level, into his downstairs room where he lived and
studied. I could always see, hanging on the back of his door, his
powder blue or gray cadet uniform which he went off in a certain
number of days a week., I was very much impressed by this uniform.

Mother said he was very kind to her. He used to help her up
the stairs with the baby carriage, and I was allowed to walk to the
corner with him when he was on his way to the campus, and then
scurry back. He would tell someone I was going, and someone would
be waiting for me, and this was a routine.
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His name was Hubert. Mother said, "You know™-later, many

years later, she said——"I always thought he was a Miss

Nancy”" (whispers]. He was just too tender with the children, and
go forth. But he was a sprinter, and he had some respect as a
sprinter. Well, the thing that made him a "Miss Nancy" was that he
was a "dancer". Of such an ilk that he was partner to Pavlova at a
stage in her career. He changed his name from Hubert Stowe to
Hubert Stowitz. There must be records of him here, in our dance
depar tment.

The Speech

Now, "Why So Seeming fast?™ The title came from Thoreaw

Thoreau of course made sense, and of course I had been readirng
Thoreau in my class. It was a survey of American literature

that Whipple taught. So it was not made up out of whole cloth, but
it was a compatible suggestion. I realize now, that it looks as if
I had read all those splendid authors, and actually what happered
was that I plucked bits from them that fit and made the usual tidy
patchwork quilt.

It made enough of a splash so that a couple of churches asked you
to come and [speak]?

Oh, yes, but this was almost predictable, wasn't it?

Both Presbyterian churches, at their evening services. Did you read
the entire speech? 1Is that what they wanted? Or did they want you
to talk?

No, I read the entire speech.
Did they talk about what it meant?

I don't think so. I think they used it as a filler for their
evening service. That's my private opinion. But I don't wish to
downgrade them. I didn't know the people at First Presbyterian, but
I had been brought up in the neighborhood of St. John's, and knew
it, and I knew Stanley Hunter by reputation, was interested in

that [reputation]. Of course I still live near that old church
which is a lovely building, the Julia Morgan Theater now.

You must have been kind of on cloud nine yourself.

I was, but I had a very funny experience. I had

cleared my program, so that I had nothing to do but write that
speech at the very end. This was the way I always did things. I
did things in concentrated form. I was no good at this spreading
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out your study over a long period business. So I was locked in my
room, sitting on the bed, legs crossed, writing like mad. I
developed a terrible cough. Mother said, "Go to the doctor." I
wae still going to the same doctor who had brought me into this
world. [Eva L. Harrie] So I went puddledy-puddledy down to her
of fice and said, "I'm in this bind, I'm making this speech, and
this cough worries me. I don't know that I can get through it."
So she thumped me around, and she said, ™Well, tell you what I'll
do, I'll tape your ribs right now so they won't hurt when you
cough." Because this was what bothered me.

Oh, you really had a serious cough. When your ribs hurt you're in
trouble.

Yes, the muscles had been wrenched by my coughing. She said,
"That'll take care of the pain; it won't cure it. But," she
said, "I'll make you a little bet. I think as soon as you start
speaking, that cough is going to disappear." And it did.

Oh! A bright lady.

This was when I first discovered the ease with which I developed
physical symptoms from stress, and it's with me to this day.

This was a homeopathic woman physician who turned out to have
come from about the same area that Olga Bridgman had come from, I
would love to know what there was about the climate of the north
central part of the country and their generation that produced
these rugged women who went out after degrees that women did not
traditionally get. But there she was. That was an influence I wasg
exposed to early, too.

She was the one who said to me when I was wondering whether,
with a baby at home, and things at sixes and sevens because of
economic conditions, I should even go to the first job that was
offered me, which was a summer job at Yale, by Catharine Cox Miles
and her husband. I was to travel with the Brintons through the
canal to the East Coast, sojourn at New Haven working for my room
and board, working in the office that they had there. They were on
leave for a year and then returned to Stanford for a year and went
back to Yale for good. My job was to accompany her West among
other things. She had a three year old child. She said, "Take it.
You must.”

Did you?

Yes., She said, "You are past the age of staying at home for
family reasons." She said, "It's the family's problem that they
have a little child, it's not yours."

A wise woman., Stand on your own.
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I couldn't actually do that, and once later, an older friend

said, during my graduate years, "You know, I can get you a job where
you can be live-in and not be at home with all that commotiorn.™ But
I couldn't walk away from it.

The Year in Seattle: Child Study Laboratory, Seattle Public
Schools, 1931-1932

Now, you did go to Seattle though.

Oh, I certainly did, with great support from my parents. They told
me when I got back at Christmas time that they had been in family
consultations as to whether or not I would have taken up smoking
when I was away, because this was a terrible issue in the family.

I had a cousin my age who smoked like & chimney but never in the
gight of her family, and they were convinced she didn't smoke.
Everybody in the town knew she smoked like a chimney. They didn't
want that kind of thing, so they had agreed that they would roll
with the punches if I came home a smoker. [laughter]

Ian't that interesting how they were totally concerned with your
whole life.

Yea.
But you were now really on your own? It was time to leave?

Yes, I had the munificent salary—I don't remember its global
amount, but it turned out to be a check for $108 every month. One
of my friends in Seattle with whom I was intimate enough to let her
know what I waa getting said, "Ah, well you have a living wage."
You realize, I saved money on it, and came home for Christmas on it
without borrowing from anybody.

A hundred and eight dollars a month. So how did you live? Where?
You went up there as a total stranger?

Friends

No, I wasn't a total stranger. I had an aunt, the mother of one of
those cousine near my age--she is actually an aunt of Mother's.

She had a friend there who was marvelously kind to me. That aunt,
by the way, died in September, just a month short of her hundred
and third birthday. She was an aunt by marriage. But she was one
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Bennett: of the interesting people in my life because over so long & period
we could touch base and talk familiarly, and she grew to be a very
wise woman.

This friend of hers was the kind of take charge lady, the
pillar of the DAR [Daughters of the American Revolution], racist ss
they come, but a woman of principle nonetheless. She got on jury
duty, and she was the bane of the existence of the other jurors
because she would not convict a known bootlegger on trumped up
evidence. Her husband was sn attorney and she was damned if she
would let a jury get by with getting the right person in jail for
the wrong reasons. So she said she was anathema. They couldn't
stand her.

Chall: How strong! That takes strength.

Bennett: She was 8 wonderfully strong help. Her husband took me around to
his bank and got me my little account started and so forth. For
the first six months I was there I spent every weekend with them on
their place on Bainbridge Island. It was a lovely respite, and it
was 8 lovely place to be sble to go and feel at home, When I was
in Seattle visiting my sister when her play took her there about
four years ago, we found the cabin that I had been in. A friend
that she had at the University of Washington took a trip to
Bainbridge Island and we found it, and looked in the windows and
saw it. So that was one resource.

Then Mother had a friend from her childhood whose name I don't
even remember who was living there who had married late in 1life and
had a six year old child, and she wrote to her and said I would be
coming, I called on that lady, she was kind, My good friend Betty
Barber Hadden had an aunt there, her mother's brother and
sister-in—-law, and they were kind. So I had that support, so to
speak, from the older generation, which made all the difference in
the world.

Then, because I discovered the value of belonging to a
sorority, I telephoned the person whose name was in our journal as
being the alumnae club representative, whatever, in Seattle. She
said, "I'll pick you up next Monday night, there's a meeting, come
along,™ Wonderful. So I went. There I met Harriet Parsons, who was
one of those older Thetas who used to come back along with Leslie
Ganyard, and Frances Fisher, and some others, I can't remember all

of them--Betty Garrett.

Harriet and I took one look at each other—--we'd met--we were
at once fast friends, We left the meeting and went off to a movie
together to celebrate. She told me later that she told her father,
who was Bishop Parsons in San Francisco, that it was fun that we
had met because we would go to church together. She said, "I
didn't tell him I went to church every other Sunday and went skiing
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every other Sunday. She said, "You went to church every Sunday."
(Laughs] Well, I went because it was home. Not because I was
specially a church-goer.

It was fun to go with Harriet because, of course, she had
letters from her father to the people there, and we went and heard
the Bishop of Puget Sound, or whatever his title was. She
introduced herself to him, she said, "I have a letter to you, but I
didn't bring it with me today." He said, "I doubt that people are
going around masquerading as the daughter of the Anglican bishop."

That was a wonderful friendship. We took a tour of the
Olympic Peninsula together. We got stopped at the border by the
guards who were looking for the kidnappers of the Lindbergh baby.
It was terrible weather but we went anyway in her little open car,
had a lovely time. She was older, more sophisticated than I. We
unburdened our souls to each other as people do when they're away
from home, and meet someone who looks like a best friend because
it's a familiar face.

Was she working?

Yes, I think she was doing landascape architecture, something like
that. But maybe I'm all wrong, but I think that was it. She was
sort of at a loose end looking for a job, and she left Seattle and
went back home shortly after. But she showed me some of the
sights. She had been there longer than I, and we had, of course,
mutual friends. Her father had been the one who had seen to it
that my father qualified for confirmation in the Episcopal Church.
I learned a little bit about him, I learned that he started out in
life a Preabyterian but became lapsed because he could not accept
the doctrine of predestination, and therefore became an
Episcopalian. All that. He, by the way, was a trustee of Mills
College for many years.

Oh, yes, that's where I've run across that name.

Yes, 8o I had that connection with him later. Then I worked for a
remarkable woman, whose name was Frances Gaw. She was, I think it
must have been of Canadian ancestry, but at any rate, she was a
Britisher, and had had her degree from the University of London in
psychology. She was the director of the Child Study Laboratory of
the Seattle public achools. She had, for her dissertation,
standardized one of the sets of performance tests of intelligence.
She was hideously crippled from a childhood polios Hideously, 8o
that you could recognize the lurch with which she walked a mile
avay, you could always tell it was Frances Gaw coming, She refused
to have any kind of aid. She played basketballl I don't think she
had a brace.

144
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She gave & party for the ataff. We had about, let's see, one, two,
three, four, five, including mysel f~-people doing tests, doing a
"Binnett a minute" as Warner Brown said.

Your responsibility was testing the children in the school system?

Yes. We did two different things. One was that we visited schools
that had sent in & request for someone to come out and test. So I
got to know the whole municipal railway system. [I] could get
anywhere in Seattle by streetcar. Then, if there was someone that
they felt needed special attention, or was a behavior problem of
some sort, or if they didn't have enough for a person to go and
test in the school, they would send someone down to our central
office. So there was always someone in the office testing,

There were two older people who had been school teachers who
were on the ataff. There was one young woman who was headed for a
career in social work who was on the ataff, There was one woman,
Dorothy Granneberg who went to that strange little college that my
Aunt Anna had gone to teach in, a Mills woman for heaven sake,
before Milla meant much to me except that Mother's friend had been
there. She was a very pleasant friend to have., She was a widow.
Her huasband was in the merchant marine and had been killed by a
crewman who had gone berserk. She had had a dreadful time, but she
was pulling hersel f together, and she was a good person to know.

So that was the in group of those of us who worked. They were very
pleasant people, all of them, and very supportive.

You were the youngest, I take it? You were there just a year
Yes. Frances Gaw was among thoae who saw that I was too docile.
Oh, is that s80? She spoke to you about this too?

She gave a little party, and instead of place carde at the card
tables in her living room, there was aome kind of saying that was
supposed to let each person identify the one that belonged to him.
Mine was "Should you learn to say nol"

Did you find it readily?

Yes. Regrettably, by this time I had— One of my teachers in the
psychology department was a sharp-tongued lady, this was Jean

Walker Macfarlane, whom I really loved very much. But once during
my senior year we had started 2 class and there was this dead

gilence. She said, ™Who will begin?" I said, "Well, I will." She
said, "Always ready to jump into the spot.™ I thought, ie this me?
But I realized that what she later called my tendency to be
relentlessly adaptable was already known, and it did me good to
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Bennett: hear that said. I was. But that's what I had been taught to be.
So it was not easy to change my spots. I'm still learning to say
no. I do it better and more often.

Chall: Well, you've had a few years in between.

Bennett: Yes. You can gee that I had a good time in Seattle. I was
bitterly homesick the first week or so. Terribly. The reason I
called the experience I had in entering college homesickness was
that I had the same feeling——it had the same feeling to me.
Everything was going right, nothing wrong. But I was terribly,
uncontrollably homesick. I wept all the time.

Chall: In Seattle too?
Bennett: Yes,
Chall: Fortunately you had all these friends.

Bennett: I had all these friends, and I made use of them. And the other
thing I discovered was that going to movies waes splendid because
there were all those people I knew out there. It was that I just
couldn't cope with the enormity of adaptation to an environment in
which I felt unsure, lost, and in spite of all the supports, felt
powerlesa to do anything,

Chall: How long did that lasat?

Bennett: Oh, a week or two. I had a wonderful time. I used to schedule
my days off the premises, when I would get down to some central
point in downtown Seattle from which I could walk home, so that I
could walk by the Y and take a swim on my way home. Very often I
would be the only one in the pool between five and six, I was a
little bit overweight at the time, and I'm not sure that it did
anything but relax me, but it did that, and it wae good for me

Housing

Chall: Where did you live? Did you live in a boarding house?

Bennett: I lived in a boarding house which at one time had been the Swedish
consul's residence. It was acrose the street from the Swedish
Hospital. The Swedish Hospital exists, but the house itself was
swept away by freeway development. We looked for it. My sister
tried to locate it for me when I went up to stay with her. A
wonderful Swedish woman named Mrs. Morrison ran it. Actually, my
friend, Mrs. Williams, came in to help me find a place to live. We
had seen Mrs. Morrison's place, and I liked it because it was a
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Bennett: former residence. She had facilities for three girls on
what would have been the third floor, almost attic rooms, but they
were singles. They were cozily furnished, and I could see out my
window trees, gardens, and so forth. There were few of us enough
so that, though we had to share a bathroom, it was not all that
much of & problem; down below there were more problems.

But my friend said, "™No, this faces north, or east, or whatever
it was, and the place that we saw over the hill and down on
Broadway, whatever it was, is located on the streetcar line, and
the sun is pouring in the window as we're looking at it now.

You've got to take this.," Well she talked me into it, I hated

it, absolutely hated it. The gentlemen came down to their meals in
their suspenders and bedroom slippers, and this seemed to me to set
a tone that I just couldn't abide. You know, I was not one for
extending my horizons in that direction, at least not at the time.
I couldn't stand it.

After the first night there I went back to Mrs. Morrison's
place, and said, "Is that place still empty?" She said, "Yes." I
said, "I'm coming. I want to come, I don't 1ike where I am."™ I
said, "Do you want me to give you a deposit?"™ She said, ™o, I
think you know what you want."

So I went back and I had a little time separating myself from
the lady in charge because she said her credibility as a person who
ran the place and so forth waa at stake. I didn't care that I had
paid a depoait on the place. She stood by while I readily
telephoned the person whose name she gave me and explained that it
wag purely a personal choice, that is moving, and had nothing
whatever to do with the place. There was nothing wrong with it,
except there was nothing right with it.

So I got out of it and was very happy at Mrs. Morrison's for

the year. I rented a typewriter and taught myself to type. I
borrowed a book from one of the fellow residents and learned to
type according to the touch system, sort of the right way. I wrote
to my mother every night to practice my typing. I happily lent the
typewriter to young men who were wanting to apply for joba and
borrowed it. They would usually clean it and put it into good
shape. That was fine.

I didn't make friends except with a couple of schoolteachers

who had a big room on the floor below me, They were both from
Minnesota, they were both of Swedish extraction. One of them was a

tearing blond, and quite a social butterfly, the other had dark
eyes and dark hair, as so many Swedea do. It comes from those
French who went there at one time, I think. We saw quite a bit of
each other., They were very generous about letting me use their
place and their radio.
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It was at the time when the Chinese-Japanese fracas was very
much in the wind, and we were keeping abreast of that sort of
thing, and it gave me a change of indoor space, and I always
appreciated that.

They were fresh out of Minnesota, and from esome reepects, they
had never left it. They had gone to Mankato College which is one
of the many teacher's colleges in that area, and they had gotten
good joba. As I say, one of them was a social butterfly and had
boys on the string, and the other one not. Therefore, the other
one and I went around together quite 8 bit. But mostly I went
around with Harriet.

But it was a very strange thing that I should be so terribly
homesick, but I was, and then I got over it. Then things settled
down to a very pleasant—--I enjoyed the independence, enjoyed it
very much, and being my own bosa.

It was 8 long time later that I leerned that I walked through
the neighborhood housing the prostitutes routinely on my way from
the terminal where I got off the streetcar usually, and the walk to
my place. But one of the young women finally put me wise, I was a
little skittish about men. I was walking once from somewhere to
somewhere-——there was a public school neerby where one could take
one's clothes for cleaning at the vocational clasaes. One could
get one's hair done there. I used a few of the services. I don't
think I got my hair done there, I wae doing my own hair at the
time. But I did take my cleaning there, At any rate, I was
walking that short distance and a car stopped and a man said, "Want
a ride?" And I locked firmly ahead, and he said, "What'as the
matter, do you think I'm trying to pick you up?™ It was one of the
people from the boarding house, and he was making just a good-
hearted offer.

Yes, and you hadn't even recognized him?

No, I hadn't recognized him. I hadn't looked at him long enough to
see who it wae because I didn't think I should. But I felt my way,
and to my surprise, I guees, no ore in the residence situation
exploited that at all. If I had been more experienced I would have
realized that'e the last place they would try, because Mrsa.
Morrison held pretty high standards. People did have their ties
and jackete on for meals, and so forth. She wasan't priesy, but ehe
waa careful. She was not motherly except that she really did keep
a look-out.

I lived through a few of the agonies of some of the girls. One
of them wag having a successful venture, and one of them got left
at the altar. I learned a little about life. Also, I learned
about the working girl's life which wae interesting to me. One of
the interesting features that I really wae faacinated by, was the
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mixture of Canadian girls that was very strong there. Alao, I
learned about the Finns as a race apart, because these strange
names began appearing on the gsurnames of children who were tested.

Oh, yes, in the schools.

The Assignments

The Pihas and the Huhas and the others fascinated me. Also, it was
an interesting time to be testing school children because a very
large number of them were children of bootleggers, rumrunners,
whatever, and they were predictably reticent about what their
fathers did, which was one of the things we always asked thenm,
because we had a little questionnaire for each case. But one
learned how they coped. Also, one learned to value the experience
of the former schoolteachers who were in this busineass, in testing,
In very difficult schools, or places where the principals weren't
too friendly toward us, they would send out one of those
experienced women,

Was there a feeling against the tester, the testing process?

Yes. Some principals, particularly female principals, felt
threatened, as if their adequacy was somehow being challenged. The
men were few and far between in the elementary schools, which was
usually where we tested. The most charitable thing to say is that
this was before the generations where more men went into working
with young children,

One of the lovely parts of it was that Seattle had a ruling
that any four year old who tested at the mental age of five, when
ready for admission to kindergarten, could be admitted, although
five was the legal age. So we had these terribly bright young ones
brought in for testing, usually referred by the University of
Washington, whose Stevenson Smith, a child psychologist, had been
congul ted about the development of the child. It was great fun
testing those bright ones. Of course, we always also got the dull
ones, at the other end.

One of my minor achievements that nobody appreciated but me

wag that I wag left holding the sack in the office one day when a
child was brought in without an appointment. She proved to be a

very well trained, but very defective non-English speaking child,
She was Japanese. Somebody had taken out all the performance tests
which was &ll you could use with such a child, form boards and
puzzles of varioua kinds, and so forth. So I had to improvise from
the items in Stanford-Binet which I could administer to her, and
from what was left of the score boards, and get an approximation of
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Bennett: the mental age, and from that you can work out an LQ I confessed
all to Francea Gaw, and she said, "™ell, you did the best you could
with the material available to yow" I was very glad of that
experience. But mostly things went like clockwork. I was
introduced, also, to bad language there which I had to consult with
my brother about.

Chall: Bad language from--?

Bennett: From school children. Not spoken, but written. Every once in a
while an indecent remark would be penciled on the back of the sign
that I would put over the library, or whatever it wasg we had been
stuck in for testing. "Test in progress. Do not disturb." And then
something one more often sees nowadays would be written below. So
I didn't know what that meant, and I had to ask my brother about
that. Even he waa a little bit reluctant, but by circumlocution we
got around to what it was—It was what I thought it was.

Chall: You couldn't find it in the dictionary, of course, .not in those
days.

Bennett: Ooh! A four letter word!? [laughter] Well, it was a broademing
experience, Alao, I learned about the narrow base from which
teachers were chosen. I remember testing one child who seemed
perfectly all right to me--you know, he tested reasonably well, not
brilliant, to be sure, but nothing wrong, I talked to the teacher.
Usually I had lunch there, in the teachers' dining rooms, because
they had someone cook for them, and it was a way to get informally
to talk with them. I said, "Just what is it that thie child does,
that makes you thirk he should be tested? What does he do?™ She
said, "Everything he hadn't oughta, and what he should do, he
don't do." He was too much for her; that was the sum and substance
of it. But I learned enough about scraping the bottom of the
barrel in later life, so that I grew to be not too critical of
that.

However, it was a good experience, and, one of the best
thinges about it was that I was going home. I had a terminal
interview with Dr. Gaw, who wanted me to know that I would be
invited back. But she said, "I think you're wise to go back, and
get on with your education.”

Chall: That's right, you were committed to going back to graduate school.

Bennett: Yes. So I left with very good feelings about the experience. I
had some later contact with Dorothy Granneberg; no later contact at
all, except on very rare occasions, with Harriet Parsons. We just
moved in different circles down here. But we fell into each
other's arms every time we did meet, but that was it.
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When I was in Seattle with my sister four years ago, or so, I met a
woman Jane had dredged up the woman who was in the Historical
Society on Bainbridge Island. Through her I met a woman who had
known Mrs. Williams, who gave me a portrait of her from her—-
apparently she was cleaning out her files. She said, "I don't know
who would want this, but you might." And I sent it to that aunt of
mine, who had been her friend, who was by this time a hundred years
old, and she wrote me back, "Thank you for Genevieve's portrait,
what do I do with it now?™ I wrote back and I said, "You're the
end of the line, put it in your waste basket." So, that was a
thoroughly good experience. I went home at Christmas time, much
against my grandfather's better judgment, he thought I should save
my money.

Your grandfather had an influence there too?

By this time he was writing to me quite a lot, because he was
widowed. My grandmother died while I was away. I asked Mother
whether I should come home, and she said she didn't think it would
do a bit of good, and I had better stay there. She had called Mrs.
Williams to tell me. Mrs. Williams dutifully called me, and then a
telegram was delivered, and the waitress was careful to tell me
that it had bad news init, and I said, "Yes, I'm expecting it."
So, I was surrounded by people who were thoughtful, and cared—even
the hired help. So it was fine.

But your grandfather didn't think you should come home for
Christmas?

No, he didn't.
But you did.
I did.

Was it hard to go away again, or by that time had you gotten used
to it?

No, it was fine. I didn't have any trouble going away, I rather
liked it. My sister couldn't stand it, and she chased the train
all down the track, "Don't want my sister to go away." [imitates
her eister crying]. I had told her that I would send her a copy of
a certain book that she liked as soon as she learned how to read,

so she managed to learn how to read very quickly. I think
that's all that we should talk about Seattle.

Yes, I think that takes care of Seattle.

One thing that didn't happen there was that I took no work at the
university which Dr. Jones thought was an omission that maybe
wasn't all to the good. I did meet Stevenson Smith, who was the
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Bennett: child development man at the University of Washington.
Incidentally, he turned out to have been a very great friend of Dr.
(Lovisa] Wagoner, whom I ultimately worked for. She grew up in
Bremerton,

Dr. Gaw took us calling on him, and I learned from him at
first hand, that even child psychologists sometimes have
difficulty, maybe more than others, managing their own children
He had said, in the midst of trying to get his child out of the
room with her dolls, and doll clothes, [imitating his voice]
"Never try to demonstrate in front of company." He was no good at
it. He had a spoiled child, It was good to have met him.

Dr. Jonea thought I might have taken a seminar at the
University of Washington, and he was quite right--1I might have.
Had my heart been in my graduate study, rather than in exploiting
other aspects of the Seattle experience, I would have done it. But
I was glad not to be in a class.

Chall: Yes. You just needed the change?

Bennett: I needed the change, and I could make very good use of the full
time of the exchange, and I think it was good use, I think it was
just ag much a learning experience, and that's what I meant when I
told Dr. Jones that I didn't think that I would have learned all
that much in a seminar. He said, "Oh, I think you could have
learned from Ed Guthrie™ I know I could have, but that was not the
point, that's not what I was in the business of learning.

The Election of 1932: The Changing Political Outlook

Chall: Yes. In November 1932, there was an election, and this would have
been your firat national election. You were the right age. Did
you vote?

Bennett: I voted. I was a resident of California, technically. They
regarded me as a resident in California, having been on leave. I
was classified, after some difficulty, as a resident of California,
and admitted to graduate study aas a California resident.

Chall: Did you vote an absentee ballot?

Bennett: No, I voted in the fall of '32 right here.

Chall: Oh, you were here?

Bennett: Yes. I went to Seattle in September, and I came home in June.
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Oh, I see. There was just the school year, then, actually,

Yes. Dr. Jones got a job for me at the ingtitute. I did
statistics of some sort at the institute for the summer. I
remember it well because I voted for Hoover, I think it's
predictable. Nobody but me was impressed by the fact that he had
had a long connection with Mille College, and with the Brintons,
they were related. Anna Brinton taught in the summer session at
Stanford; I saw her in '32. She had had some nuna in her class,
and they were so excited because they, of course, were going to
vote for Al Smith, the first Roman Catholic.

No, Al Smith--didn't he run in '28? It was Roosevelt who was
running in '32, I think. It was Roosevelt and Hoover.

I think you're probably right. The first term ehe had had nung in
her clasg in Stanford summer session, and they had been very
excited about the opportunity to vote for the first Catholic. She
said, "I said nothing about the fact that Hoover was the first
Quaker candidate.” I was very much interested in the way the
bitterness got directed at Hoover.

#

I recalled his activity during World War I. Anna Brinton
actually had met Howard Brinton when they were both feeding the
children of Central Europe after World War I. I learned later that
the great effort on behalf of children which he headed just after
World War I fetched up its tour with a surplus, and that was
tranglated into moneys made available to institutions of higher
education for work with children. That was why Mills had a large
graduate contingent in child development, when I went there,
because Herbert Hoover had been a trustee of Mills and was on the
Mille College Council, I think it was called--a group of men.

He still had a connection, so that when somebody called and
wanted to speak with Mr. Hoover, who was in fact on the Mills
campus, he got, from the student operator of the switchboard, a
very sarcastic reply. But he was a friend of Mills, later on I

discovered.

How did you feel about your first election? Did that mean
something to you?

Yes, it meant something to me, and I remember the discussion that
came out of the election among the graduate students. I was the
only one who had voted for Hoover. I learned then that being a
Republican was not necessarily something that you're born with--that
you could change.
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Ae far as you knew, your parents--well, your mother, of course,
never told you how she voted. Your father, did he ever tell you?

Oh, yes, he was a Republican on principle, and I don't know why. I
think it wae inertia. I think that there had been a time when

his father was a Republican, and it just went with the territory.
He just was & Republican

But I soon learned not to do that. Then I
decided that I would register as an Independent, and I discovered
that that's no go, because you don't get a crack at the primaries.
So then I registered Democratic.

Do you know, until as late as the time Nixon was in office, I
was being mistaken for 8 Republican. I can trace that back to the
wife of President [Robert] Wert at Mills. I got a telephone call,
which befuddled me terribly, from the White House. Someone
speaking for President Nixon was asking me would I be on a national
committee for this, for that, or the other thing., Somewhere along
the line the conversation led me to say, "You should know, that I
am a registered Democrat." Whereupon the lady gasped, and said,
"Well you can understand how the President normally likes to
distribute these invitations among members of his party." And I
said, "Yes, I can understand that." Never heard from them again.

The president's wife had been asked—-whether she was asked
directly or whether she had been asked to suggest people...she had
taken for granted that I was a Republican. I think that I surprise
everybody with the knowledge that I'm a registered Democrat; no
one expects it.

When did you change your registration? Sometime during the
thirties or forties? From Independent to—-

I voted for Roosevelt the last few times. I changed the
registration I think just one more time, Just one round of being
out of the primaries.

Well, I guesa you kept your counsel pretty well, then

I didn't tell people how I voted anyway. But there was no room
for politics in what I was doing, really, except chat among the
graduate students, and I learned a2 lot from that, Also, of course,
I came in with Roosevelt. 1 was collecting my data at the
Claremont School, which was the official locus of the activities of
the adolescent program which Dr. and Mrs. Jones had invited me to
join. I was there at the time of the 1933 bank freeze, and saw the
dramatic way he turned the country around, and was sold on him.
Voted for him every time.

¢
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Return to the University at Berkeley

The Dissertation for the Ph.D,

How did you go about selecting your dissertation topic?

Yes, the dissertation topic. Harold Jones told me early on that
there was no sense my spending time on a8 master's degree. He said,
"fou don't need it, you can't have a career in psychology without
the doctorate, just go for it," unimpaired by the detour for the
master's degree. I was well prepared for it. The routine there
was to prove competence in seven out of ten fields, or something,
That was your hurdle as a graduate student. Then to devote your-
sel f, once admitted, to the dissertation program, to finishing that.

Along the way, since we all had to read in some
specialization, I had specialized in child psychology and in
clinical, I was interested in the fact--irritated by the fact—
that the psychoanalysts built theory--I didn't realize thias was
what it was--but they built theory out of observed clinical cases.
But where Freud made his initial mistake, if one can be so pompous
as to say that, is that he built an elaborate theoretical structure
on the basis of some conclusions from clinical material. There was
little examination of how much invention, on Freud's part, had gone
into this theoretical structure, and how much could be defended
on the basis of observable fact.

So I had talked about this with Harold Jones, and said, "I
really would like to try to come to grips with this, and see if we
can explore something on a basis that is replicable, that can be
presented as objective study." He said, "Well, go for it, see if
you can find a topic." I spent about six months reading, and got
more and more befuddled. In those days, at any rate, most of the
material that you read was best summarized by the statement I heard
in a semirar group gathered together in San Francisco by a Freudian
practitioner in San Francisco. He knew perfectly well what the
trouble with academic psychologista was. He said, "Up to a certain
point what I believe in and what you believe in we can agree upon

because we can agree upon the proof each of us can present. Beyond
that point I cannot prove to you in terms acceptable to you what I

am saying from a psychoanalytical point of view. But I am
convinced." [laughter]

It's like the difference between religion and science. After a
certain point you take it on faith.
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Bennett: Right, and I lacked the conviction. At any rate, I floundered for
that six months. I got more and more mired down 88 I read. I
finally told Harcld Jones that I didn't see that I was getting
anywhere, that I couldn't lay hold of it. I think I was not--I was
going to say a skillful enough researcher. I was not a researcher
of any kind, really, at that time. He said, "Do you want a new
topic?™ I said, "Yes." He said, "Okay, find one." I said, "Well,
I have one."”

I was interested in the factor of time as possibly influencing
performance on mental tests, and therefore, on the rating that
people got on an I.Q., or whatever measure was being taken. So I
finally defined it. Now wait a minute, I happen to have my
graduate program here. [looks through papers] "Factors Influencing
Performance on Group and Individual Tests of Intelligence” is what
I picked. One of them was rate of work, and one of them was social
facilitation. Whether you do it in the presence of other pecple or
not, does it make a difference.

Chall: So you actually conducted clinical tests on this?

Bennett: I did tests perforce on the adolescent group that was just being
formed. Early on in the year, my first year of graduate study,
Harocld and Mary Jones took me to lunch, Women's Faculty Club, I
think, and told me about the study on adolescence they were
embarking on. And, would I like to join the effort? I said I
would, It was a wonderful opportunity to work with the two of
them.

Speaking of role models, Mary was 8 wonderful one, because
never did she flag on her research, though she was wife and mother,
and though she did give a sensible amount of attention to both
roles, and didn't bother about the fact that it cut down on her
productivity. But then she was bright enough, and she had
connections to the university, so she could always get a job when
she wanted it.

Chall: Was she in the department?

Bennett: Not technically. She was on the staff of the institute. Institute
of Child Welfare it was called then.* But she demonstrated how
gracefully this duasl role of women could be managed if
circumstances were right. One had to admit that her own good
qualities were part of what made the circumstances right. But the
circumstances were there. Her husband was director of the institute
by this time. Herbert Stolz had been the first director, but b;

* See interview with Mary Cover Jones, Harold E. Jones and Mary
Cover Jones, Partners in Longitudinal Studies. An oral history
conducted 1981-1982, Regional Oral History Office, The Bancroft
Library, University of California, Berkeley, 1983.
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Bennett: the time I worked with Harold Jones, he was the director. He
helped me set up the program so that I tested the adolescent
sample, I tested half of it, actually. Because they did s great
many studies where they divided the group, and used one group &s
controls, and the others the experimental ones. I tested the
children individually, timing their responses as I did it, with a
gadget, that Harold, who was a great gadgeteer, got for me. So
that in fractions of seconds we could record how long it took to
respond. We used the items on a test that could be administered as
a group test, so then I could get & match group to provide scores
for the test given in 8 group situation.

The bulk of the material that I used for the one on rate of
work was recorded in such s way that if there hadn't been the
W.P.A, and 8 lot of cheap help available I never would have gotten
it done. Guess who helped me on part of it? Mark Goodson, then a
graduate student in psychology. He was an interesting fellow to
have around.

So I had masses of data on the individually timed responses of
children to the separate items on 8 standardized test, and could
therefore devise which represented the time spent by individual
children. As Harold Jones said, the fact that you get negative
results does not invalidate the enterprise. I couldn't prove
anything dramatic.

The other part, whether or not there was evidence of social
facilitation——that is the sight and sound of other people doing the
same thing 8t the same time--1 didn't have very satisfactory data
for because I could not observe the same students doing the same
thing under group and individual conditions. I had lots of test
scores for the experimental group, including individual ones. It
was part of the data collection for the group, but they were not
the same material.

So I made use of all the data availsble on the adolescent
study sample that would enable me to try to dope out whether they
did better in a group or better separately. I used that to the
best I could but didn't get any clear—cut indications. My general
hunch is that students vary enormously. Sometimes the same student
will do better under certain conditions and under changed
conditions will do equally well, and sometimes will do worse.

But at any rate, I busied myself and got it organized, and got
the dissertation written, and then got & job at Mills. Just at the

wrong time, as it turned out, for me to finish up my doctorate. I
spent the two summers following my appointment at Mills finishing
it. I spent the first year, even the second, making sure that I
would get the literature up~to-date. I would use the Mills College
library partly, and the university library some. In the summers
following my first two years I wrote. Well, I snalyzed data,
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mostly, the first year, and then did the writing of the actual
dissertation. In those innocent days I occupied an office in the
Institute of Child Welfare, which was on the site of Boalt Hall,
until ten o'clock at night all by myself, and walked home along
Piedmont Avenue. Can you imagine?

But I had to put myself on that kind of summer thing in order
to get it done. I would leave home at breakfast—~stayed at my
mother's and father's house in Berkeley--walk to the institute, and
work until lunch. I had a decent lunch. I went back, worked until
dinner, had a decent dinner, and worked all evening, Doing it that
way I could get it done, and did.

Your professors felt that you could handle this in that way? They
didn't discourage you fram taking your position at Mills, did they?

Well, I think they differed. Jobs were too hard to come by. I
think Warner Brown had his doubts that I ever would finish. I
think that if they had known the woman that I went to work for,
they would have ceased to doubt, I think Harold, through Mary,
knew her.

tH

Continuing Association with the University

I thought that before we got into discussing your years at Mills
that we would finish up with the University of California,
Berkeley. I was interested in whether or not you retained an
association with the university as an alumna, and whether you
returned for charter days and all this kind of thing over the
years. What have you done with respect to the university?

Over the years?
Yes.

Sometimes I came as a representative of Mills College in the
academic procession.

What about representing yourself? I know that you were
asked to give a talk on the milestones on the education of women,
but that was—-

That was much later, that was the Bicentennial, and Garff Wilson
issued that invitation. I did do a speech on that. [April 1, 1976]
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OFFICE OF THE CHANCELLOR BERKELEY, CALIFORNIA 94720

February 24, 1976

Dr. Mary Woods Bennett
2601 College Avenue
Berkeley, California

Dear Dr. Bennett:

It is a pleasure to confirm the invitation extended you by Professor
Garff Wilson, Chairman of Public Ceremonies, to deliver one of the
Distinguished Faculty-Alumni Lectures on April 1, 1976. We shall look
forward to welcoming you to the campus once again.

As you know from Professor Wilson, the lecture series is a major event
in a three day celebration which will honor the nation's Bicentennial
as well as the University's Charter Day. The theme of the series is
“200 Years of Achievement in America" and each speaker will represent
a particular field of achievement. Yours will be achievement in Edu-
cation as illustrated by the growth of education for wamen.

There will be three groups of lectures: the first at 9:30 a.m., the second
at 11 a.m., and the third at 2:30 p.m. You are scheduled to speak at 9:30
a.m. in Room 155 Dwinelle Hall. I hope this is satisfactory. If not, please
let me know.

Each lecture period will be one hour long and you are invited to use the
time in any way you feel will be most effective. For example, you may
wish to use part of your time to answer questions or to show slides or to
use visual aids and demonstrations. You will be introduced by a member
of the Alumi Council who will get in touch with you well in advance of
April lst.

Your willingness to participate in this important series is deeply appre-
ciated. Please accept my thanks and the thanks of the Bicentennial -
Charter Day Committee.

Yours sincerely,

20427 Crevder

Albert H. Bowker
Chancellor
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Yes, and then, in the last few years, you've become a Berkeley
Fellow, number eighty-nine, I think it is. [1974] So you have
retained some association with the campus?

Oh, heavens, yes. Actually, I have recovered some since I've
retired, because I have the time and access. But I was in Mills
up to my eyebrows, and usually working on Mills' problems. I can
realize how complete that is when I realize how much I have enjoyed
a friendghip with Marion Gorrill whose parents are both graduates
of Berkeley, and who was my peer during my undergraduate years
here; a person I've known all my life. I didn't see her at all;
we exchanged Christmas cards, I simply didn't have a chance to
relish the university connection. I was always giad wvhen I had a
chance to renew it. In my early days at Mills, when I was still
working on my dissertation, it was a little easier, because I had
contacts with people.

144
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III MILLS COLLEGE: MEMBER OF THE FACULTY: CHILD DEVELOPMENT/
PSYCQHOLOGY, 1935-1953%

Brief Background on Mills College

There is some disagreement about the founding dates of the college.
You can tske the earlier date of Mills, the date of founding of the
young ladies' seminary in Benicia, This, one of our own
professors always claimed, was 8 completely fraudulent claim,
because it was not a collegiate level institution. The Mills's
bought the seminary in '67, I think it was, moved it to Oakland in
'71. But it was not until '85 that it was chartered by the state
of California to grant the degree. So it began as Mount Holyoke
did, as 8 young ladies' seminary, and for much the same reasons
because Susan Mills was a student of Mary Lyon.

The gentlemen of Benicia, the businessmen of Benicia, got fed
up with sending their daughters either, via the Isthmus of Panama
to the East Coast or to Hawaii, which some of them did, to Punahou,
College of Oshu, it was called at the time., They engaged two men
who went around founding collegea. They were both ministers of the
gospel, and they sort of operated on that wave which flowed West
educationally--church-connected small institutions of higher
learning clear across the continent. These were hired up, I can't
tell you their names now, but they're available if it's important
to you.

* In 1935 I was appointed Assistant in Child Develomment and
Coordinator of the Family Council. In & year or two I became
Instructor, then Assistant Professor. I was promoted to Associate
Professor by Dr. Reinhardt on her retirement in 1943 and did not
become full professor until my appointment as dean in 1953.
Somewhere along the line "psychology" was added to the "child
development” in the title. This is documented in Who's Who of
American Women, I think, with precise dates. [M.W.B.]
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Chall: Not to me, but it may be important to somebody who can find all
the facts.

Bennett: They were hired by the businessmen and they organized this place,
hired a young woman to run it, and she promptly got married after a
year. So they then hit upon Mary Atkins, who had more stick-to—
itiveress, to run the place. My grandmother went to the other
seminary in Benicia when she was a girl living in San Luis Obispo.
She went up by steamer from San Luis Obispo to San Francisco and
found her way to Benicia. But she went to the academy run by the
Episcopal church, I think. This was the other ore.

Chall: Hm. Two in Benicia.

Bennett: It was the capital of the state for a while. The gentlemen who set
it up did, apparently, very well. They then went down to Oakland
and set up a thing called the College of Oakland, Apparently it was
a going concern from the word go, and there are very interesting
tales about its early existence. The good gentleman, Dr. Cyrus
Mille, who waa from Williame College, had been trained as a
miseionary. He and his wife, Susan, who graduated from Mount
Holyoke, Susan Tolman, her name wag, went out with him as
miasionary. The fact that they were two different denominations,
seemed to make no difference to them. But they went out, and they
ran Batticotta Mission in Ceylon until their health gave out.

They came back to the states, recovered their health, went out
and bought the College of Oahu, I think, or ran it, anyway. Then
they came to the mainland, I think the date was '67, and bought the
geminary. At the same time they bought this tract of land in
Brooklyn Township, County of Alameda, and planted eucalyptus trees
on it, to show the fact that it was being improved, and built Old
Mille Hall which went into operation in 1871. At the celebration
of its centennial we noted that fact with the sign that goes over its
front door. That used to house the whole bit, a school through the
seminary years, and all the administrative offices, the residence
quarters, the clagsrooms, and everything.

There was once a suggestion that it be torn down, and a new
building put up there. There was one point when the fortunes of
the college were low and it wag closed down as the least efficient
of the residences. But it's a grand old place and we justify its
uge aeg the administration building now, by not having anybody
inhabit the top floors. There are some hair-raising tales about
how the girle made their way after hours from window to window on
the narrow ledge outside the third-floor windows.

Chall: Yes, I think I read an account of that.
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They scare you to death. I was telling thia once as a horror story
to students, and one of the students loocked right at me and said,
"Dean Bennett, they still do" ([laughter] But imagine doing this
in long skirts. I talked with a woman who had done that too. She
had wanted to go to the great University of California., Her father
was a farmer in Contra Costa County, and the family said, "™No way.
You go to Mills College for a couple of years, and then if all goes
well you can go to the university." And do you know, to this day,
there are people who send their daughters to Mills, thinking that
it's a protected place, for two years, with a pledge that they can
then transfer to Berkeley.

We've surrounded that issue, though, by getting in this
arrangement whereby we have a bus that goes to Berkeley, and
there's this inter—-institutional arrangement among all the four
year institutions in the East Bay for mutual exchange of students.
I passed on my way home the other day up Bancroft Way, the Mills
College bus that was waiting for its collection of students. Now,
of course we have some University of California students living on
the campus to ease the housing crisis. So relations have always
been cordial. There is on record in the Mills archives, and I
don't know whether you found that or not, a letter from the
Associated Students of Mills College congratulating the students at
Berkeley on their move from Oakland to the Berkeley campus, I
think, That was way back.

No, I didn't look for things like that.

Could it have been that early? At any rate, something was
happening which had happened years before at Mills, and the Mills
students were congratulating them on it. Mills has the oldest
student government in existence, I think, 1914 to '16, Do you know
who was the president of the board of truatees at the time? David
Prescott Barrows. There's a long connection of the Barrows family
with the Mills family.

Yes, the Hagars.

Mrs. Hagar remembers their trips on furlough from the Philippines
when they always stayed with Auntie Mills on the Mills campus.
Well, we had a student revolt at Mills in 1914, or thereabouts. It
must have been after the end of World War I. The general was back
here. He was chairman of the board at Mills.,

What had happened was that there was a president at Mills who
did not take seriously the difference between college women and
seminary girls. She did much to uplift the academic level of the
college, but she had no sense about recognizing college women as
more mature human beings than the seminary girls. The students
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protested. The board of trustees wisely said, "We leave this in
the hande of the president of the board," becauge he wasg intimate
with the Mills situation.

The Barrowses moved on to the Mille campus, which wae no great
difference from what they had done, staeyed a while. President
Barrowe went back to his board and said, "The students are right."
Then, I don't know whether the precige date is 'l4 or 'l5, or what,
but along in there, the board of trusteee gave to the students the
grant of powers, which enablee students to organize and direct all
non-academic activitieas on the campus. This has never been

violated. The only time that anyone can remember was when the

queetion was raised as to whether the trusteea ghould mandate that
smoking might take place only in certain areae where they could be
sure of the fire control. A member of the board of trustees said to
his colleagues, "Gentlemen, are we going back on our word?™ They
said, "No." And they never have.

That takes quite a bit of discipline, doesn't it, on the part of
the board and the faculty?

Yes, and one of the most illuminating experiences I ever had in my
life was when I discovered that you can't do it in a college for men.

Oh! It won't work?

A difference in maturity is one of the things that justifies the
existence of the women's college. It does boys no good to be in a
college where they can be outdistanced by the women in the first
and second year, and yet they can be. I remember being in a emall
seminar group of like-minded people at a Danforth Conference. The
Danforth Conferencees used to recruit teameg of four from
institutiona of higher learning, liberal arts colleges mainly,
about thirty inatitutions. It would make a nice little group.
They would break them into various seminare, and they would have
eome joint meetings. They would discuas common problems.

I was aghast at some of the problems that some of the
delegates from men's collegee were reporting, and I raised some
questiona about it. It wae perfectly clear that they regarded
as impossible the kind of sel f-control that the Mille students were
uaed to.

Now, some of the force of student government has been eroded at
Mills over time because it thrived in a period in which more than

90 percent of students lived on campus, and they were all of the
same age. In thia homogeneous group, in a residential setting, you
could do things that cannot happen when a very large proportion of
your group are minorities with whom the college is making a
demonstration of some kind. Also, where a large proportion of them
are over-age, and where for these reasons, you have almost half
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nonresidents. They're married women with families of their own, or
they're people who cannot afford to live on campus and so forth.
So the situation has changed.

But in its heyday, when Mills was homogeneous, and a
residential group so that the play time as well as the work time
was shared, they could put on legislative conferences whose
busiress it was to amend their comstitution, if necessary. I have
never seen & group, anywhere, that operated so well, fumbling as
they might, their wsy through a complex agenda with strict
adherence to Robert's Rules of Order.

I think this is why for years, and years, and years, and it
may still be the case, but for years, and years, and years, I know,
Mills women upset every community they moved into because they knew
how to run it, and did. People from Palo Alto have commented on
this to our former president. Mills women are everywhere, Well,
they knew how to run a PTA meeting, and they knew how to run the
League of Women Voters, and they knew how to do this, and they did.
It was 8 fascinating sociological phenocmenon. Something that
Aurelia Reinhardt not only knew very well, but was a prime mover
in. See, for twenty-six or twenty-seven years she was the
president of that institution, and your role model. That's where
Mills students got the notion there was nothing they could not do.
It was partly having 8 strong woman at the head.

That's why, in my view, it has never worked as well when men
have been president, because the strong woman is not clearly in
view. Now, if you do what Smith did, and people your faculty with
men, you've lost the cause right then and there. Mills didn't do
that, because Aurelia set & very firm course in making sure that
these young women were exposed to adults of both sexes. It was
part of my job, maybe sel f-appointed, but it was part of my job as
dean of the faculty to see to it that the fifty-fifty ratio was
maintained. It always has been, and as far as I know, still is.
It's easier now, because you don't have to convince some reluctant
departments, But I used to have a broken record kind of comment,
"Are you sure you have explored women candidates, and let people
know that we will be as receptive toward women'a applications as
men's,” and so forth and so on.

Was there a period when there were fewer women capable of coming
in?

Well, in the older generation, in Aurelia Reinhardt's generation,
that generation bred enough women. The trouble came in the
fifties, early fifties, when women didn't go in for it. The pool
was smaller, and, at the same time, demand for them had risen. So
we had a hard time. Then when we got to minority groups, and we
wanted not only minority, but women, then we had a terribly hard
time. We finally got some very good advice. We had some faculty
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members who knew people, who knew people, who knew people, and we
finally got to the chief adviser to the president of the United
States on the recruitment of minorities in the Hispanic group. His
first question was, "How much are you willing to pay?" He said,
"These people are scarce as hen's teeth, and they have their pick
of jobs, and unless you are offering a salary which is competitive,
you haven't a chance." He sgaid, "You're better off to grow your
own."

For reasons that have to do with demography more than anything
elge, it was a little easier to find black women. But we had a
domestic problem which I think is due to Mills' location in Oakland
which gave ug a bad time because we absorbed a group of black
studenteg quickly, which were in no way like the white students we
recruited. So that we had a situation in which a group of
atudents, who were all recruited according to the same effort to
spread oursgelves out geographically, and to have a varied student
group, got all mixed up with the fact that we had an almost
indigestible mass from Weat Oakland.

In some respects this got the agony over with sooner, but in
other respects, it was very diasruptive of the college. Among the
black astudents, we had some who were trained in revolutionary
tactice, so that we had a hairy time for a few years. It was just
after Easton Rothwell left, and just after Rob Wert came on I
don't know how we would have made it with the prior preeident.
Robert Wert had had exposure to it at Stanford, and could keep his
cool, and did, and simply lived it through. But it was tough.

Yea, I wanted to take that up when we talk about his term as
president, because I know that that came about. But it doe& help
to sort of get the flaw of it, the history.

I realize that the flow is always getting into the way of your tidy
arrangement, [the outline] and I'm sorry about that.

No, no, I wouldn't worry about that, because I think we can always
go back and pick up facts, but the flow is, I think, important to
see. Sometimes it's better to see it that way. Nothing has to
be tidy about it. We'll get it all in due course.

Life is not tidy.

#

In 1935 you were still working on your dissertation?

Yes. I had all the course work done in those first three years of

graduate study. I had spent the aummer of '35 working on it, and
aleo spent the summer of '36 working on it, and I guess '37. At
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any rate, I did the writing--the analysis of data, essentially, in
'35 and '36, and the preliminary writing in '36, and final writing
in '37,

In '35 however you went to Mills?

I went to Mills,

The Department of Child Development

Now how did that come about?

Mills was looking for a new staff member in child development, Dr.
Lovisa Wagoner had consulted her friend Mary Cover Jones about the
possibility of finding someone. Mary had been my companion,
really, for a year or two because we turned up at the same time
doing our research at the Claremont School where the adolescent
study was located, and we tended to have our lunches together. She
had two daughters who were roughly the age of my little sister. So
we talked about child rearing as well.

She was a very good friend. She thought, "Aha, here is a
woman who has reached that stage where she could take a job 'cause
it's only the writing left.” And at this point in the career, why
not? Because there I was, an unfledged psychologist with no
particular bent except that I had concentrated on what we even now
call developmental psychology; we called it child then--clinical--
and it seemed to fit the job. So Mrs. Jones brought us together on
Saint Patrick's Day in 1935, and served us shamrock-shaped cookies
with our tea. I will never forget it. [laughter] With little
green things on them. She doesn't remember that, I talked with her
once about it, but I remember every bit of it.

At any rate, I do not know how things proceeded exactly from
then, but ultimately I had a letter offering me a job—a letter
from Aurelia Henry Reinhardt--which I eagerly accepted because I
desperately wanted a job. Those were Depression years, and if I
had got a job selling something over the counter at Capwell's I
would have been very happy. You know, one wanted a job at that
time. I had talked with people in the dean's office about this.

When I talked once with Harold Jones about it--I think this
must have been nearer the end of my period as a graduate student,
it must have been when I was looking for a job on the completion of
my doctorate-—as I left his office one day he said, ™Do you ever
think about deaning?™ I think he meant dean of students, dean of
women, but I thought that rather interesting that this early in my
career he had recognized certain personality traits, I think. He
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2957 uegnolia Street
Eerkeley, Californie
June 26, 1935.

Dr. Jonroe E. Deutsch,
‘Jice-Fresident and Provost,
“niversity of Californis,
Eerkeley, Celifornia.

l'eer “r. Deutsch:

This 13 tc express to you 7y gratitude
2t telng mpprointed Abreham Rosenberg Kesearch Fellow
in Pgsychclogy for the acsdennic year 1635-1CZc.

2s I nave slreedy indiceted throuen tue
office of the Graduate Division, I shall te obllged to
dezline the appointrment. Shortly tefore [ recelved your
letter 1 was offered the poat of Coordinator of the Fauily
Zouncll and resident assistent in Child Developzent et
+111s College. Since tnis position offers opportunity for
teeching, study and precticel work in my chosen field 1
have dezided to accept 1it.

Of course I intend to return to tne Uni-
versity to cozplete work for the doctor's degree. In
the meantime I should like to express my appreclation
to the "niversity fcr this and other offers of assistance
in rursuing my studies.

Yours very sincerely,
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knew I was no researcher by then. He knew it very well. [laughs]
And he knew that my field would be in the practical applications.
I have that clearly etched in memory that he did ask that question.

How interesting, Were you supposed to teach as well as work with
the children?

I didn't work with the children at all. Let me tell you that there
was another aspect in why I was positively inclined toward Mills.
Mother's lifelong friend Anna Cox Brinton was then on the staff
there. She was the dean of the faculty. She had nothing whatever
to do with my appointment. Mother learned it from her before I had
had a chance to tell Mother. So that was a rather nice connection.
Anna Brinton left Mills after my first year there. So she had very
little impact on my career. But it is a fact that we overlapped by
one year which was a matter of satisfaction to me. When I got my
honorary doctorate from Mills on the occasion of my retirement her
granddaughter was present in the audience, and I felt that very
nice,

You were interviewed only by Lovisa Wagoner?

Yes. I had made some sporadic efforte to follow up on jobs
available. I remember one particularly in Nebraska. I wouldn't
have hired me on the bagis of the letter I wrote, I wasg not
surprised that they were polite, but not encouraging. Thig was
some place—-it was not only Nebraska, it waa an obacure part of
Nebraska. [laughs] Harold Jones laughed when I told him that I
wag discouraged from that. He said, ™Well, maybe that place is a
place people go from and not to." He was not concerned. But he
knew about this other offer when it came and approved my taking it.
It's very interesting, I think I showed you the evidence that I had
a very nice fellowghip offered me here for that year which I turned
down because I had to. I had to have that job. A job.

So you did get a job that was worth--?

I tell you, I got $1,400 a year and room and board, and that
was good in those days.

Living Arrangements

Where was the room and board?

In one of the residence halls. For three years I had that as part
of my salary. That's one way Aurelia Reinhardt kept the college
going.
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By keeping her faculty there?

By offering this, where there were empty rooms, Depression time
was hard times for the college.

So you mingled with some of the students then?

Yes, we were given sort of star boarder status. In the dining
room where I dined, lunch and dinner—--we had breakfast, a common
cafeteria-style breakfaat, in 0l1d Mille Hall--but at lunches I sat
at a table which included other faculty members who were in
residence on campus as part of their compensation. One of them was
the great art historian Alfred Neumeyer and his wife. He came to
Mills the same year I went there in '35, and was there until his
retirement, and really set up our work in art history, and on,
shall I say, a plane that attracted some nationral and international
note.

There also was Barbara Garcia, who was an extraordinary woman,
head of our foreign language department, when she retired. She was
an American who had married a Spaniard, mathematician, who had been
displaced by the political affairs in Spain. He was a Loyalist,
loyal to the government, and ousted by the Franco forces in some
manner. Those two were an interesting addition. Barbara Garcia
wasg sharp ag she could be, a very good scholar, not one who
published a lot, but a very sound one. She had edited, or hoped to
edit, a monumental Spanish-American dictionary? Encyclopedia?
Something of the sort at the University of Chicago.

Also there was an exchange teacher from Britain with whom I
had a long friendship. She was in our department. Clarissa
Hallowell, she was then; she's no longer living.

The presiding person at the table was Harriet Sandri who was a
Mills alumna who had come back to work as the head resident--social
head--for graduate students who were housed in that building along
with a mix of undergraduate students. The graduate students had a
special floor. Mrs. Sandri was their guide philosopher and friend.
Her hueband was a graduate student at Berkeley. A tall, blond,
rosey-cheeked, somewhat raw-boned Italian. A Venetian. That was a
nice friendehip.

Thogse were very informative daye for me at that lunch and
dinner table, because these were worldly-wise people who had been
around, traveled as I hadn't, represented different centere of
culture in Madrid, Berlin. The Neumeyers had been not only in
Berlin, they had sojourned for a while in Venice while he was
pursuing hie art history and so forth. Hallowell had come from
London, but was born in the north of England, to which I wase
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introduced by her. It was an international medium for a very
domesticated person. It was an enlarging experience; I much
appreciated that opportunity.

Mrs. Reinhardt, without asking me yes or no, moved me out of
there to another residence hall after one year, where I had more
commodious quarters. At the end of two years, one more year, that
is, a total of three years, she moved me out, and increased my
salary on the theory that I shouldn't go on living in an
undergraduate residence hall, no matter in what status. I don't
know whether the example of one of my colleagues—--who embraced this
opportunity, and never left it till she retired-—was something that
gave Mrs. Reinhardt pause or not. But she clearly felt that an
undergraduate surrounding was not the appropriate thing. Actually,
I was in the third year when I passed my final oral, and then she
thought that was the signal for me to get out.

So she moved you where?

She moved me up in salary, so that I could afford to live of f
campus. She was a wily and thoughtful wcman.

What about the othera? The Neumeyers?

Oh, the Neumeyers got their own house as soon as they could afford
it. They were refugees. As soon as they could get their feet
under them they moved off. So did the Garcias.

At that time there was no housing on the campus? Just the
president's house? She lived on the campus?

Yes.

#
When did you move onto the campus?

During World War IL. My housemate and I had lived in a little
house of f campus that was once the studio of Roi Partridge, and on
the same plot of land in which Imogen [Cunningham] was still living
with three boys. This had been occupied by another Mills person
who was on leave getting a doctorate. I became their tenant, and
later I moved in there, after I moved out of residence in the
residence halls. I moved in with a colleague from Mills, one of
the graduate students who was an older woman, and was much more
near my age than that of other graduate students. I lived with her
there for two years. Then, the person with whom I lived for
thirty-four years on the Mills campus, returned to Mills after
having had a job elsewhere, We took up residence together in that
little house.
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In that period, while I was living with Frances Ruth Armstrong in
the little studio cottage of the Partridges~-this was after Imogen
and Roi were divorced~-war broke out. It was a long walk to and
from our place and up a long steep hill; not very good public
transportation in those days. My father and brother got me 8 Model
A Ford third-hand, which helped some. But when war broke out, and
the matter of gas rationing and everything came in, Frances Ruth
Armstrong and I took the opportunity of taking a faculty duplex on
campus., From then on, I lived on campus, and it was very useful to
be there, as dean of the faculty, because it meant that if somebody
had to be called in the middle of the night, it was another resource

Oh, dear. Did that happen very often?

A few times. Once I was wakened by a very aggressive public
relations woman that we had, and she said, ™We have just got a
telephone call from Paris wanting to know about the death of Darius
Milhaud.™ I said, "Well, I don't think he's dead. I haven't heard
anything," We lived in the same duplex. His bedroom and mine were
cheek by jowl separated only by the air space that the architect
prudently put in because he knew a noise maker was going to be in
the other one. I said, "But I will find out; and I'll call you
back.™ So I got up at something like four o'clock in the morning,
and went roaming around. Well, there wasn't a light on, there was
no evidence of commotion, nothing going on. So I called Maggie and
said, "I think all is well."

A strange rumor.

Well, I listened, and when I heard Madeleine Milhaud put on her
shoes, and walk from her bedroom to her kitchen, which I could do,
becaugse the architect forgot that sound travels through the floor
boards, I called her, and said this had happened. She said, "Oh,
God, I'll call the kids." Her son and daughter—-in-law were in
France. She said, "™No, it's because at the concert of the Oakland
Symphony last night, they played Milhaud's Dirge for Koussevitzky.
It had to be that," she said.

Oh! What a crazy rumor.

Historically it's interesting to me that I happened to be the one
to get the telephone call when Milhaud had, in fact, died. The
president was not on campus. Then there was a bad accident once,
and Maggie called me to ask for the telephone number of the mother
of the young man who was killed, because she wanted to make sure
that she got word to this person, who worked on campus, before she
was just confronted with the news.

#
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Campug Life

You always had a period of being very homesick when you started
something new. How did you feel about this?

Nothing like that happened. For one thing, Lovisa Wagoner saw to
it that her people were inducted, introduced, taken care of.
Always. I had no qualms about that at all. As a matter of fact,
it was with some grudging, acknowledged only to myself, that I went
home for weekends. I just enjoyed very much what I was doing,

There wag a lot of activity in the evenings and on weekends
because about 95 percent of the students lived on campus. It
wasn't a closed community, and it was not a female community. The
facul ty then, as now, was about fifty-fifty men and women, very
deliberately so in Aurelia's time. But it was a bunch of girls,
essentially. Not 8o large, it was maybe six hundred, five or six
hundred undergraduate students, and a hundred or so graduates who
served as teaching fellows, or in some such capacity, and lived in
what is now called Alderwood Hall. We called it Graduate House
then.

It had been built as the--it had a Chinese name, Ming Quong.
A home for Chinese girlae. It had been built by the Presbyterian
Missionary Society to replace an inadequate facility in West
Oakland. It wasg an old institution which the late Donaldina
Cameron had started in old Chinatown before the fire. At the time
of the 1906 earthquake and fire in San Francisco the young children
had been moved to West Oakland. The good ladies of the
Presbyterian missionary group finally got money out of Captain
Dollar, Stanley Dollar, and built the Chinese style house just
across from one edge of the campusa. One of the things that made it
very interesting when the college finally acquired that building
wag that the chairman of the building committee was Mrs. Lynn
White, Senior. It was a Julia Morgan building.

Was it moved across then?

No. We extended the campus. It's a beautifully built building,

and has gone through many phases. At present it's used for
conferences, as a residence for alumnae at reunion time, and
similar kinds of activity. Also it accommodates overnight guests at
times when parents converge on the campus. It's too emall for a
successful residence hall because the others number about a

hundred, give or take a few. This will not accommodate fifty
without some crowding, We've used it when crowded. We rented it to
the Sisters of the Holy Names when they were building in our
neighborhood, and I think that's the only group who occupied it for
any length of time.
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You enjoyed the activity on the campus, then?

Very much. We had many more prescribed activities at that time
than is stylish now. We had a weekly assembly which was compulsory
for students. I don't know what happened to students who absented
themselves because certainly some did. I suppose I could dredge up
what it was, but at any rate, it was not enough to bother anybody.
People came and brought their knitting, or their letter writing,
and eat in the back rows if they didn't appreciate what was going
on. [laughs]

What was it about?

Sometimes we had visiting speakers, and we had extraordinary ones
from time to time. Every once in a while Mrs. Reinhardt would talk
to the students on college affairs. This would include informative
talks as well as what you might call laying down the law. She was
never narrow and petty about laying down the law. She always
operated on grand principle. She sometimes, as she got older,
rambled a bit. She was not 80 careful about the organization of
what she had to say. She was known for this. But when she
introduced that young man to the students who was to be her
successor, what she said was, "Well, girls, here he is." Period.
[laughs] Then she sat down.

Teaching

That's pretty succinct. Let's get to finding out about what you
were hired to do.

I was hired to assgist with the teaching of graduate students in
child development. We had five or six fellows. I think I told you
laat time about the moneys made available through the residue of
the children's fund that Hoover had at his disposal when he was
feeding children in Central Europe. We had benefit of that. It
provided fellowships for graduate students. One of them went to
the psychology department, and five or six came to child
development.

Mise Wagoner had been brought to Mills to establish a nursery
achool. She had come from Vasasar where she had worked in this
capacity. Her training was excellent. She had a doctorate from the
State University of Iowa in Iowa City on top of a University of
Washington education where her major was English. She was ready
for more responsibility and more originality in what she was doing
and there wasn't room for advancement for her in Vassar. Aurelia found
by whatever her grapevine wasg, I don't know, and invited her to come to
Mills.
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For the twenty years of her tenure there from '31 to '51 we

had a Department of Child Development which was out of place, in a
way, because it covered educational development, physical health and
growth, and psychology, each of which was represented in another
department., I heard this only by indirection, but I gathered that
Mrs. Reinhardt couldn't recruit, from her own faculty, the people
to do the job that she thought ought to be done, which was to run a
program in which all these departments related would participate.

She couldn't get the cooperation so she up and founded a new
department and brought in Miss Wagoner to build it, which did not
make Miss Wagoner's position a very easy one., But it was a
distinguished department in the sense that Miss Wagoner had
boundless connections in the field, which was the time of the great
flowering of the child development movement, I benefited from that
because, in 1939, when I took my first trip to the East Coast on
behal f of Mills, she introduced me to everybody under the sun. I
had a schedule of appointments and letters of introduction with all
these people, and had a whee of a time., Just a marvelous time

You had to become acquainted with the field of child development,
which as such you really didn't know?

No. Didn't really know.
How did you learn? How did you teach?

I did teach a course called "The Child in the Family" which was
related to the major. Dr. Reinhardt, ever mindful of economical
uge of whatever talent she had at her disposal, looked at my
perfectly conventional, straightforward, and sound psychology major
and decreed that I should assist in the teaching of the elementary
psychology course. Now, this was not the easiest thing in the
world to do because the head of the psychology department was one
who thoroughly disapproved of the establishment of the Department
of child development, and thoroughly disapproved of the fact that
Mrs. Reinhardt decreed that Dr. Wagoner should teach the course in
child psychology.

However, be it said to our mutual credit, that the head of the
psychology department, and I, and a third person--who was the only
survivor at Mills of the era in which you could produce a
psychologist out of the Department of Philosophy—-worked together
as a team very well. I think it was just because we were well-
intentioned and not trying to throw monkey wrenches into the
machinery. I think there was a lot of personal antipathy among the
ladies, but they never showed it.

These were women who were in charge of teaching psychology?
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And the teaching of elementary psychology was one of the legends.
Everybody who went to Mills took Psych 1A, B with Dr. Smith.
Everybody. I must say, she was the kind of teacher who was
impresgive to students. She made it stick. I could quarrel from &
theoretical point of view with some of the things she said, but not
really, not much. I enjoyed that experience because it introduced
me to a wide range of undergraduates, because I conducted sections,
which I never would have had otherwise. Furthermore, I
participated in the discussgione on selection of textbooks and so
forth. And I learned quite a lot about how you go about teaching
what was for us a huge course to a bunch of sophomores, because I
think they couldn't take it as freshmen, I think they had to be
sophomores to take it.

At any rate, I also have, among my casual friends, people with
whom I exchange Christmas cards, and people who look me up when
they come back for a reunion, quite a few friends from that group
I had a letter from London not very long ago from one of the people
who was in one of my sections then, and we've been friends ever
since. Casual, but friende. She is the retired head of a music
publishing house in London, which she took on when her husband
died. When I get to London we do things together. It's very
rewarding to have a medium out of which really persisting
friendshipe can develop, and this is what happened.

I had to learn how to behave like one of the grown—ups rather
than one of the students. But I think every young teacher hasg that
tagsk. You have to learn to be an adult in a sub-adult world, and
you can't hang on to your student status, although there is a sore
temptation to be both a faculty member and one of the kids. You
have to resist this and learn not to do it. Learn to let them hold
the door open for you and so forth. [laughs]

But among the graduate students many of them were not too much
younger than you?

Some of them even would quiz me on thia to determine exactly how
much difference there was. There was about four years difference
between me and them.

They called you Dr. Bennett in those days?

Oh, yes. We called them Miss, or Mrs., as the case might be.
Times have changed.

Yes they have, indeed.

Did you continue to teach that subject? That wae elementary
psychology?



119

Bennett: No, I gave that up when course work became such that I had to
teach such courses as "Observation of Young Children", and I taught
the course in child psychology from time to time when Miss Wagoner
was on leave or something like that. Early on I took over
direction of the seminars. There were two different seminars-—-one
a problems course and one a seminar in child development, which was
useful for me because I became familiar with the child development
literature, especially in the fields which I had not been exposed
to.

Also, it was a learning experience to discuss these matters
with students. Sometimes I learned more from the students than
they learned from me, I fear. But there was a body of them, you
see. There were the gix fellows, all of whom were cream of the
crop. They were picked as highly desirable students for us and in
the early and late thirties graduate students desperately needed
financial assistance, and we had them from all over the country.
It was a very informative experience. This was where I learned
that you can get excellent grades in a large institution, whether
it's public or private, and be a total loss in exchanging ideas in
a classroom situation where you have to think on your feet.

##

Usually if they had a fellowship they put in a certain number
of hours of work a week. Some of them worked in the Children's
School and some of them assisted me in a venture that was called
the Family Council. This was a device whereby we offered to
parents in the community in general the same kind of opportunity
for consultation that we offered to parents in the children's
school.

Counseling

Chall: For a fee?

Bennett: If they wanted to pay a fee. Some people felt better, but there
was no effort to make it support itself. It was a service.

Chall: You served as a family counselor?

Bennett: In a sense. With all the difficulties at the outset that this
would imply because sometimes I was young enough to be the child of
the people I was talking with. I gradually learned how not to
of fend them, and not to appear to be telling them what to do and
how to do it, when they had been through the ropes. This was an
interesting experience in itsel f because one mother once said to
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me, "Why, you're nothing but a kid yourself." I had to admit that
there was merit in what she was saying. I very quickly got of f the
business of telling them what to do and how to do it.

But the opportunity to talk, and to discuss, and so forth, was
helpful to them. Sometimes I could come through with suggestions
that they liked and would follow up. Sometimes it would work
miraculously if I could hit on the suggestion that was logical
outgrowth of what the parent already knew. It was interesting to
discover areas in which I could do nothing but be the sounding
board, and areas in which I could be of some specific possible
help.

Where did you get some kind of training in this?

I consulted frequently with Miss Wagoner. But the truth of the
matter is that I got training on the job, and have a little bad
conscience about what people went through. I think Miss Wagoner
overestimated my competence to deal with this thing. I hadn't had
field work except that I had interviewed the parents of children I
had tested in the juvenile court and in the children's hospital
when I had done my student testing., But I was green at it and I
had to learn. Fortunately, not the hard way. There was no disaster
of any sort that I knew about. I think that probably some time was
wasted in blind alleys trying to do things that were fundamentally
impossible.

Well, maybe they still are.
Yes.
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